OFFERING MEMORANDUM DATED JULY 27, 2020
PART II OF OFFERING STATEMENT (EXHIBIT A TO FORM C)

BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

\‘ Curity

110 Front Street, Suite 300
Jupiter Florida 33477
561-708-6117

www.biocurity.com
Up to $599,998 of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock

Minimum purchase: $510 (120 shares)

A crowdfunding investment involves risk. You should not invest any funds in this offering unless
you can afford to lose your entire investment.

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the issuer and
the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. These securities have not been
recommended or approved by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority.
Furthermore, these authorities have not passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this document.

The Securities and Exchange Commission does not pass upon the merits of any securities offered or
the terms of the offering, nor does it pass upon the accuracy or completeness of any offering
document or literature.

These securities are offered under an exemption from registration; however, the Securities and
Exchange Commission has not made an independent determination that these securities are exempt
from registration.

This disclosure document contains forward-looking statements and information relating to, among
other things, the Company, its business plan and strategy, and its industry. These forward-looking
statements are based on the beliefs of, assumptions made by, and information currently available to
the Company’s management. When used in this disclosure document and the Company offering
materials, the words “estimate”, “project”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “expect”, and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect
management’s current views with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties
that could cause the company’s action results to differ materially from those contained in the
forward-looking statements. Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after such state or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.



Issuer ...........

The Offering

THE OFFERING

BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc. a Delaware corporation (“BioCurity™.
“we,” *us,” “our,” or the “Company™ ).

We are offering (the “Offering”) shares of Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Stock (“Shares™) subject to a minimum offering amount of
$9,996 (the “Target Offering Amount”), and subject to a maximum
offering amount of up to $599,998 (the “Maximum Offering Amount™)
at $4.25 per share in accordance with Regulation Crowdfunding. The
funds raised by the Company through this Offering shall be used in the
sole discretion of the Company for general working capital purposes,
including, but not limited to, payments to officers and directors and costs
associated directly and indirectly with the filing of an Offering Statement
pursuant to Regulation A Tier 2 under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”) with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC™) (the offering of shares under such Offering
Statement being the “Regulation A Offering” and the price per share
thereof being the “Regulation A Offering Price”). The Shares shall
automatically convert to Common Stock on a 1-for-1 basis on the earlier
of qualification of a Regulation A Offering or with the passage of time
through July 1, 2021. There is no guarantee that a filing of an Offering
Statement for a Regulation A Offering will be made or qualified by the
SEC, or that if qualified, that any shares of Common Stock will be sold
pursuant to a Regulation A Offering. No money or other consideration is
being solicited in connection with the Regulation A Offering, and if sent
in response, will not be accepted. (see “Risk Factors™).

Offering Duration and Deadline The Company shall have until October 27, 2020 to raise the Target

Offering Amount (the “Target Offering Deadline™). If the sum of the
investment commitments does not equal or exceed the Target Offering
Amount at the Target Offering Deadline, no securities will be sold in this
Offering, investment commitments will be cancelled and committed funds
will be returned. If the Company does raise the Target Offering Amount
by October 27, 2020, then the Offering shall continue until the earliest of
the sale of all the Shares, the determination of the Company to terminate
the Offering or July 27, 2021. The Offering is based upon a pre-money
valuation of the Company of: (i) approximately $21,236,642 before giving
effect to the outstanding common stock options and warrants; and (ii)
approximately $36,320,126 on a fully-diluted basis inclusive of issued
Common Stock, options and warrants —assuming the cash exercise of
those options and warrants, this would generate an additional

$4,374.842 in cash, which as credited toward the valuation would reduce
the net fully diluted valuation to $31,945,284.

Minimum Subscription Amount The minimum subscription is S510 (120 shares).



Non-Exclusive Offering by the
Company ............coccoeeeeeeeeenene

Risk Factors ...........cccooeeee.....

Transferability of Securities.....

Subscription Agreement/Voting

The Offering of Shares will be offered through the platform operated by
StartEngine Capital, LLC, a funding portal registered with the SEC.
StartEngine Capital, LLC shall be entitled to a cash commission of: (i) 7%
or 9% of the purchase price for the Shares if payment is made by ACH or
wire and depending upon whether the Investor is from the United States
or outside the United States, respectively; and (ii) 11% or 13% of the
purchase price for the Shares if payment is made by credit card, depending
upon whether it is a United States or foreign credit card. The Company has
agreed to pay in kind (i.e., in Shares) an additional commission equal to
2% of the capital raised in the Offering.

The Shares being offered hereby involve a high degree of risk and should
be considered only by persons who can afford the loss of their entire
investment. See “Risk Factors.”

Under Regulation Crowdfunding, for a year, the Shares can only be resold
in limited circumstances (See “Transferability of Securities™).
Furthermore, the Shares are subject to terms and conditions of a
Subscription Agreement, which will further restrict transferability of the
Shares, due to certain provisions contained in the Subscription Agreement
summarized below. In addition, there is currently no established trading
market for the Shares, nor is the intention to do so at this time, and there is
no guarantee that a trading market for the Shares will ever develop.

The Subscription Agreement is anticipated to remain in place through
future fund raising including any potential filing with the SEC under
Regulation A. There are no plans to list the Company on any regional or
national exchange. Potential investors should expect to have securities
with limited liquidity.

The Subscription Agreement in the form attached as an exhibit to this
Memorandum must be executed by each Investor in the Shares (either
directly or by an executive officer of the Company pursuant to power of
attorney). The Subscription Agreement contains certain provisions that
restrict the rights of existing parties to such agreement, including: (i) a
drag along provision which requires stockholders to participate in certain
sales of shares approved by certain selling stockholders; (ii) a beneficial
ownership limitation that prohibits transfer any of the Shares by an
investor in this Offering to a purchaser who individually or together with
his, her or its affiliates holds 3% or more of the issued and outstanding
shares of capital stock of the Company without the prior written consent
of the Company; and (iii) a lock-up provision which restricts the right of
investors to sell shares purchased in this Offering for a period of time not
to exceed 180 days following declaration of effectiveness of a registration
statement of capital stock of the Company filed under the Securities Act of
1933 and following qualification of an offering statement of capital stock
of the Company filed under Regulation A. It should be noted that the
Company has issued 10 shares of “Super Voting™ Series V Preferred
Stock to BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc., a company owned solely by
Sam Merchant; each such share has a nominal liquidation value, but is
accorded 1,000,000 votes, providing it effective voting control over the
Company. This summary is qualified in its entirety by the terms of the
Subscription Agreement.
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Possible Future Offering..........

The Company will need to raise additional capital beyond the Maximum
Amount that can be raised per the current Offering in order to support its
operations and planned clinical endeavors. In addition, the Company
reserves the right to sell other preferred stock, which may be senior for
liquidation purposes to the Shares and have preferable economic terms to
the Shares. The Company is also considering conducting an offering
pursuant to Regulation A Tier 2. There is no guarantee that a filing of an
Offering Statement for a Regulation A Offering will be made or qualified
by the SEC, or that if qualified, that any shares of Common Stock will be
sold pursuant to a Regulation A Offering. No money or other consideration
is being solicited in connection with the Regulation A Offering, and if sent
in response, will not be accepted. There is no guarantee that the Company
will be able to raise additional capital or that the terms for that capital raise
will be favorable. Investors should carefully review the risk factors section
of this Offering and their own ability to risk a loss of their entire
investment.

THE COMPANY AND ITS BUSINESS

BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“BioCurity™ or “Company™) is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company
with a mission to transform the cancer patient journey of radiation therapy by solving the global unmet need

of radiation therapy side effects.

Because we believe that fighting cancer is hard enough. Most people

know a friend or family member who has endured the sometimes painful, permanent or serious side effects
from radiation therapy that is prescribed by their physicians for their cancer treatment regimen. Side effects
may include skin damage (radiation dermatitis), which results in inflammation, burning, necrosis, and
scarring of normal skin. Side effects from radiation therapy also may include damage to internal tissue
resulting in pneumonia for lung cancer and other more serious complications.,., BioCurity’s proprietary
technology as demonstrated in preclinical studies is designed to prevent or mitigate damage to normal tissue
for a patient receiving radiation therapy, without impairing the effectiveness of the radiation treatment on

the patient’s cancer cells.

BioCurity’s Discovery
Medical Use of Cerium Oxide Nanoparticles

A s

Cancer Patients and Cancer Survivors are suffering from their
cancer and serious side effects directly caused by radiation
therapy!

At an MD Anderson Cancer Center hospital affiliate formerly
located on the Orlando Health campus (2005-2011)
researchers and physicians discovered a use for cerium oxide
nanoparticles to protect normal tissue during radiation

Products for skin and internal tissue were extensively tested in
preclinical studies.?** BioCurity completed a Pre-IND filing
with the FDA for a topical product for Breast Cancer patients®
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The Company’s breakthrough medical discovery was preclinically tested by the Scientific Founder
of BioCurity at an MD Anderson Cancer Center affiliate. The products generated from BioCurity’s
technology include a topical formulation for skin and IV formulation (proposed to be delivered by way of
an intravenous injection) for internal tissue. Preclinical studies successfully demonstrated prevention or
mitigation of damage to normal tissue by radiation in small animal studies. The formulations generated from
BioCurity’s technology in preclinical studies were administered before and during radiation treatment in
multiple cancers. The cancers tested included breast, head and neck, lung, prostate and colorectal cancer.
The mechanisms of action of the Company’s proprietary technology resulted in multiple peer-reviewed
published preclinical animal studies.**

The Company has presented its positive preclinical data and proprietary technology to Key Opinion
Leaders at select leading cancer centers in the United States. These Key Opinion Leaders support
development of BioCurity’s proposed drug candidates for cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy.
Key Opinion Leaders have expressed their interest to perform research collaborations with BioCurity and
suggested that clinical studies be performed at their affiliated medical centers.

THE PROBLEM - UNMET PATIENT NEED - Radiation therapy is a standard treatment modality used
by physicians in oncology to shrink existing tumors, slow or halt spread of the disease and to reduce pain.
The lack of adequate treatment options available to prevent or mitigate the damage to normal tissue causes
an unmet global need. Radiation therapy can be delivered prior to surgery, after surgery, or as part of a
nonsurgical treatment of cancer. Unfortunately, depending on the sites irradiated, damage to healthy normal
tissue on the skin and internal tissue may occur. The side effects experienced by cancer patients receiving
radiation therapy can be minimal or severe. The chart below summarizes the types of cancers and reported
radiation therapy side effects from the many types of cancers.

Cancers and Radiation Therapy Side Effects'*

* BREAST- Scarring of breasts, blisters, scars, pain uummu—m ‘”u

* HEAD AND NECK - Drying of mouth, (loss of saliva), difficulty
llowing and other symptoms (xerostomia), skin burning, pain ﬂ é
* PROSTATE - Inflammation of rectum, damage to urinary bladder soas

(frequent painful urination), skin buring, pain

g\.l’

ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬂ
FEEL
>4 Q3 'c

"
= COLORECTAL- Damage to bowel (bleeding of rectum), skin burning 3“
pain
-

*  LUNG- Scarring of the lungs (pneumonia ), skin burning, pain E

In 2018, an estimated S2 Billion was billed by hospitals in the US for in-patient medical care costs to treat
radiation dermatitis. The S2 Billion in costs are associated with treating the skin damaged by radiation therapy

to cancers of the breast, lung, head and neck, colorectal, prostate and brain. 7.8 1n 2018, an
4 Colon, Jimmy et al. “Protection from radiation-induced pneumonitis using cerium oxide nanoparticles.”
Nanomedicine. 5 (2009): 225-231.
s Kuchma, Meclissa et al. “Phosphate ester hydrolysis of biologically relevant molecules by cerium oxide
nanoparticles.” Nanomedicine. 6 (2010): 738-744.

6  Colon, Jimmy et al. “Cerium oxide nanoparticles protect gastrointestinal epithelium from radiation-induced
damage by reduction of reactive oxygen species and upregulation of superoxide dismutase 2.” Nanomedicine. 6
(2010): 698-705.

7 “The Web's Free ICD-9-CM Medical Coding Reference.” ICD9data.com. ICD9Data, Web. 28 September2018.

s “Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP).” Ahrg.gov.com. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality,
July 2017. Web. 28 September 2018.



estimated $1.3 Billion was billed by hospitals in the US for in-patient medical care costs related to head
and neck radiation therapy complications.™

Physicians, patients, nonprofit organizations, hospitals, insurance companies and advocates of
cancer patient support programs are familiar with the economic costs and wide ranging effects the damage
to normal tissue causes patients that are in treatment for their cancer.

COMPETITION — The Company has researched competitive products to prevent certain side effects
caused by radiation therapy to cancer patients. After speaking with radiation oncologists, FDA Advisors
and Key Opinion Leaders, the Company believes options for products are quite limited. However, the
Company has not performed an independent review of competitive products and does not rely on a third
party to identify and/or evaluate potential competitors. See “Risk Factors™ for a discussion of risks
pertaining to competitors and risks that the Company may incur with potential competitors.

Topical Drug for Prevention Of Radiation Dermatitis: Currently topical steroids, an anti-inflammatory
preparation used mainly to control inflamed, itchy, red, cracked, and rough skin has been provided for
patients before radiation. As far as preventing radiation dermatitis there is no study that can demonstrate
efficacy for topical steroid products either prescribed or over the counter.” Over the counter, all-natural
topical creams are also available for the prevention and treatment of radiation dermatitis but there is limited
evidence in the public domain pertaining to the efficacy of these products. The Company’s consultants and
Key Opinion Leaders have reinforced the Scientific Founder’s review pertaining to the currently available
topical drugs for the prevention or mitigation of radiation dermatitis. Patients continue to suffer burns and
other side effects causing billions of dollars in medical care.

IV Drug for Prevention of Damage to Internal Tissue: There are currently two products which BioCurity
is aware of used to protect internal normal tissue during radiation and chemotherapy. For head and neck
cancer, there is an FDA approved IV drug, Ethyol® (Amifostine) which is sometimes administered prior to
radiation therapy in patients with head and neck cancers as a way of reducing xerostomia (dry mouth)."
Amifostine is an organic compound, that once administered, is metabolized by alkaline phosphatases and
the active metabolite produced can act as a free radical scavenger.'®!' Amifostine was initially approved in
1995 to reduce the kidney toxicity associated with repeated administration of cisplatin (a common
chemotherapy agent) to patients with advanced ovarian cancer. In 1999, the FDA approved Amifostine’s
use for the reduction of the incidence of moderate to severe xerostomia in patients undergoing postoperative
radiation treatment for head and neck cancer.'>'"* Although Amifostine has clinically proven protective
effects against internal normal tissue caused by radiation treatment, Amifostine has been reported in
publications and by clinicians to cause adverse reactions, sometimes severe that limit its use with patients
for head and neck cancer.'*"

In addition, an FDA approved IV drug, Kepivance (generic name Palifermin) is administered to cancer
patients with Hodgkin’s disease, multiple myeloma, or leukemia receiving high-dose chemotherapy, with
or without radiation, followed by a bone marrow transplant as a way to prevent or heal mouth sores and
ulcers.'*'* The Company was unable to find evidence in the public domain pertaining to the availability
and/or use of Kepivance for the protection of internal tissue against radiation damage for solid cancers such
breast, head and neck, lung and other solid cancers inclusive but not limited to those preclinically tested
with BioCurity’s proposed IV drug candidate. The most common adverse side effects attributed to
Kepivance, have been reported to include skin rashes, swelling and oral toxicities, including pain and
burning, tongue discoloration, tongue thickening, alteration of taste and ulcers.”* In 2016, the European
Commission withdrew the marketing authorization of Kepivance in the European Union (EU) but the
Company is unsure if the marketing withdrawal from the EU is related to Kepivance’s side effects.'®
Nonetheless, Kepivance may become a competitor to the Company if it has been or is tested, proven
efficacious, and becomes an approved product, for the protection of internal tissues from radiation-induced
damage for solid cancers. The Company has limited information at this time but continues to perform its
internal investigation.



MARKET SIZE - Approximately 18 million cancer patients globally are newly diagnosed annually.
Approximately 6 million of these patients receive radiation therapy and 1 million of those cancer patients
receive radiation therapy in the United States.®!"BioCurity’s technology and drug candidates
have the potential to significantly reduce radiation therapy toxicity not just for these newly diagnosed
patients but also for cancer survivors who receive radiation therapy as part of their ongoing treatment

for cancer.
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9 IAEA Report 2017, Radiotherapy in Cancer Care, Facing the Global Challenge.

10 10. “ETHYOL Generic Name: Amifostine Brand Name: Ethyol.” www.rxlist.com. RxList. 4 March
2019. Web. 9 December 2019.

1 LABEL: ETHYOL- amifostine injection, powder, lyophilized, for solution.” Dailymed.nlm.nih.gov.
NIH US National Library of Medicine, 25 June 2019. Web 9 December 2019.

12 Eisbruch A. “Amifostine in the Treatment of Head and Neck Cancer: Intravenous Administration,
Subcutancous Administration, or None of the Above.” J Clin Oncol. 2(2011): 119-121.

Koukourakis, Michael. “Amifostine in clinical oncology: current use and future applications.” Anti-Cancer
Drugs. 13(2002): 181-209.

“Palifermin (marketed as Kepivance).”. www.fda.gov. U.S Food and Drug Administration. 16 July 2015.
Web. 19 June 2020.

15 “Kepivance.” www.rxlist.com. RXList. 2 January 2020. Web. 20 June 2020.

“Kepivance withdrawal of the marketing authorization in the European Union.” www.ema.curopa. European
Medicines Agency. 6 April 2016. Web. June 19 2020.

7. Ferlay J. et al. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and
methods. Int J Cancer. 2019, 9: 1941-1953.



According to a peer review scientific article published in 2015, radiation therapy is recognized as
an essential element of an effective cancer care program throughout the world, regardless of countries’
economic status.” A drug that prevents or mitigates radiation damage to normal tissue from radiation
therapy, according to radiation oncologists, clinical development consultants and other health experts,
could receive widespread support in the global medical community. This is for both a topical and an IV
drug in multiple types of cancer.”

THE SOLUTION - As noted above, radiation therapy is one of the most widely utilized modalities for
treatment of cancer. While efficient at reducing and eliminating cancer cells, normal cells in the radiation
path, or in close proximity to the treatment target are exposed to harmful ionizing radiation. As with skin,
the damage to healthy tissue occurs because ionizing radiation creates free radicals (also known as Reactive
Oxygen Species or “ROS”) that disrupt cellular DNA and cause cell death.® While cellular protective
and repair mechanisms are present to block or repair damage caused by ROS, the levels of radiation used
in cancer therapy can produce levels of ROS that overwhelm the repair processes resulting in death of
normal cells as well as cancer cells.*

The Company’s proprietary technology uses Cerium oxide nanoparticles, which belong to a specific
class of compounds known as free radical scavengers. The free radical scavenging ability of Cerium oxide
is well established in the chemistry literature and is thought to be a primary driver of its ability to decrease
ROS in cells.®* The Company believes its Cerium oxide nanoparticles deliver beneficial effect by
accelerating the breakdown of radiation-induced ROS and free radicals.

How Our Drug Under Development Works

BioCurity’s proposed drug is intended to eliminate free radicals,
PROTECTING the normal skin and internal tissues from the many
unwanted side effects of radiation during radiation therapy, without
interfering with the radiation treatment'?

« Radiation exposure creates free radicals (also known as Reactive Oxygen Species)
that disrupt cellular DNA activities and cause cell death in cancer and normal cells®

* Cerium oxide nanoparticles are free radical scavengers and degrade the free
radicals primarily in the normal cells**

+ Cancer cells still undergo the desired effect of cell death by the targeted radiation
treatment®

-« BioCurity

The Company’s Scientific Founder and consultants agree as, supported by preclinical animal
studies that the stability of Cerium oxide nanoparticles will result in the persistence of their protective
effects for extended periods of time. The Company’s preclinical animal studies have also shown that the
proprietary Cerium oxide nanoparticle proposed IV formulation had no detected toxicity when injected
intraperitoneally even at doses at approximately 10° times the preclinical protective dose. No long-term
adverse effects have been noted in these small animal model studies.??

18 Jaffray, David A and Gospodarowicz, Mary K. “Radiation Therapy for Cancer.” Ed. Hellen Gelband, Ed. Prabhat
Jha, Ed. Rengaswamy Sankaranarayanan, Ed. Susan Horton. Washington (DC): The International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank, 2015. 239-248. Print.

19 Baskar, Rajamanickam et al. “The diverse and complex roles of radiation on cancer treatment: therapeutic target
and genome maintenance.” Am J Cancer Res. 4 (2012): 372-382.

20Kim, Jac et al. “Mechanisms of radiation-induced normal tissue toxicity and implications for future clinical trials.”
Radiat Oncol J. 3 (2014): 103-115.



21 Celardo, Ivana et al. “Pharmacological potential of cerium oxide nanoparticles.” Nanoscale. 3 (2011): 1411-
1420.

22 Xu, Can and Xiaogang Qu. “Cerium oxide nanoparticle: a remarkably versatile rare earth nanomaterial for
biological applications.” NPG Asia Materials 6 (2014): 1-31.

23 Colon, Jimmy et al. “Protection from radiation-induced pneumonitis using cerium oxide nanoparticles.”
Nanomedicine. 5 (2009): 225-231.

PROPOSED TOPICAL DRUG - LEAD PRODUCT BC 101

Proposed Topical Drug for Breast Cancer BC 101. BioCurity plans to develop its lead drug candidate as
a topical drug BC 101 for breast cancer patients receiving radiation therapy as part of their cancer treatment.
Based on discussions with the Company’s drug development consultants, the Company believes the
advantages of a breast cancer lead product, if approved, the product would serve a large existing group of
cancer patients and prevent skin burns to the breast for breast cancer patients is a priority.

Breast cancer is the leading cancer in the United States for women, and it is estimated that 1 in 8
women in the United States will develop breast cancer over their lifetime.* Some form of skin damage has
been referenced in the scientific literature to inflict nearly all women with breast cancer who are receiving
radiation therapy.*

Furthermore, expansion of the initial approved indication in breast cancer patients to include
additional radiotherapy patients would be desirable. For example, in addition to the frequent use of
radiotherapy as adjuvant therapy for breast cancer, radiotherapy is also standardly used to induce shrinkage
of tumors, mitigation of locoregional cancer spread and pain management in the treatment of lung cancer,
head and neck cancer, colorectal cancer, prostate cancer and brain cancer. Similar to those seen with
Ereast cancer patients, burning of the skin can occur from the radiotherapy in these cancer patients as well.*

24 “Breast Cancer Fact Sheet.” ww5komen.org. The Susan G. Komen Breast Cancer Foundation. 30 July 2019.
Web. 20 August 2019.

25 Kole, Adam J et al. “Acute radiation dermatitis in breast cancer patients: challenges and solutions.” Breast
Cancer - Targets and Therapy. 9 (2017): 313-323.

26 Radvansky, Lauren ef al. “Prevention and management of radiation-induced dermatitis, mucositis and
xerostomia.” Am J Health Syst Pharm. 12 (2013): 1025-1032.

27 Kress, Marie-Adecle ef al. “Radiation therapy at the end of life: a population-based study examining palliative
treatment intensity.” Radiation Oncology. 15 (2015): 2-9.

28 Hu, Stephen et al. “Changes in biophysical properties of the skin following radiotherapy for breast cancer.” J.
Dermatol. 12 (2014): 1087-1094.
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Breast Cancer Facts

Breast Cancer Patients - Global!

* Leading cause of cancer death among women

* ~2 million new cases of breast cancer in 2018

* Most common cancer for women in 140 of 184
countries

Breast Cancer Patients - US??

* 1in 8 women diagnosed in their lifetime

* In 2019, ~30% of newly diagnosed cancers in
women will be breast cancers

* ~3 million women in the US living with a history
of breast cancer

EBioCur ity

Radiation treatment for breast cancer can be used after lumpectomy, after mastectomy, for pain
management, for managing metastatic breast cancer and for treating locally advanced breast cancer.” The
short term and long term skin damage associated with radiation therapy for breast cancer patients includes
localized burning and blisters that can often be permanent, open wounds, extreme swelling and tenderness
of the breast and surrounding lymph nodes, and permanent scars.”

Commercial Strategy for Proposed Topical Drug BC 101. The Company, and the Company’s drug
development and clinical consultants, believe its proposed topical drug BC 101 is reasonable to
manufacture, can be marketed efficiently, and may be reimbursable as a supportive product. Due to the
potential to reduce the side effects of radiation and possibly enhance the quality of life for patients, the
Company and its consultants believe reimbursement will not present a barrier to access for patients.
Independent, third party analysis of the commercialization potential of the Company’s proposed topical
drug has not been performed.

Drug Development - Pre-IND Meeting with FDA. BioCurity participated in a Pre-IND meeting
with the FDA in December 2016 on its proposed topical drug BC 101 for the prevention of radiation
dermatitis induced by external beam radiation in breast cancer patients receiving radiotherapy following
breast-conserving surgery. The Pre-IND meeting was held to evaluate the suitability of critical development
plans for manufacturing with quality control, preclinical toxicology programs and clinical development
including a combined Phase 1/2 study with its associated preliminary clinical endpoints and statistical plan.

20 “Radiation Therapy for Breast Cancer.” mayoclinic.org. Mayo Clinic. 24 March 2018. Web. 20 August 2019.

30  Bray, Fleta ef al. “Acute and Chronic Cutancous Reactions to Ionizing Radiation Therapy.” Dermatol Ther. 6
(2016): 185-206.
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BioCurity’s preclinical data, supporting documentation in the form of peer-review published
scientific articles, and the Company’s proposed clinical design were incorporated into the documentation
filed with the FDA. BioCurity received favorable feedback from the FDA where the FDA acknowledged

that:

1)

2)

3)

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (API) specifications, including test methods, were
acceptable for products entering early phase clinical testing. Both parties agreed that drug
product specifications would be modified to increase monitoring of globule size, API
stability and product uniformity.

Pre-clinical toxicology described in a detailed program of GLP-compliant testing was
consistent with industry standards and appropriate for the new chemical entity contained
within the product candidate.

The clinical study synopsis describing both Phase 1 (safety/toxicity/PK study) and Phase 2
(blinded, randomized preliminary efficacy study) portions proposed acceptable clinical
endpoints and preliminary statistical plans.

Clinical development plans to seek an indication for prophylaxis of radiodermatitis in
breast patients receiving external beam radiotherapy were generally acceptable but subject
to additional review at the time of IND submission. In addition, the clinical trial designs
set forth in the Pre-IND were met with suggestions by the FDA to reduce the number of
patients initially proposed as well as to include male and female subjects in the breast
cancer trial.

BioCurity Lead Product Candidate

Topical Formulation for Breast Cancer 2

* Pre-IND meeting held with FDA resulted in favorable feedback on:
* Confirmation of Unmet Clinical Need
* Manufacturing plans for Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (APl) and Topical Product
* IND-Enabling Toxicology Testing Protocols
* Preliminary Clinical Protocol Synopsis for a Phase 1/2 Study
* Initial Drug Application (IND) Submission Pathway

* Pilot non-GMP manufacturing of APl and topical product has been completed

Clinical Trial Design Synopsis for BC 101. The Company’s biotech and drug development
consultants, who assisted with the clinical design, have decades of combined experience in preclinical and
clinical development strategy, regulatory (FDA) protocol development, and clinical trial execution. The
proposed Phase 1/2 clinical trial for BC 101 is designed to test the Company's proposed topical drug on a
sufficient number of breast cancer patients for safety and efficacy testing.

The proposed Phase 1 (Safety) portion of the proposed Phase 1/2 clinical trial design includes an
enrollment total of 18 breast cancer patients receiving radiation therapy. The proposed Phase 2 (Efficacy)
portion of the proposed Phase 1/2 clinical trial design includes an enrollment total of 66 breast cancer
patients receiving radiation therapy for early stage breast cancer and as cancer pain management in
advanced breast cancer. At the recommendation of the consultants, the total number of participants in the
proposed Phasel/2 clinical trial has been reduced from the Company’s Pre-IND submission and cancer
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patients have been added to participate for the safety portion of the trial. The Company may encounter
additional changes to the proposed Phase 1/2 clinical trial design when filed with the FDA at the time of
the proposed IND submission.

Manufacturing of Topical Drug. Pilot manufacturing of the API (active pharmaceutical
ingredient) and topical drug under non-GMP conditions was completed in Q2 2017. The Company has
identified its GMP manufacturer for its API and is ready to proceed with the process. The GMP
manufacturing process has not begun as of the date hereof. Management has also identified GMP drug
product contract manufacturing organizations (CMOs) to complete the product manufacturing of a topical
formulation. Several companies appear to have comprehensive GMP manufacturing capabilities for topical
dosage form inclusive of creams, gels and ointments. See “Risk Factors™ for a discussion of risks that the
Company may incur with API, selection and reliance on third party service providers such as Contract
Research Organizations (CROs) and CMOs.

Toxicology Studies. Management has reviewed and accepted a detailed quote setting out cost and
timing on the proposed IND-enabling toxicology studies required for the filing of an IND from a reputable
and global leading company that provides these services for many large and early stage biotech companies.

IND Filing and Clinical Trials. Management has identified the team to file the IND once the
toxicology studies are complete and has received assistance with preparing estimated budgets for the
process.

PROPOSED IV DRUG

Proposed IV Drug for Protection of Internal Tissue. As set out above, damage to internal tissue during
radiation therapy is an unmet clinical need for cancer patients. The Company believes there is a strong value
proposition for an IV drug preventing or mitigating side effects of radiation therapy for multiple cancers.
Some of the side effects from radiation therapy can contribute to life-threatening complications. While
radiation therapy is considered one of the most common treatment strategies for lung and head and neck
cancer, the normal lung and tissues in the head and neck are highly sensitive to radiation and these cancer
patients often face long-term radiation-induced side effects.”*

For example, in patients with lung cancer treated with radiation therapy, the radiation may cause
inflammation and scarring of the normal lung, resulting in difficulty with breathing, chest pain, and
pneumonia (which may require hospitalization).” For head and neck cancer patients treated with radiation
therapy, these patients may have difficulties with eating, speaking, tasting, and dry mouth as a result of
radiation-induced damage to the internal salivary glands.”

Worldwide, lung cancer remains the leading cause of cancer incidence and mortality, with 2.1
million new lung cancer cases and 1.8 million deaths estimated in 2018.” As reported in 2018, in the
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United States, every year, approximately 200,000 patients are diagnosed with lung cancer and each year
an estimated 150,000 patients diagnosed with lung cancer die.* The annual occurrence rate of newly
diagnosed head and neck cancer patients, as reported in 2018, is approximately 63,000 cases in the United
States.”

1V Drug Development. Further discussions with the Company’s drug development and clinical trial
consultants and the Company’s regulatory advisors are required before the clinical development on the
proposed IV drug is designed and submitted to the FDA. The Company has had preliminary discussions
with strategic funding groups for its proposed IV drug development and there appears to be interest in the
proposed IV drug.

3 Licrova, Anna ct al. “Cytokines and radiation-induced pulmonary injuries.” Journal of Radiation Research. 59

(2018): 709-753.

Radvansky, Lauren ct al. “Prevention and Management of Radiation-Induced Dermatitis, Mucositis and
Xerostomia.” Am J Health Syst Pharm. 12 (2013): 1025-1032.

3 Bray, Freddic et al. “Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide
for 36 cancers in 185 countries.” CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 68 (2018): 394-424.

“Lung Cancer Is the Biggest Cancer Killer in Both Men and Women — Infographic.” cdc.gov. Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention. 19 July 2018. Web. 5 September 2019.

3% Head and Neck Cancer Market Research Report - Forecast to 2023. Herald Keeper Report, 1 August 2018. Web.
5 September 2019.

Employees

The Company, as of July 5, 2020, do not have full time employees. The team will continue to work virtual
as Directors and Consultants.

Consultants
The Company utilizes high quality consultants with decades of combined biotech industry

expertise and successful track records inclusive but not limited to:

+ preclinical and clinical development strategy

+ product manufacturing oversight

* FDA and global regulatory experience

+ clinical trial execution

* licensing deals with public and private pharmaceutical companies

The Company believes the current use of consultants as opposed to hiring full time employees to
support these key areas when needed, allows for more efficient use of Company funds.

Property

Lease of Regus Space. The Company entered into an “office agreement™ with Regus Management
Group, LLC for the occupancy of one office space and use of services from Regus at its property located at
110 Front Street — Suite 300, Jupiter, Florida 33477. The agreement ran for an initial term from February
15, 2017 through May 31, 2018 and has been extended until May 31, 2020.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

BioCurity's technology is disclosed and claimed in a patent portfolio controlled by BioCurity, including patent
rights wholly or jointly owned by the Company, as well as patent rights exclusively licensed from the University
of Central Florida Research Foundation, Inc. (“UCFRF”) effective February 2015 (the “License Agreement”).
The exclusive license is a non-royalty, fully paid license that includes 7 issued United States patents. BioCurity
has an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and sell CNPs/CNP formulations for preventative,
therapeutic, diagnostic purposes in select fields. The license also includes University of Central Florida
(“UCF™)’s interest in the jointly owned US Patent Applications No. 14/860,044 and 16/511,904 . The
Company’s issued patent portfolio (in addition to the Company’s pending patent applications) provides
highly relevant coverage with supporting claims to protect the Company’s proposed clinical efforts.

Patent Status Type Expires Owned
7 Issued Patents Composition of Matter 2025 - 2032 Exclusive License
& Method of Use from State
US Patents University
1 Pending Composition of Matter Estimated Exclusive License
Patent & Method of Use 2030 from State
Application US Patent University Jointly
Owned
1 Pending Method of Use Estimated BioCurity Owned
Patent US and International Patent 2035
Application*®

Filed In: AUSTRALIA, BRAZIL, CANADA, CHINA, HONG KONG, EUROPE, INDIA, JAPAN,
MEXICO, NEW ZEALAND, RUSSIA, US. A PATENT HAS BEEN ISSUED IN CHINA AND
JAPAN AND PATENT CLAIMS HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO THE COMPANY IN EUROPE
AND RUSSIA.

In consideration of the License Agreement, BioCurity, Inc. now a wholly owned subsidiary of
BioCurity paid UCF $10,000 per patent ($20,000 total amount) in connection with the two initially licensed
patents and agreed to reimburse UCF for out-of-pocket costs incurred for patent prosecution and
maintenance with respect to all licensed patents from time to time. BioCurity, Inc. also agreed to issue
UCFRF 119,350 shares of its common stock (which as a result of the migratory merger of BioCurity, Inc.
into a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company became stock in the Company), computed on a fully-
diluted basis. UCFREF is entitled to retain this common stock, even in the event of a breach of the License
Agreement by UCFRF or one of its affiliates. In connection with the amendments to the License Agreements
which increased the number of licensed patents by two additional patents and three additional patents
respectively (and collectively brought the total number of licensed patents to seven), BioCurity, Inc. agreed
to pay to UCF the sum of $20,000 per additional patent on the first anniversary of each amendment, so that
an additional amount of $40,000 was paid by February 12, 2017 and an additional payment of $60,000 was
paid by May 26, 2017.

The License Agreement also limits UCF’s liability under the License Agreement and requires that
BioCurity, Inc. indemnify UCF and its affiliates for: (a) material breaches of the License Agreement; (b)
the use of the patents underlying the License Agreement on behalf of BioCurity, Inc. or its sublicensees; (c)
the manufacture, sale and use of any licensed products under the License Agreement by BioCurity, Inc., its
sublicensees, their affiliates and by customers and other end-users; and (d) the death or injury of any person
as a result of our actions under subsection (¢) UCFRF is not obligated to indemnify BioCurity, Inc. for a
breach of the License Agreement by either UCFRF or any of its affiliates.

There are a number of risks to BioCurity, Inc. associated with the License Agreement. There are
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risks associated with patents and licenses in general and risks specifically associated with the License
Agreement. Both types of risks are described in the “Risk Factors™ set forth in this Memorandum. Please
review “Risk Factors™ which is included in the information about us to which prospective investors have
been given access, in conjunction with this summary.

Company Owned Patent Information. The Company has filed International Application No.
PCT/US2015/040869, entitled “Treatment of Cancer with a Combination of Radiation, Cerium Oxide
Nanoparticles and a Chemotherapeutic Agent,” on July 17,2015. This invention is directed to methods for
the treatment of cancer with a combination of radiation, cerium oxide nanoparticles and at least one
chemotherapeutic agent. The methods of the invention utilize cerium oxide nanoparticles to enhance
radiation-induced and chemotherapy-induced cancer cell death and also reduce the toxicity associated with
radiation therapy and chemotherapy. In January 2017, this application entered the National Phase and patent
protection will be sought in the following countries: Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Hong Kong, India,
Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, Russia, Europe and USA. The Company’s patent above was issued in China
in November 2019 and in Japan in June 2020. In August and September of 2019, patent claims were allowed
to the Company in Europe and Russia. The issued patent in China and claims allowed in Russia and Europe
cover the use of cerium oxide nanoparticles for the reduction of side effects caused by radiation therapy for
patients with cancer limited to pancreatic or lung cancer who are receiving radiation therapy in combination
with chemotherapy as part of their treatment regimen. The issued patent in Japan covers the use of cerium
oxide nanoparticles for the reduction of side effects caused by radiation therapy for cancer patients with
most cancers who are receiving radiation therapy in combination with chemotherapy (Gemcitabine and/or
Paclitaxel) as part of their treatment regimen. The Company believes that by seeking international patent
protection, if successful, it will enhance the value of the Company’s intellectual property portfolio.

The actual determination of whether to file and prosecute the patent application in each jurisdiction
is a function of the Company’s future assessment of the value of continuing to prosecute protection in such
jurisdictions, as well as having sufficient funds budgeted to be able to move forward with theapplications.
It should be noted that because the core technology is method based (as opposed to actual chemical elements
of a pharmaceutical product), certain jurisdictions such as China, India, Japan and Russia may be less
inclined to grant protection than in other jurisdictions.

MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY

The Company is managed by its Board of Directors, which presently consists of three (3) persons:
Dr. Cheryl Baker, Aslam S *Sam™ Merchant and Nancy Cass. They also are the three directors of BioCurity,
Inc., the Company’s sole subsidiary. Directors of the Company serve for one-year terms or until the next
annual meeting of the stockholders.

Management Team

Sam Merchant, Chairman of the Board of Directors. Sam Merchant serves as Chairman of the
Board of BioCurity, and has served in such capacity since February 2015. Mr. Merchant is the founder of
The Merchants Financial Group, a privately held capital investment company founded in 1982 and
headquartered in Atlanta. Merchants Financial Group is focused on identifying and developing international
growth opportunities in multiple business sectors including healthcare, biotech, banking, commercial real
estate, manufacturing, franchising and underwriting of traditional and alternative financial products.

Mr. Merchant is Chairman of his family’s projects and equities fund a position he has successfully
served since 1986. Mr. Merchant has developed a network that includes Fortune 500 companies and
businesses local to each region of the world. He has partnered with global companies in complex business
transactions and been instrumental in the growth of major franchise brands in multiple regions of the world.

As an active resident of Atlanta for many years, Mr. Merchant served on the Atlanta Regional
Commission Board for seven years and was a stakeholder member of Atlanta Vision 20/20. This expanded
his knowledge of addressing and solving problems of governments and municipalities. Mr. Merchant,
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recognized for his effectiveness in Atlanta, served for six years on President George W. Bush’s Advisory
Board for Economic Development and the Small Business Sub-committee. Mr. Merchant has interacted
with governments throughout the world at the highest levels and is a well-respected global businessman. In
July of 2019, Mr. Merchant was elected to serve as Chairman of the Board of Directors to the Regenerative
Medicine Foundation. In addition to this position he continues to serve as the financial team leader of the
World Stem Cell Summit, one of the largest international conferences of its kind.

Mr. Merchant has been working closely with BioCurity to provide continuous guidance in all
business areas of day-to-day operations and is working with all related parties including specifically its
auditors, to guide proper financial and corporate governance so essential for emerging growth companies.
In furtherance of this: (i) MerchantCass Advisors, an affiliate of Mr. Merchant that has an advisory
agreement with the Company, serves as interim President and COO of BioCurity; and (ii) Capital and
Venture Resources, LLC an affiliate of Mr. Merchant has an advisory agreement with the Company to
provide mergers, acquisition and disposition services to the Company.

Mr. Merchant intends to expand his work with early stage companies by leading quality driven investment

opportunities for the retail investor marketplace. He believes it is important to allow access to investment
opportunities that to-date have been limited to other family offices, strategic investors and private equity
funds. Making a commitment to economic growth for all is an impact investing commitment whose time
has come.

Mr. Merchant has been a citizen of the United States since 1986. He is a resident of South Florida
and often travels to his corporate headquarters in Atlanta. In his academic achievements, he obtained his
B.Sc and BBA prior to attending Georgia State University. Mr. Merchant’s graduate level academic
interests and course work included, but was not limited to, physics, math, economics, and business with an
emphasis on accounting and information systems technology while attending Georgia State University.

Cheryl Baker, PhD, Scientific Founder, Director, Secretary and Treasurer. Dr. Cheryl Baker is
Scientific Founder and a Board member of BioCurity. Dr. Baker received her B.S., summa cum laude, in
Chemistry from Rollins College (Winter Park, Florida) in 1994. In 1999, she received her Ph.D. in
Biochemistry from Texas Tech University. She then completed her post- doctoral fellowship in the
Department of Cancer Biology at The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center in Houston,
Texas. From 2001-2003, she conducted research as an Instructor of Surgery at the Boston Children’s
Hospital affiliated with Harvard Medical School in Boston, MA. Subsequently, she was an Assistant
Professor at the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center in 2004.

During 2005-2010, Dr. Baker served as Director of the Cancer Research Institute of MD Anderson
Cancer Center Orlando (formerly affiliated with Orlando Health). During her time at MD Anderson-
Orlando, she established and led a team of master and doctoral students, research scientists, physician-
scientists and professors in multi-disciplinary cancer research projects.

Dr. Baker has conducted cancer related research for over 20 years and is the recipient of research
funding from local, state, and government agencies. Dr. Baker has published over 45 peer-reviewed
manuscripts, book chapters and articles.

Dr. Baker joined BioCurity as its Chief Scientific Research Officer and Director on July 31, 2014.
As Chief Scientific Research Officer, Dr. Baker assisted BioCuritys 3™ party FDA advisors with product
development activities and assisted patent counsel on the scientific content for BioCurity’s US and
international patent applications. As of July 5, 2020, Dr. Baker is no longer an employee of BioCurity.

Dr. Baker will be part of the Scientific Advisory Board of BioCurity and continues to speak publicly
on behalf of BioCurity. She also works on the patent portfolio for BioCurity and remains the key source of
information for BioCurity on technology and research related to the BioCurity products. She is not
employed by any other organization, and also serves as Secretary and Treasurer of BioCurity.
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Nancy J Cass, Director. Ms. Cass is a Director of the Company, and has served in such capacity
since June 2016. Ms. Cass is a corporate/securities attorney and a licensed investment banker at Crescent
Securities Group, Inc., where she has worked since January 2016. Ms. Cass uses her depth of experience in
transactional and securities law to provide added value for investment banking clients. Ms. Cass at the outset
of her legal career worked at mid-sized law firms in Chicago and Miami from 1982-1986. Early in her
career, Ms. Cass represented public and private issuers, institutional funding sources, banks and early stage
companies. Her proficiency and skill through practicing law benefits examining opportunities for
financings, strategic partnerships and other transactions. Her evaluations are frequently comprehensive and
Ms. Cass is able to interact with the attorneys on transactions, review documents and conduct due diligence
with added insight from her legal and securities training. She joined the Company as a director in June
2016.

Seeing a need for a boutique investment banking group that can offer companies a hands on global
growth model Ms. Cass co-founded MerchantCass Advisors with Sam Merchant in 2012. Prior to co-
founding MerchantCass Advisors she was a Managing Director of the Emerging Growth Division of a
FINRA member broker dealer. Ms. Cass began her investment banking career at Capitalink, a boutique

Miami based investment banking firm that was acquired in 2006 by Ladenburg Thalmann & Co., a New
York Stock Exchange member firm. In addition to investment banking, she has served as Special Legal
Counsel and as an advisor to companies across multiple sectors including biotech, healthcare, real estate
and media. Ms. Cass will participate in the interim executive services provided to BioCurity through
MerchantCass Advisors.

She maintains an active license to practice law in Florida and has also been a member of the
Colorado bar and Illinois bar. Ms. Cass holds FINRA Series 24, 7, 79 and 63 licenses.
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. In evaluating our business, investors
should carefully consider the following risk factors. These risk factors contain, in addition to limited
historical information, forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below. The order in
which the following risks are presented is not intended to reflect the magnitude of the risks described. The
occurrence of any of the following risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. In that case, the value of our securities could decline, and
you may lose part or all of your investment. References to the “Company,” “us” or “we,” includes both
BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, BioCurity, Inc. (a Delaware corporation
and successor in interest to BioCurity, Inc., a Florida corporation).

Financial Risks

We have a history of net losses and have never generated any revenues. We have products under
development only and we expect to continue to incur increasing net losses for the foreseeable future, and
we may never achieve or maintain revenues or profitability.

Our losses have resulted principally from costs incurred in our discovery, development and operating
activities. We anticipate that our operating losses will increase over the next several years as we expand our
discovery, research and development activities for the clinical development of our product candidates.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with biopharmaceutical product
development and commercialization, we are unable to accurately predict the timing or amount of future
expenses or when, or if, we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Currently, we have no products
approved for commercial sale however the Company has begun the process of interaction with the FDA and
held a pre-IND meeting in December 2016. The Company has not completed product development or initiated
the IND-enabling toxicology studies as required by the FDA subsequent to the December 2016 Pre-IND
meeting. The Company may be required to start the Pre-IND submission process over again as it has been more
than 3 years since the Pre-IND meeting. Therefore, the Company may experience numerous unforeseen events
inclusive but not limited to the preparation, submission and feedback from the FDA, which could delay or
prevent our ability to develop our product. We do not expect to generate any revenue for many years as
product development is a long-term process. We have financed our operations primarily through the sale of
equity securities and issuance of a recent line of credit. The size of our future losses is anticipated to increase
as development costs grow. Our ability to ever achieve any revenue is dependent on our ability, alone or with
others, to raise sufficient capital to enable us to complete the development of our products successfully,
obtain the required regulatory approvals, manufacture and market our proposed products successfully or have
such products licensed to and/or manufactured and marketed by others, and gain market acceptance for such
products. There can be no assurance as to whether or when we will achieve profitability even if the revenue
is achieved.

The Company may not raise the needed amount of funds.

There is no assurance that the Company will sell an amount of securities sufficient to meet the
Company’s working capital needs on a near term basis. The Company can elect to accept subscription
proceeds at an initial closing at any time after receipt of the initial subscription proceeds, and there is no
minimum amount that needs to be accepted for an initial closing. Investors should be aware that the proceeds
from this Offering are not sufficient to fund the Company in the near term or make material impact on the
development of the Company’s biotech product.

The Company has a loan of $350,000 and will be subject to risk of repayment of the Loan.
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As noted in the description of the $350,000 line of credit that the Company has with Seacoast
National Bank, and collateralized with a CD from the Town of Jupiter, Florida, as the Company draws
down on that line of credit, it will be indebted for borrowed money, which is secured by a blanket lien on
the Company’s assets. The loan has an outstanding amount of the loan is less than $155,000 and must be
paid in full by December 21, 2020, and the Company may not have the resources to repay it. While the
Company has the right to prepay such loan at any time, should the Company default on its interest payment
obligations or be unable to pay the loan on maturity, the Company is at risk for default with respect to the
loan and loss of all its assets securing the loan.

The Company will have broad discretion in using the proceeds from this Offering including affiliated
parties with potential conflicts of interest.

The Company’s management including those who have potential conflicts of interest and related
party transactions will use the proceeds from this Offering for general working capital, expenses related to
future capital raises, intellectual property development, professional fees to consultants, attorneys,
accountants and others. Payments from the proceeds of this Offering may go to officers, directors and
affiliated parties of the Company in accordance with written agreements. As such, related parties will have
sole discretion in determining the specific uses of the net proceeds it receives as a result of this Offering.
Investors will not have the opportunity to evaluate the economic, financial or other information on which
the Company bases its decisions on how to use the net proceeds it receives as a result of this Offering. Thus,
prospective investors will purchase securities without any assurance that the Company will utilize the
proceeds in an effective manner, in a manner with which prospective investors agree or in a manner to meet
its ongoing working capital needs.

A small group of stockholders, who also control the Board, have the ability to exert significant
influence on the Company’s board of directors and its business and the interests of these stockholders
may conflict with yours.

Certain shareholders in our Company have entered into an agreement (the “Stockholders
Agreement”) that contains certain provisions that restrict the rights of existing parties to such agreement,
including: (1) a right of first refusal in favor of the Company in connection with transfers of shares except
to certain designated permitted transferees: (ii) a drag along provision which requires stockholders to
participate in certain sales of shares approved by certain selling stockholders: and (iii) an obligation to vote
shares in a manner to elect one designee to the Board as selected by each of Cheryl H. Baker and of
MerchantCass Advisors, LLC. Each of MerchantCass Advisors and Capital and Venture Resources LLC
has a consulting agreement with the Company (see “Related Party Transactions™) and, together with their
Affiliates are the beneficial owners of a substantial portion of the Company’s capital stock, warrants and
options. Sam Merchant, through BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc. owns 10 shares of “Super Voting”
Series V Preferred Stock that provides Mr. Merchant voting control over the Company. Circumstances may
arise where one or more of Dr. Baker, Mr. Merchant, MerchantCass and Capital and Venture Resources
LLC may have interests directly in conflict with the investors. Investors will have no say and will be entirely
relying upon the Board to manage the Company. Investors should be aware that these conflicts exist prior
to making any investment. Investors are urged to carefully review the “Related Party Transactions™ which
summarizes the terms of the conflicts and agreements.

Conflicts of Interest-Board Members.

Given that BioCurity has a limited operating team, Board Members have or may serve as
consultants or employees of the Company. Although the Company has engaged the services of independent
auditors since 2014, financial and business decisions for the Company are made by the Board and due to the
dual roles conflicts of interest are inherent and anticipated, including but not limited to broad advisory
services provided to the Company by MerchantCass Advisors, and transactional consulting and advisory
services provided by Capital and Venture Resources LLC.
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Voting Control — BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc. Affiliate of Sam Merchant

The Company prior to this Offering with the unanimous consent and endorsement of the Board of
Directors of BioCurity filed a certificate of designation for a Series V Preferred Stock. The Series V
Preferred Stock has less than a $20 economic interest in BioCurity but holds a majority of common stock
voting control. BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc., an affiliate of Mr. Merchant is the sole owner of the
Series V Preferred Stock. Shareholders must be willing to rely upon the Board and BioCurity Controlling
Shares, Inc. for Company control. Investors in this Offering will receive voting shares, but they will not
have any control of the Company. Mr. Merchant is Chairman of the Board of BioCurity as well as a
consultant to the Company through his affiliates Capital and Venture Resources and MerchantCass
Advisors.
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There is no Guarantee that Capital and Venture Resources LLC Can Bring a Successful Transaction
to the Company.

Capital and Venture Resources LLC, controlled by Sam Merchant, has been engaged by the
Company to use its best efforts to assist the Company in engaging in commercial transactions on behalf of
the Company. However the ability to attract any such potential transactions and/or successfully consummate
them is dependent upon the performance of the Company, which is outside the control of Capital and
Venture Resources LLC. Accordingly prospective investors should realize that there can be no guarantee
that the past successes of Capital and Venture Resources LLC and its affiliates will result in Capital and
Venture Resources LLC bringing any successful transactions to the Company.

We will require substantial additional capital in the foreseeable future. If additional capital is not
available, we will have to delay development and may be forced to cease operations.

Development of our product candidates and general working capital to operate the Company will
require substantial additional funds to conduct research and development, bring on FDA and other
consultants, additional management, conduct clinical trials, retain legal counsel and other expenditures
reasonably necessary, foreseen and unforeseen, to bring such product candidates to market and to establish
manufacturing, marketing and distribution capabilities. Our future capital requirements will depend on many
factors, including, among others:

* the scope, rate of progress, results and costs of our preclinical and non-clinical studies, clinical
trials and other research and development activities:

» the scope, rate of progress and costs of our manufacturing, development and commercial
manufacturing activities;

= the cost, timing and outcomes of regulatory proceedings, including but not limited to U.S. FDA,
and other regulatory costs both national and international the costs involved in preparing, filing,
prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent claims;

* the costs associated with commercializing our product candidates, if they receive regulatory
approval:

* the cost and timing of establishing sales and marketing capabilities;

* expenses for international strategy;

= cost of management, consultant and general working capital expenses:
* competing technological efforts and market developments;

* revenues received from any future products, if any; and

* payments received under any future strategic collaborations, if any.

We anticipate that we will continue to generate significant losses for the next several years and
foreseeable future as we incur expenses to complete our clinical trial programs for our product candidates,
build commercial capabilities, engage consultants, develop our product pipeline and grow a corporate
infrastructure.

There can be no assurance that our revenue and expense forecasts if any, will prove to be accurate,
and changes in the foregoing assumptions are likely and could require us to obtain additional financing
carlier than anticipated. There is a risk of delay or failure at any stage of developing a product candidate, and
the time required and costs involved in successfully accomplishing our objectives cannot be accurately
predicted. Actual drug research and development costs as well as general working capital needs could
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substantially exceed budgeted amounts, which could force us to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one
or more of our research or development programs.

If a product is ever approved for sale, we may never be able to generate a sufficient amount of
product revenue to cover our expenses. There can be no assurance that future or sufficient financing will
be available on acceptable terms, if at all, and such financings could be highly dilutive to existing security
holders. Moreover, in the event that additional funds are obtained through arrangements with collaborators,
such arrangements may require us to relinquish rights to certain of our technologies, product candidates or
products that we would otherwise seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.

If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate
development programs. Our failure to obtain adequate financing when needed and on acceptable terms would
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. There is a
possibility that the Company would cease operations entirely and investors could lose their entire investment.

The Company may Provide Additional or Different Information to Investors in the Regulation A
Offering.

The Company plans to launch a Regulation A Offering. In connection with the Regulation A
Offering, the Company will prepare an Offering Statement, which it will submit to the SEC for its review
and comment. While the information in this Memorandum will form the basis of the disclosure in the
Offering Statement and the Offering Circular that will be prepared for the Regulation A Offering, the
Company may be required to provide different or additional information in the Offering Statement.

The Company will not be able to make sales under the Regulation A Offering until the SEC
completes its review process and the Company requests the qualification of the Offering Statement. As part
of the review process, the SEC may ask the Company to provide different or additional information in the
Offering Statement. The SEC review process typically takes at least three (3) months to complete. There
can be no assurance as to when the Company will file the Offering Statement or complete the review process;
nor can there be any guarantee that the SEC will qualify the Offering Statement.

There is no guarantee that a filing of an Offering Statement for a Regulation A Offering will be
made or qualified by the SEC, or that if qualified, that any shares of Common Stock will be sold pursuant
to a Regulation A Offering. No money or other consideration is being solicited in connection with the
Regulation A Offering, and if sent in response, will not be accepted

Business Risks
Risks Relating to Clinical Development and Commercialization of Our Product Candidates.

If we fail to successfully initiate or to complete clinical trials, fail to obtain regulatory approval or
fail to successfully commercialize our product candidates, our business would be harmed and the Company
could have no value at all.

We must be evaluated in light of the existing uncertainties and many complexities affecting a pre-
commercial and pre-clinical biotechnology company. We have not started clinical trials of any product.
Regulatory agencies, including the FDA, must approve any product before it can be marketed or sold. The
approval process is lengthy, requires significant capital expenditures, and is uncertain as to outcome. Our
ability to obtain regulatory approval of our products depends on, among other things, initiation and
completion of many clinical trials, whether our clinical trials demonstrate statistically significant efficacy with
safety issues that do not potentially outweigh the therapeutic benefit of the product candidates, and whether
the regulatory agencies agree that the data from our future clinical trials are sufficient to support approval of
products. Assuming clinical trials are initiated the final results of the future clinical trials may not meet FDA
or other regulatory agencies’ requirements to approve a product candidate for marketing, and the regulatory
agencies may otherwise determine that our manufacturing processes or facilities are insufficient to support
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approval. We may need to conduct more clinical trials than we currently anticipate. Even if we do receive
FDA or other regulatory agency approval, we may not be successful in
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commercializing approved product candidates. If any of these events occur, our business could be materially
harmed and the value of our securities would decline.

We may face delays in initiating and completing our clinical trials, and may not be able to complete
or initiate them at all.

Clinical trials necessary to support an application for approval to market any product candidates
have not been initiated. Our future clinical trials may be delayed, unsuccessful, or terminated as a result of
many factors, including:

* delays in designing an appropriate clinical trial protocol and reaching agreement on trial design
with investigators and regulatory authorities;

* governmental or regulatory delays, failure to obtain regulatory approval or changes in
regulatory requirements, policy or guidelines;

* adding new clinical trial sites;

« reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations,
(*CROs"), and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and
may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

» the actual performance of CROs and clinical trial sites in ensuring the proper and timely conduct
of our clinical trials;

* developing and validating companion diagnostics on a timely basis;

* adverse effects experienced by subjects in clinical trials;

+ manufacturing sufficient quantities of product candidates for use in clinical trials; and
* delays in achieving study endpoints and completing data analysis for a trial.

* risks by using a CRO outside of the United States.

In addition to these factors, our trials may be delayed, unsuccessful or terminated because:

= regulators or institutional review boards (“IRBs™), may not authorize us to commence a clinical
trial;

* regulators or IRBs may suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including
noncompliance with regulatory requirements or concerns about patient safety;

* we may suspend or terminate our clinical trials if we believe that they expose the participating
patients to unacceptable health risks;

= patients may not complete clinical trials due to safety issues, side effects, such as injection site
discomfort, a belief that they are receiving placebo instead of our product candidates, or other
reasons;

* patients with serious diseases included in our clinical trials may die or suffer other adverse
medical events for reasons that may not be related to our product candidates:

= in those trials where our product candidate is being tested in combination with one or more other
therapies, deaths may occur that may be attributable to the other therapies;

* we may have difficulty in maintaining contact with patients after treatment, preventing us from
collecting the data required by our study protocol;

* product candidates may demonstrate a lack of efficacy during clinical trials; and
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» personnel conducting clinical trials may fail to properly administer our product candidates.

We could encounter delays if our clinical trials after initiation are suspended or terminated by us,
by IRBs of the institutions in which such trials are being conducted, by the data safety monitoring boards for
such trials or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Such authorities may impose such a suspension or
termination due to a number of factors, including potential for unacceptable safety risks to patients, inspection
of the clinical trial operation or trial site, changes in government regulations or administrative actions.

We also may rely on CROs to perform our data management and analysis. They may not provide
these services as required or in a timely or compliant manner, and we may be held legally responsible for
any or all of their performance failures or inadequacies. If we experience delays in the completion of; or
termination of, any clinical trial of our product candidates, the commercial prospects of our product
candidates will be harmed, and our ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates
will be delayed or eliminated. In addition, any delays in completing or initiating our clinical trials will increase
our costs, slow down our product candidate development and approval process, and jeopardize our ability to
commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial
condition and prospects. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement
or completion of clinical trials may also lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

If we encounter difficulties obtaining approval for clinical trials and enrolling patients in our clinical
trials, our clinical trials if approved could be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

We may not be able to enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with required or desired
characteristics, in a timely manner. Patient enrollment is affected by factors including:

« severity of the disease under investigation;

* design of the trial protocol;

» the size and nature of the patient population;

« eligibility criteria for the study in question;

» lack of a sufficient number of patients who meet the enrollment criteria for our clinical trials;
* delays required to characterize tumor types to allow us to select the proper product candidates;
* which may lead patients to seek to enroll in other clinical trials or seek alternative treatments;
* perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

« availability of competing therapies and clinical trials;

» efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

* scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians;

* patient referral practices of physicians;

= the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment; and

* proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients.

If we have difficulty enrolling a sufficient number or diversity of patients to conduct our clinical
trials as planned, we may need to delay or terminate ongoing or planned clinical trials, either of which
would have an adverse effect on our business.
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Our product candidates are based on a novel technology, which may raise development issues we may
not be able to resolve, regulatory issues that could delay or prevent approval, or personnel issues that
may keep us from being able to develop our product candidates.

Our product candidates are based on our novel technology platform. There can be no assurance that
development problems related to our novel technology will not arise in the future that cause delays or that we
are not able to resolve. Regulatory approval of novel product candidates such as ours can be more expensive
and take longer than for other, more well-known or extensively studied pharmaceutical or biopharmaceutical
product candidates due to our and regulatory agencies’ lack of experience with them. The novelty of our
platform may lengthen the regulatory review process, require us to conduct additional studies or clinical trials,
increase our development costs, lead to changes in regulatory positions and interpretations, delay or prevent
approval and commercialization of our product candidates or lead to significant post- approval limitations or
restrictions. Although we have currently chosen to proceed with a topical product there is no
guarantee that is the correct decision. The nature of our product candidates may also mean that fewer
people are trained in or experienced with product candidates of this type, which may make it difficult to find,
hire and retain capable personnel, particularly for research, development, commercial and manufacturing
positions. If we are unable to hire as employees or consultants or retain the necessary personnel, the rate
and success at which we can develop and commercialize product candidates will be limited. Any such events
would increase our costs and could delay or prevent our ability to commercialize our product candidates,
which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Results of early-stage studies and clinical trials may not be predictive of future trial results.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently
uncertain. A topical formulation may in the end take longer than an IV formulation to develop. Failure can
occur at any time during the clinical trial process, and it may be we have not selected the best first product
candidate. This could require the Company to repeat steps which are costly and will take time. The
results of preclinical studies and/or early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the
design or results of later-stage clinical trials. Statistical significance is a statistical term that means that an
effect is unlikely to have occurred by chance. In order to be approved, product candidates must demonstrate
that their effect on patients’ diseases in the trial is statistically significant. Product candidates in later stages
of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy traits despite having progressed through
preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. Early clinical trials frequently enroll patient populations that are
different from the patient populations in later trials, resulting in different outcomes in later clinical trials from
those in earlier stage clinical trials. In addition, adverse events may not occur in early clinical trials and on
emerge in larger, late-stage clinical trials or after commercialization. A number of companies in the
biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks and incurred loss of value to security holders
in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding promising results
in earlier clinical trials. If later stage clinical trials do not demonstrate efficacy and safety of our product
candidates, we will not be able to market them and our business will be materially harmed.

Regulatory authorities may not approve our product candidates even if they meet safety and efficacy
endpoints in clinical trials.

We plan, if reasonably possible to have discussions with and will attempt to obtain guidance from
regulatory authorities regarding certain aspects of our clinical development activities. These discussions if
possible are not binding commitments on the part of regulatory authorities. Under certain circumstances,
regulatory authorities may revise or retract previous guidance during the course of our clinical activities or
after the completion of our clinical trials. A regulatory authority may also disqualify a clinical trial in whole
or in part from consideration in support of approval of a potential product for commercial sale or otherwise
deny approval of that product. Prior to regulatory approval, a regulatory authority may elect to obtain advice
from outside experts regarding scientific issues and/or marketing applications under a regulatory authority

27



review. In the United States, these outside experts are convened through the FDA’s Advisory Committee
process, which would report to the FDA and make recommendations that may differ from the views of the
FDA. Should an Advisory Committee be convened, it would be expected to lengthen the time for obtaining
regulatory approval, if such approval is obtained at all. The FDA and foreign regulatory agencies may delay,
limit or deny marketing approval for many reasons, including:

* aproduct candidate may not be considered safe or effective;
* our manufacturing processes or facilities may not meet the applicable requirements;

» changes in the agencies’ approval policies or adoption of new regulations may require;

« different divisions of the FDA are reviewing different product candidates and those divisions
may have different requirements for approval; and

= changes in regulatory law, FDA or foreign regulatory agency organization, or personnel may
result in different requirements for approval than anticipated.

Our product candidates may not be approved even if they achieve their endpoints in clinical trials.
Regulatory agencies, including the FDA, or their advisors may disagree with our trial design and our
interpretations of data from preclinical studies and clinical trials. Regulatory agencies also may approve a
product candidate for fewer or more limited indications than requested or may grant approval subject to the
performance of post-marketing studies. In addition, regulatory agencies may not approve the labeling claims
that are necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of our product candidates.

Any delay in or failure to receive or maintain approval for any of our product candidates could
prevent us from ever generating revenues or achieving profitability.

We may be required to suspend, repeat or terminate our clinical trials, provided we initiate clinical trials, if
they are not conducted in accordance with regulatory requirements, the results are negative or inconclusive,
or the trials are not well designed.

Clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with FDA regulations governing clinical studies, or
other applicable foreign government guidelines, and are subject to oversight by the FDA, other foreign
governmental agencies and IRBs at the medical institutions where the clinical trials are conducted. In
addition, clinical trials must be conducted with product candidates produced under current Good
Manufacturing Practices (“¢GMP™), and may require large numbers of test subjects. Clinical trials may be
suspended by the FDA, other foreign governmental agencies or us for various reasons, including:

* deficiencies in the conduct of the clinical trials, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in
accordance with regulatory requirements or clinical protocols;

* deficiencies in the clinical trial operations or trial sites;

* the product candidate may have unforeseen adverse side effects:

* the time required to determine whether the product candidate is effective may be longer than
expected;

* deaths or other adverse events arising during a clinical trial due to medical problems that may
not be related to clinical trial treatments:

* the product candidate may not appear to be more effective than current therapies;
« the quality or stability of the product candidate may fall below acceptable standards; and

« insufficient quantities of the product candidate might be available to complete the trials.
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In addition, changes in regulatory requirements and guidance may occur and we may need to amend
clinical trial protocols to reflect these changes. Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinical trial
protocols to IRBs for reexamination, which may impact the costs, timing or successful completion of a
clinical trial. Due to these and other factors, our product candidates could take longer to gain regulatory
approval than we expect or we may never gain approval for any product candidates, which could reduce or
eliminate our revenue by delaying or terminating the commercialization of our product candidates. There is
no assurance that the Company would have the capital available to pay for the any alterations required to
clinical trials or be able to fund the trials as required.

Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval could be subject to restrictions or
withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products, when and if any of them are
approved.

Any product candidate that we obtain marketing approval for, along with the manufacturing
processes, post-approval clinical data, labeling, advertising and promotional activities for such product, will
be subject to continual requirements of the FDA and other regulatory authorities. These requirements include
submissions of safety and other post-marketing information, reports, registration and listing requirements,
c¢GMP requirements relating to quality control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records
and documents, requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping. Even if
marketing approval of a product candidate is granted, the approval may be subject to limitations on the
indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to conditions of approval, or contain requirements
for costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product. The FDA
closely regulates the post-approval marketing and promotion of drugs to ensure drugs are marketed only for
the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved labeling. The FDA imposes
stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding off-label use. If we market our products
outside of their approved indications, we will be subject to enforcement action for off-label marketing.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown problems with these products, manufacturers or
manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results,
including:

= restrictions on such products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes;

= restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;

= restrictions on product distribution or use;

= requirements to conduct post-marketing clinical trials;

= warning or untitled letters;

+ withdrawal of the products from the market;

« refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;

= recall of products, fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenue;

= suspension or withdrawal of marketing approval;

» refusal to permit the import or export of our products; and

* product seizure and injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could

prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. If we are slow or unable to adapt to
changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to

29



maintain regulatory compliance, any marketing approval that was obtained could be lost, which would
adversely affect our business, prospects and ability to achieve or sustain profitability.

We have risks associated with clinical trials including risks possible if clinical trials are to be
conducted in a foreign country.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical studies, if and when such trials are
performed by the Company of our pharmaceutical products, is critical to our success. The timing of our
clinical studies depends upon many factors including but not limited to, the speed at which we can recruit
patients to participate in testing our pharmaceutical products, the ability to produce an adequate formulation
and the funding necessary to pay for such trials. We may experience delays due to a number of factors some
of which may not be in control of the Company. If patients are unwilling to participate in our clinical studies
because of negative publicity from adverse events in the biopharmaceutical industries or for other reasons,
including competitive clinical studies for similar patient populations, the timeline for recruiting patients,
conducting studies and obtaining regulatory approval of potential products may be delayed. These delays
could result in increased costs, delays in advancing our product development, delays in testing the
effectiveness of our technology or termination of the clinical studies altogether.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical studies if we cannot enroll a sufficient number
of eligible patients to participate in the clinical studies required by the FDA or other regulatory agencies.
We are considering conducting our initial Phase 1 clinical trial in Australia or other foreign countries for the
topical product under development. Our ability to successfully initiate, enroll and complete a clinical study
in any foreign country is subject to numerous risks some of which may be unique to conducting business in
a foreign country, including:

« Difficulty in establishing or managing relationships with competent contract research
organizations and physicians:

« Different standards for the conduct of clinical studies and logistical difficulties of conducting
business outside of the United States;

= Our inability to locate qualified local consultants, physicians and partners; and

* The potential burden of complying with a variety of foreign laws, medical standards and
regulatory requirements, including the regulation of pharmaceutical and biotechnology
products.

If we have difficulty enrolling a sufficient number of patients to conduct our clinical studies as
planned, we may need to delay, limit or terminate ongoing or planned clinical studies, any of which would
have an adverse effect on our business.

We may encounter substantial regulatory, funding and other challenges with production of our
product in a foreign country.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of our current product
candidate, we must conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product
candidate. We cannot guarantee that any clinical studies will be conducted as planned or completed on
schedule, if at all. Currently, the Company has not established a contract with a contract manufacturer for
the product and the Company does not have a contract with a contract research organization. A failure of
one or more clinical studies can occur at any stage of testing. This is further complicated by the fact that our
proposed API may be manufactured in a foreign country and/or the United States. Our API manufacturer(s)
will be required to comply with both US FDA requirements as well as with European pharmaceutical
regulatory standards.
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Any inability to successfully initiate and/or complete preclinical studies, manufacturing materials
and clinical trials could result in additional costs to us and/or impair our ability to ever meet regulatory
milestones permitting the Company to obtain an approved product. In addition, if we make manufacturing
or formulation changes to our product candidates, we may need to conduct additional studies to bridge our
modified product candidates to earlier versions which will cause delays and cost additional funds that the
Company may not have.

Before receiving approval to commercialize a drug candidate, we must demonstrate to the FDA and
other regulatory agencies, with substantial evidence from well controlled clinical trials, that the drug
candidate is both safe and effective. If these trials or future clinical trials are unsuccessful, our business and
reputation would be harmed. Clinical failure or a lack of funding to perform the testing can occur at any
stage of clinical development. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including those with
greater resources and experience than us, have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even
after obtaining promising results in earlier clinical trials.

Because of these regulatory risks, the research and development efforts of an API manufacturer
may not result in any commercially viable products. The API manufacturer has not been audited by the
Company and requires additional approvals. There is no guarantee that this will ever occur. If a portion of
these development efforts is not successfully completed such as retaining a compliant API manufacturer or,
if other required regulatory approvals are not obtained by our vendors and service providers we are not
likely to meet further milestones or obtain any approved products.

We may have significant existing challenges for manufacturing our API with respect to our clinical trials
and submission of an IND application in the United States.

The active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”) for our initial topical product may be manufactured
in both the United States and in a foreign country. There has not been any GMP API manufactured and
there are limited potential manufacturing sources for our API globally. Therefore we are subject to the risks
associated with being dependent initially upon a sole source or limited source for the API, which may be
further complicated by the challenges of doing business with a manufacturer situated in a foreign country.
In the event of approval of our initial product for sale in the United States, there will be ongoing regulatory
significant and material requirements for manufacturing a product which is essential to the Company
moving forward in its timeline toward clinical trials.

Manufacturers and manufacturing facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA, and
comparable foreign regulatory authority, requirements, including ensuring that quality control and
manufacturing procedures conform to current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) regulations. As
such, we will be subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with cGMP and adherence
to commitments made in any non-disclosure agreement, biologics license application (“BLA™) or marketing
authorization application (“MAA”). Accordingly, we and our collaborators and suppliers must continue to
expend time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production
and quality control. In the event that our manufacturing source(s) fail to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements, this could delay our ability to generate the products necessary for completion of clinical trials,
or if approved, to generate production of products to serve our markets. Any such delays could be
deleterious to the Company.

The Company has obtained the services of an FDA advisory group familiar with the product that
assisted in the review of the Company’s Pre-IND submission with the FDA. The Company’s Pre-IND
teleconference meeting with the FDA was held in December of 2016 and due to the time lapsed there is no
guarantee that the FDA will not require a completely new or amended Pre-IND submission by the Company.
There is no guarantee that the Company will have sufficient capital to support the costs necessary to prepare
and file another Pre-IND submission. The FDA group or another advisory group will be advising
management in the preparation of terms for contracts with manufacturers and other regulatory compliance
matters. The Company will be dependent upon the information provided by the advisors since no one
currently on the Management team is experienced in CMO for GMP APL
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If we are unable to comply with foreign regulatory requirements or obtain foreign regulatory approvals,
our ability to develop foreign markets for our products, should the Company decide to make a foreign
market for its product could be hindered or not reasonably plausible.

Sales of our products outside the United States will be subject to foreign regulatory requirements
governing clinical trials, marketing approval, intellectual property issues, manufacturing, product
licensing, pricing and reimbursement. These regulatory requirements vary greatly from country to country.
As a result, the time required to obtain approvals outside the United States may differ from that required to
obtain FDA approval and we may not be able to obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at
all. In addition, due to the limited funding of the Company, it may lack the funds necessary to obtain
regulatory approval in foreign jurisdictions, which could result in lapse of applications, if submitted.

Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries, and
approval by one foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other
countries or by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities could require additional testing. Failure to comply
with these regulatory requirements or obtain required approvals could impair our ability to develop foreign
markets for our products.

Competitive products for prevention and treatment of radiation-induced damage exist and there may be
more competition in the future.

The clinical and commercial landscape for prevention and treatment of radiation-induced damage is
constantly changing. The Company has not performed an independent review of competitive products although
internal investigations are performed, the Company does not rely on a third party to identify and/or evaluate
potential competitors. There is no assurance that the Company has or will identify all potential or existing
competitors to the Company. New data from commercial and clinical-stage products continue to emerge. It is
possible that these data may alter current standards of care, completely precluding us from further developing
our product candidates, or getting them approved by regulatory agencies. Further, it is possible that we may
initiate a clinical trial or trials for these product candidates, only to find that data from competing products,
including over the counter products, make it impossible for us to complete enrollment in these trials, resulting
in our inability to file for marketing approval with regulatory agencies. Even if these products are approved
for marketing in a particular indication or indications, they may have limited sales due to particularly intense
competition in these markets. It is also possible that competitors may develop products superior to the
Company’s products, which could render the Company’s products to not be commercially viable.

We will need to develop or acquire additional manufacturing and distribution capabilities in order to
commercialize any product candidates that obtain marketing approval, and we may encounter
unexpected costs and other difficulties in doing so.

If we independently develop and commercialize one or more of our product candidates, we will need
to invest in acquiring or building additional capabilities and effectively manage our operations and facilities
to successfully pursue and complete future research, development and commercialization efforts. We will
require additional investment and validation process development in order to qualify our commercial-scale
manufacturing process to manufacture clinical trial materials and commercial material if any of our products
are approved for marketing. This investment and validation process development may be expensive and time-
consuming, and could be highly dilutive to existing investors, even if adequate financing could be obtained.
We will require additional personnel with experience in commercial-scale manufacturing, managing of large-
scale information technology systems and managing a large-scale distribution system. We will need to add
personnel and expand our capabilities, which may strain our existing managerial, operational, regulatory
compliance, financial and other resources. To do this effectively, we must:

* recruit, hire, train, manage and motivate a growing employee base;
* accurately forecast demand for our products;

= assemble and manage the supply chain to ensure our ability to meet demand: and
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* expand existing operational, manufacturing, financial and management information systems.

We may seek regulatory approval in the United States and elsewhere for our production process
and facilities simultaneously with seeking approval for sale of our product candidates. Should we not
complete the development of adequate capabilities, including manufacturing capacity, or fail to receive timely
approval of our manufacturing process and facilities, our ability to supply clinical trial materials for planned
clinical trials or supply products following regulatory approval for sale could be delayed, which would further
delay our clinical trials or the period of time when we would be able to generate revenues from the sale of
such products, if we are even able to obtain approval or generate revenues at all. Additionally, we will most
likely outsource all of our manufacturing activities to third party commercial manufacturing organizations
(*CMO"). Under any agreement with a CMO, we would have less control over the timing and quality of
manufacturing than if we were to perform such manufacturing ourselves. A CMO would be manufacturing
other pharmaceutical products in the same facilities as our product candidates, increasing the risk of cross
product contamination. Further, there is no guarantee that any CMO will continue ongoing operations,
causing potential delays in product supply, reduced revenues and other liabilities for us. Any such events
would increase our costs and could delay or prevent our ability to commercialize our product candidates,
which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties that could delay or
prevent their regulatory approval, limit the commercial profile of an approved label, or result in
significant negative consequences following marketing approval, if any.

Undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities
to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of
regulatory approval by the FDA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Our product candidates
are intended to protect the normal tissue from radiation-induced damage. As a result of any side effects, our
clinical trials, if commenced at all, could be suspended or terminated and the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities could order us to cease further development, or deny approval, of our product candidates
for any or all targeted indications. The drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability
of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences
may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

Additionally, if one or more of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or
others later identify undesirable side effects caused by such products, a number of potentially significant
negative consequences could result, including:

= regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of such product:

* regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label;

* we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for
distribution to patients; and

* we may be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the
particular product candidate, if approved, and could significantly harm our business, results of operations and

prospects.
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If we cannot demonstrate an acceptable toxicity profile for our product candidates in non-clinical
studies, we will not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials or obtain approval for any product
candidates.

In order to move a product candidate into human clinical trials, we must first demonstrate an
acceptable toxicity profile in preclinical testing. Furthermore, in order to obtain approval, we must also
demonstrate safety in various non-clinical tests. For example, we plan to conduct preclinical testing in
anticipation of filing an investigational new drug application, or IND, subject to obtaining additional funding.
We may not have conducted or may not conduct the types of nonclinical testing required by regulatory
authorities, or future non-clinical tests may indicate that our product candidates are not safe for use.
Preclinical and non-clinical testing is expensive, time-consuming and has an uncertain outcome. In addition,
success in initial non-clinical testing does not ensure that later non-clinical testing will be successful. We
may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the non-clinical testing process, which
could delay or prevent our ability to develop or commercialize our product candidates, including:

* our preclinical and non-clinical testing may produce inconclusive or negative safety results,
which may require us to conduct additional non-clinical testing or to abandon product
candidates;

= our product candidates may have unfavorable pharmacology or toxicity characteristics;

= our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects such as negative immune responses
that lead to autoimmune complications;

* our enrolled patients may have yeast allergies that lead to complications after treatment; and

* the FDA or other regulatory authorities may determine that additional safety testing is required.

Any such events would increase our costs and could delay or prevent our ability to commercialize
our product candidates which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties
to sell and market our product candidates, we may not be successful in commercializing our product
candidates if and when they are approved.

We do not have a sales and marketing infrastructure or any experience in the sales, marketing or
distribution of pharmaceutical products. We plan to seek third-party collaborators for the commercialization
of our product candidates, including possibly using the network some of who may be affiliates of Capital and
Venture Resources LLC , who have been involved in the sale of medical products and/or services domestically
and abroad. In the future, we may choose to build a focused sales and marketing infrastructure to market or
co-promote some of our product candidates if and when they are approved, which would be expensive and
time-consuming. Alternatively, we may elect to outsource these functions to third parties. Either approach
carries significant risks. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming
and, if done improperly, could delay a product launch and result in limited sales. If the commercial launch of
a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does
not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization
expenses. This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales
and marketing personnel. Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize our products on our own
include:

= our inability to recruit, manage and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing
personnel;

« the inability of marketing personnel to develop effective marketing materials;
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= the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to or persuade adequate numbers of physicians to
prescribe any future products;

* the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a
competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product lines; and

* unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing
organization.

We may develop third party collaborations to perform sales, marketing and distribution services, our
product revenues or the profitability of these product revenues are likely to be lower than if we were to market
and sell any products that we develop ourselves. In addition, we may not be successful in entering into
additional arrangements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates or doing so on terms that
are favorable to us. We likely will have limited control over such third parties, and any of them may fail to
devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our products effectively. If we do not establish
sales and marketing capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we may
not be successful in commercializing our product candidates.

The availability and amount of reimbursement for our product candidates, if approved, and the manner,
if any, in which government and private payers may reimburse for any potential products, are uncertain.

In both U.S. and foreign markets, sales of any products will depend in part on the availability of
reimbursement from third-party payers such as government health administration authorities, private health
insurers and other organizations. The future magnitude of our revenues and profitability may be affected by the
continuing efforts of governmental and third-party payers to contain or reduce the costs of health care. We
cannot predict the effect that private sector or governmental health care reforms may have on our business,
and there can be no assurance that any such reforms will not have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, in both the United States and elsewhere, sales of prescription drugs are dependent in
part on the availability of reimbursement to the consumer from third-party payers, such as government and
private insurance plans. The ability to obtain reimbursement of our products from these parties is a critical
factor in the commercial success for any of our products. Failure to obtain appropriate reimbursement could
result in reduced or no sales of our products.

Third-party payers are increasingly challenging the price and cost-effectiveness of medical products
and services. Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved health care
products. There can be no assurance that our products will be considered cost effective or that adequate third-
party reimbursement will be available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate
return on our investment in product development. Legislation and regulations affecting the pricing of
pharmaceuticals may change before any of our products are approved for marketing. Adoption of such
legislation could further limit reimbursement for medical products and services. We, or our collaborators, may
elect not to market future products in certain markets.

Failure to attract key personnel and hire appropriate advisors could impede our ability to develop our
products and to obtain new collaborations or other sources of funding.

Because of the specialized scientific nature of our business and the unique properties of our
platform, our success is highly dependent upon our ability to attract and retain qualified scientific and
technical personnel, consultants and advisors.

We will need to recruit a number of additional personnel and consultants in order to achieve our
operating goals. In order to pursue our product development and marketing and sales plans, we will need to
hire or engage as consultants, additional qualified scientific personnel to perform research and development,
as well as personnel with expertise in clinical testing, government regulation, manufacturing,
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marketing and sales, which may strain our existing managerial, operational, regulatory compliance, financial
and other resources. We also rely on consultants and advisors to assist in formulating our research and
development strategy and adhering to complex regulatory requirements. We face competition for qualified
individuals from numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, universities and other research
institutions, many of which have financial resources which are substantially greater than that of the
Company. It is difficult to attract qualified parties with the limited resources of the Company. There can be
no assurance that the Company will ever be able to compete with financial and other terms offered to
candidates to attract and retain such individuals on acceptable financial terms, if at all. The failure to attract
and retain qualified personnel, consultants and advisors could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to
capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater
likelihood of success.

Because we have limited, uncertain and vulnerable financial and managerial resources, we focus on
research programs and product candidates for the indications that we believe are the most scientifically and
commercially promising. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable
scientific or commercial products or profitable market opportunities. In addition, we may spend valuable time
and limited managerial and financial resources on research programs and product candidates for specific
indications that ultimately do not yield any scientifically or commercially viable products. If we do not
accurately evaluate the scientific and commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate,
we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty
arrangements in situations where it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole rights to
development and commercialization.

Risks Relating to Manufacturing Activities

We have no experience manufacturing our product candidates or supervising the manufacturing of our
product candidate by others, and there can be no assurance that our product candidates can be
manufactured in compliance with U.S. and other countries’ regulations.

We currently plan to rely on CMOs for sterile fill and finish of our products. Failure to find and
maintain satisfactory commercial-scale fill and finish contractors with the appropriate regulatory licenses
could impair our ability to supply product for clinical and commercial needs. Additionally, we may outsource
some or all of our bulk product manufacturing activities to a third party CMO. Failure of any of these
contractors to maintain compliance with GMPs and other regulatory and legal requirements could result in
government actions that would limit or eliminate Toxicology testing, clinical trial and commercial product
supply. Under any agreement with a CMO, we would have less control over the timing and quality of
manufacturing than if we were to perform such manufacturing ourselves. A CMO would be manufacturing
other pharmaceutical products in the same facilities as our product candidates, increasing the risk of cross
product contamination. Further, there is no guarantee that any CMO will continue ongoing operations,
causing potential delays in product supply, reduced revenues and other liabilities for us. The equipment and
facilities employed in the manufacture of pharmaceuticals are subject to stringent qualification requirements
by regulatory agencies, including validation of equipment, systems and processes. We may be subject to
lengthy delays and expense in conducting validation studies, if we can meet the requirements at all. If we are
unable to manufacture or contract for a sufficient supply of our product candidates on acceptable terms, or if
we encounter delays or difficulties in our manufacturing processes or our relationships with other
manufacturers, our preclinical and clinical testing schedule would be delayed. This in turn would delay the
submission of product candidates for regulatory approval and thereby delay the market introduction and
subsequent sales of any products that receive regulatory approval, which would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, we or our contract manufacturers
must supply all necessary documentation in support of our regulatory approval applications on a timely basis
and must adhere to cGMP regulations enforced by the
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FDA and other regulatory bodies through their facilities inspection programs. Currently our anticipated
manufacturer has additional regulatory hurdles for compliance. If these facilities cannot pass a pre-
approval plant inspection, the approval by the FDA or other regulatory bodies of the products will not be
granted. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority does not approve facilities and processes for
the manufacture of our product candidates or if they withdraw any such approval in the future, we may need
to correct the issues or find alternative manufacturing facilities, if available at all, which would significantly
impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates, if approved.

We and our contract manufacturers are subject to significant regulation with respect to manufacturing
of our products.

All entities involved in the preparation of a product candidate for clinical trials or commercial sale,
including our manufacturing facility and our contract manufacturing organizations used for filling and
finishing of our bulk product, are subject to extensive regulation. Components of a finished product
approved for commercial sale or used in late-stage clinical trials must be manufactured in accordance with
c¢GMP. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures, including record keeping, and
the implementation and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of investigational
products and products approved for sale. The facilities and quality systems of some or all of our third-party
contractors must pass a preapproval inspection for compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition
of any regulatory approval of our product candidates. In addition, the regulatory authorities may, at any
time, audit or inspect a manufacturing facility involved with the preparation of our product candidates or
the associated quality systems for compliance with the regulations applicable to the activities being
conducted. The regulatory authorities also may, at any time following approval of a product for sale, audit
our manufacturing facilities or those of our third-party contractors or raw material suppliers. If any such
inspection or audit identifies a failure to comply and even be able to meet with applicable regulations or if
a violation of our product specifications or applicable regulations occurs independent of such an inspection
or audit, we or the relevant regulatory authority may require remedial measures that may be costly and time-
consuming for us or a third party to implement and that may include the temporary or permanent suspension
of preclinical activities, a clinical trial or commercial sales or the temporary or permanent closure of a
facility. Our third-party contractors or raw material suppliers may refuse or be unable to implement remedial
measures required by regulatory authorities. Any failure to comply with applicable manufacturing
regulations or failure to implement required remedial measures imposed upon us or third parties with whom
we contract could materially harm our business.

We will rely on relationships with third-party contract manufacturers, which will limit our ability to
control the availability of, and manufacturing costs for, our product candidates.

Problems with any of our contract manufacturers” or raw material suppliers’ facilities or processes,
could prevent or delay the production of adequate supplies of finished product. This could delay preclinical
testing, clinical trials or delay and reduce commercial sales in the event of approval of any product and
materially harm our business. Any prolonged delay or interruption in the operations of our collaborators’
facilities or contract manufacturers’ facilities could result in cancellation of shipments, loss of components in
the process of being manufactured or a shortfall in availability of a product candidate or products. A number
of factors could cause interruptions, including:

« the inability of a supplier to provide raw materials;
* equipment malfunctions or failures at the facilities of our collaborators or suppliers;
= high process failure rates;

* damage to facilities due to natural or man-made disasters;

« changes in regulatory requirements or standards that require modifications to our or our
collaborators” and suppliers” manufacturing processes;
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* action by regulatory authorities or by us that results in the halting or slowdown of production of
components or finished product at our facilities or the facilities of our collaborators or suppliers;

* problems that delay or prevent manufacturing technology transfer to another facility, contract
manufacturer or collaborator with subsequent delay or inability to start up a commercial facility;

= a contract manufacturer or supplier going out of business, undergoing a capacity shortfall or
otherwise failing to produce product as contractually required:

= employee or contractor misconduct or negligence;
= shipping delays, losses or interruptions; and
* other similar factors

* international related manufacturing issues.

Because manufacturing processes are complex and are subject to a lengthy regulatory approval
process, alternative qualified production capacity and sufficiently trained or qualified personnel may not be
available on a timely or cost-effective basis or at all. Difficulties or delays in our contract manufacturers’
production of drug substances could delay or prevent our preclinical work, clinical trials and increase our
costs.

Further, if our contract manufacturers are not in compliance with regulatory requirements at any stage,
including post-marketing approval, we may be fined, forced to remove a product from the market and/or
experience other adverse consequences, including delays, which could materially harm our business.

During the course of the product life cycle provided a product is approved for sale, we may make process
changes to scale up manufacturing to commercial manufacture or transfer the production to alternate
sites or other contract manufacturers. Our ability to successfully implement these changes will depend
on our ability to demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the FDA and other regulatory agencies that the
product made by the new process or at the new site is comparable to the original product.

In the event that manufacturing process changes are necessary for the further development of a
product candidate, we may not be able to reach agreement with regulatory agencies on the criteria for
demonstrating comparability to the original product, which would require us to repeat clinical studies
performed with the original product. This could result in lengthy delays in implementing the new process or
site and substantial lost sales as a result of our inability to meet commercial demand. If we reach agreement
with regulatory agencies on the criteria for establishing comparability, we may not be able to meet these
criteria or may suffer lengthy delays in meeting these criteria. This may result in significant lost sales due
to inability to meet commercial demand with the original product. Furthermore, studies to demonstrate
comparability, or any other studies on the new process or site such as validation studies, may uncover
findings that result in regulatory agencies delaying or refusing to approve the new process or site.

Risks Relating to Regulation of our Industry

The biopharmaceutical industry is subject to significant, evolving regulation and oversight in the United
States, in addition to approval of products for sale and marketing.

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of biopharmaceutical products, several other types of
state and federal laws have been applied to restrict certain marketing practices in the biopharmaceutical
industry in recent years. These laws include anti-kickback statutes and false claims statutes. The federal
health care program anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering,
paying, soliciting or receiving remuneration to induce or in return for purchasing, leasing, ordering or
arranging for the purchase, lease or order of any health care item or service reimbursable under Medicare,
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Medicaid or other federally financed healthcare programs. This statute has been interpreted to apply to
arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary
managers on the other. Although there are a number of statutory exemptions and regulatory safe harbors
protecting certain common activities from prosecution, the exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly,
and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchases or recommendations may
be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exemption or safe harbor. Our practices may not in all
cases meet all of the criteria for safe harbor protection from anti-kickback liability.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented,
a false claim for payment to the federal government, or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false
statement to get a false claim paid. Several pharmaceutical and other health care companies have been
prosecuted under these laws for allegedly providing free product to customers with the expectation that the
customers would bill federal programs for the product. Other companies have been prosecuted for causing
false claims to be submitted because of marketing of the product for unapproved, and thus non- reimbursable,
uses. The majority of states also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal anti-kickback law and false
claims laws, which apply to items and services reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in
several states, apply regardless of the payer. Sanctions under these federal and state laws may include civil
monetary penalties, exclusion of a manufacturer’s products from reimbursement under government programs,
criminal fines and imprisonment. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the safe harbors,
it is possible that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of these
laws, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Rules and regulations are constantly evolving and subject to unanticipated material changes without sufficient
notice. Certain factors are out of control of the Company.

We may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and health
information privacy and security laws. If we are unable to comply, or have not fully complied, with such
laws, we could face substantial penalties.

If we obtain FDA approval for any of our product candidates and begin commercializing those
products in the United States, our operations may be directly, or indirectly through our customers, subject to
various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation, the federal anti-kickback statute.
These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing, and education programs. In
addition, we may be subject to patient privacy regulation by both the federal govemment and the states in
which we conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:

* the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which
created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare
benefit program and making false statements relating to healthcare matters;

= HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology and Clinical Health Act and its
implementing regulations, which impose certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and
transmission of individually identifiable health information; and

= state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims
laws which may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payer, including
commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in
certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have
the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other
governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal
penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

39



We could be harmed by data loss or other security breaches.

In the normal course of business, we may process, store and transmit data. Potential security
breaches, including breaches of our vendors® and service providers technology and systems such as social
media sites. Misuse of such information could adversely affect us. We must provide information to our
accountants, attorneys and others who set up systems and processes to secure the client’s information,
however a breach is possible and that may include personal information of our investors. In addition, we
use third party technology and systems for a variety of reasons and purposes, including, without limitation,
encryption and authentication technology, employee email, back-office support and other functions. We
have dealt with security breaches in the past, and, although they did not have a material adverse effect on
our operating results, there can be no assurance of a similar result with a future security breach. Although
we rely on systems and processes, including those of our third party service providers that are set up to
protect against security breaches and prevent data loss, such measures cannot provide absolute security, and
there is a risk that we will be harmed by cyber-attacks or other forms of cyber-security breaches. Any such
breach could have an effect on our business including but not limited to litigation. The cyber security
insurance that the Company has procured has limits, exceptions and will not cover all losses.

Our employees or agents may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including
noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business.

We are exposed to the risk of fraud or other misconduct by employees, advisers, agents and
affiliates. Misconduct by related parties could include intentional failures to comply with FDA regulations,
provide accurate information to the FDA, comply with manufacturing standards we have established, comply
with federal and state health-care fraud and abuse laws and regulations, report financial information or data
accurately or disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements
in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks,
self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of
pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other
business arrangements. Misconduct could also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course
of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. It is not always
possible to identify and deter misconduct of related parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent
misconduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from
governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such
laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending
ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business and results of
operations, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.

Health care reform measures could adversely affect our business.

In the United States and foreign jurisdictions, there have been and continue to be multiple legislative
and regulatory changes to the healthcare system that could affect materially affect our ability to develop the
technology of the Company and other aspects of the Company’s operations. In particular, there have been
and continue to be a number of initiatives at the U.S. federal and state levels that seek to reduce healthcare
costs. Most recently, in March 2010 the Patient Protection and Affordable Health Care Act, (“PPACA™)
as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or collectively the PPACA,
was enacted, which includes measures to significantly change the way health care is financed by both
governmental and private insurers. Among the provisions of the PPACA of greatest importance to the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry are the following:

* an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded

prescription drugs and biologic agents, apportioned among these entities according to their
market share in certain government healthcare programs, that began in 2011;
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new requirements to report certain financial arrangements with physicians and others, including
reporting any “transfer of value™ made or distributed to prescribers and other healthcare providers
and reporting any investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members;

a licensure framework for follow-on biologic products;

a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and
conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research;

creation of the Independent Payment Advisory Board which, began in 2014, and has authority
to recommend certain changes to the Medicare program that could result in reduced payments
for prescription drugs and those recommendations could have the effect of law even if Congress
does not act on the recommendations; and

establishment of a Center for Medicare Innovation at the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Services to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid
spending, potentially including prescription drug spending that began on Jan. 1, 2011.
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Many of the details regarding the implementation and continuation of the PPACA are uncertain
and therefore the effect that the PPACA has on our business remains unclear. In particular, there is
uncertainty surrounding the applicability of the biosimilars provisions under the PPACA to our product
candidates. A biosimilar is a biological product that is highly similar to an approved drug notwithstanding
minor differences in clinically inactive components, and for which there are no clinically meaningful
differences between the biological product and the approved drug in terms of the safety, purity, and potency
of the product. The FDA has issued several guidance documents, but no implementing regulations, on
biosimilars and no biosimilar applications have yet been approved. It is not certain that we will receive 12
years of biologics marketing exclusivity for any of our products. The regulations that are ultimately
promulgated and their implementation are likely to have considerable impact on the way we conduct our
business and may require us to change current strategies.

Individual states have become increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing
regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient
reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access, and marketing cost disclosure
and transparency measures, and designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.
Legally mandated price controls on payment amounts by third-party payers or other restrictions could harm
our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, regional healthcare
authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what
pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare
programs. This could reduce ultimate demand for our products or put pressure on our product pricing, which
could negatively affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, given recent federal and state government initiatives directed at lowering the total cost of
healthcare, Congress and state legislatures will likely continue to focus on healthcare reform, the cost of
prescription drugs and biologics and the reform of the Medicare and Medicaid programs. While we cannot
predict the full outcome of any such legislation, it may result in decreased reimbursement for drugs and
biologics, which may further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce prescription drug prices. This
could harm our ability to generate revenues. Increases in importation or re-importation of pharmaceutical
products from foreign countries into the United States could put competitive pressure on our ability to
profitably price our products, which, in turn, could adversely affect our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects. We might elect not to seek approval for or market our products in foreign
jurisdictions in order to minimize the risk of re-importation, which could also reduce the revenue we generate
from our product sales. It is also possible that other legislative proposals having similar effects will be adopted.

Furthermore, regulatory authorities” assessment of the data and results required to demonstrate safety
and efficacy can change over time and can be affected by many factors, such as the emergence of new
information, including on other products, changing policies and agency funding, staffing and leadership. We
cannot be sure whether future changes to the regulatory environment will be favorable or unfavorable to our
business prospects. For example, average review times at the FDA for marketing approval applications can
be affected by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels and statutory, regulatory and policy
changes.

Risks Relating to Competitive Factors
We compete in an industry characterized by extensive research and development efforts and rapid
technological progress. New discoveries or commercial developments by our competitors could render
our potential products obsolete or non-competitive.

New developments occur and are expected to continue to occur at a rapid pace in our industry, and

there can be no assurance that discoveries or commercial developments by our competitors will not render
some or all of our potential products obsolete or non-competitive, which could have discoveries through
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government programs or a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. The recent funding passed in December 2016 by the United States of billions of dollars specifically
for cancer research may increase competition and reduce the timeframe for competitors to get to market and
increase grant funding of groups that may resolve the unmet need of the Company’s product. Many of the
companies we will compete with have established successful track records, substantially greater financial,
research and development, other companies may have grant resources or support from major medical
facilities and/or academic institutions, manufacturing abilities, management expertise, industry contacts,
marketing experience. These companies represent substantial long-term competition for us that could
eliminate the Company’s projected market. Such companies may succeed in discovering and developing
pharmaceutical products more rapidly than we do or pharmaceutical products that are safer, more effective
and/or less costly than any that we may develop. Such companies also may be more successful than we are
in manufacturing, sales and marketing. Smaller companies may also prove to be significant competitors,
particularly through collaborative arrangements with large pharmaceutical and established biotechnology
companies. Academic institutions, governmental agencies and other public and private research organizations
also conduct clinical trials, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for the development
of product candidates. We expect competition among products will be based on product efficacy and safety,
the timing and scope of regulatory approvals, availability of supply, marketing and sales capabilities,
reimbursement coverage, price and patent position. There can be no assurance that our competitors will not
develop safer and more effective products, commercialize products earlier than we do, or obtain patent
protection or intellectual property rights that limit our ability to commercialize our products.

Our competitors may develop and market products that are less expensive, more effective, safer or reach
the market sooner than our product candidates, which may diminish or eliminate the commercial success
or ability to obtain financing of any products we may commercialize or develop.

The biopharmaceutical industry is highly competitive. There are many public and private
biopharmaceutical companies, public and private universities and research organizations actively engaged
in the discovery and research and development of products for cancer and radiation protection. Given the
current significant unmet patient need for new therapies, oncology is a sector of focus for large and small
companies as well as research institutions. As a result, there are and will likely continue to be extensive
research and substantial financial resources invested in the discovery and development of new oncology
products.

Many of our competitors, either alone or with their strategic collaborators, have substantially greater
financial, technical and human resources than we do and significantly greater experience in the discovery
and development of drugs, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals, and the commercialization of those
products. Some competitors may obtain funding from government grants and other program which are
intended to expedite their development of products. Accordingly, our competitors may be more successful
in obtaining approval for drugs and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors” drugs may be
more effective, or more effectively marketed and sold, than any drug we may commercialize and may render
our product candidates obsolete or non-competitive before we can recover the significant expenses of
developing and commercializing any of our product candidates. We anticipate that we will face intense and
increasing competition as new drugs enter the market and advanced technologies become available.

We also compete with other clinical-stage companies and institutions for clinical trial participants,
which could reduce our ability to recruit participants for our clinical trials. Any delay in recruiting clinical
trial participants could materially adversely affect our ability to bring a product to market prior to our
competitors.

Further, research and discoveries by others may result in breakthroughs that render our product
candidates obsolete even before they begin to generate any revenue.
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In addition, our competitors may obtain patent protection and/or FDA and other regulatory approval
and have resources to develop and commercialize products more rapidly than we do, which may impact
future sales of any of our product candidates that receive marketing approval. If the FDA approves the
commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we expect to be forced to compete in areas in which we
have limited or no experience including but not limited to manufacturing and marketing. We expect
competition among products will be based on a number of issues including product efficacy and safety, the
timing and scope of regulatory approvals, availability of supply, marketing and sales capabilities, product
price, reimbursement coverage by government and private third-party payers, and patent position. Our
financial position will suffer in spite of receiving regulatory approval, but cannot compete effectively in the
marketplace.

If any of our product candidates are approved and commercialized, we may face competition from
biosimilars. The route to market for biosimilars was established with the passage of the PPACA in March
2010, providing 12 years of marketing exclusivity for reference products and an additional six months of
exclusivity if pediatric studies are conducted. In Europe, the European Medicines Agency has issued
guidelines for approving products through an abbreviated pathway, and biosimilars have been approved in
Europe. If a biosimilar version of one of our potential products were approved in the United States or Europe,
it could have a negative effect on sales and gross profits of the potential product and our financial condition.

Our product candidates may not be accepted in the marketplace; therefore, we may not be able to
generate significant revenue, if any.

Even if our product candidates are approved for sale, physicians and the medical community may not
ultimately use them or may use them only in applications more restricted than we expect. Our product
candidates, if successfully developed, will compete with a number of traditional products manufactured and
marketed by major pharmaceutical and other biotechnology companies. Our product candidates will also
compete with new products currently under development by such companies and others. Physicians will
prescribe a product only if they determine, based on experience, clinical data, side effect profiles,
reimbursement for their patients and other factors, that it is beneficial as compared to other products currently
in use. Many other factors influence the adoption of new products, including marketing and distribution
restrictions, course of treatment, adverse publicity, product pricing, the views of thought leaders in the medical
community and reimbursement by government and private third-party payers. For our products that are
developed in combination with other therapies, changes in standard of care or use patterns could make those
combinations obsolete.

Risks Relating to Our Arrangements with Third Parties

We will rely on third parties to conduct our non-clinical studies and some of our clinical trials. If these
third parties do not perform as contractually required or expected, we may not be able to obtain regulatory
approval for our product candidates, or we may be delayed in doing so.

We plan to rely in the future on third parties, such as CROs, medical institutions, academic
institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories, to conduct our non-clinical studies and clinical
trials. We are responsible for confirming that our preclinical studies are conducted in accordance with
applicable regulations and that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with its general
investigational plan and protocol. The FDA as well as other regulatory groups require us to comply with Good
Laboratory Practice for conducting and recording the results of our preclinical studies and Good Clinical
Practices, or GCP, for conducting, monitoring, recording and reporting the results of clinical trials, to ensure
that data and reported results are accurate and that the clinical trial participants are adequately protected. Our
reliance on third parties does not relieve us of these responsibilities. If the third parties conducting our clinical
trials do not perform their contractual duties or obligations, do not meet expected deadlines, fail to comply
with GCP, do not adhere to our clinical trial protocols or otherwise fail to generate reliable clinical data, we
may need to enter into new arrangements with alternative third parties and our clinical trials may be more
costly than expected or budgeted, extended, delayed or terminated or may need
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to be repeated, and we may not be able to obtain the funding for this or regulatory approval for or
commercialize the product candidate being tested in such trials. Further, if our CMOs are not in compliance
with regulatory requirements at any stage, including post-marketing approval, we may be fined, forced to
remove a product from the market and/or experience other adverse consequences, including delays, which
could materially harm our business.

We may explore strategic collaborations that may never materialize or may fail.

We may, in the future, periodically explore and expend substantial resources on a variety of possible
strategic collaborations in an effort to gain access to additional product candidates and/or resources. At the
current time, we cannot predict what form such a strategic collaboration might take. We are likely to face
significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic collaborators, and these strategic collaborations can be
complicated and time- consuming to negotiate and document. We may not be able to negotiate strategic
collaborations on acceptable terms, or at all. We are unable to predict when, if ever, we will enter into any
additional strategic collaborations because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with establishing
strategic collaborations.

Risks Relating to Protecting Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights or to defend against infringement claims, we may not
be able to compete effectively or operate profitably.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain patents, license technology on acceptable
terms, operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others and maintain trade secrets, both in the
United States and other countries. Patent matters in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries can be
highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Accordingly, the validity, breadth and
enforceability of our patents and the existence of potentially blocking patent rights of others cannot be
predicted, either in the United States or in other countries.

There can be no assurance that we will discover or develop patentable products or processes. The
Company has entered into a license agreement (“License Agreement”) with the University of Central
Florida Research Foundation (“UCFRF”) regarding the licensing of certain technology (the “Licensed
Technology”), the terms of which create a series of risks for the Company. The Company has entered into
a subscription agreement with UCFRF and tendered common stock of the Company and there is no
obligation for UCFRF to return such shares if the License Agreement is terminated even if UCFRF is in
breach of its obligations under the License Agreement. The License Agreement contained options for patent
applications some of which were exercised by the Company but have now expired. The patents that the
Company did not exercise and could be licensed by other parties may compete with the Company. The
Company is required to fully indemnify UCFRF and UCFRF is not liable for damages to the Company under
any circumstances. In the event of an infringement on any of the Licensed Technology, there are obligations
that must be followed pursuant to the License Agreement which could result in additional expense to the
Company and/or loss of control of the defense of or prosecution of the Licensed Technology. In the event
of development of new technology which draws upon any of the Licensed Technology, there can be
questions as to whether such technology is subject to the License Agreement and who has the obligation to
prosecute the protection of such intellectual property. Prospective investors are urged to review the summary
of the License Agreement included in this Memorandum. to get a fuller appreciation of the associated risks
of the License Agreement.

Potential competitors or other researchers in the field have filed patent applications, issued patents,
published articles or otherwise created prior art that could restrict, or block our efforts to obtain patents that
are significant to the Company’s product. There also can be no assurance that our pending patent applications
(and pending patent applications of UCFRF comprising a portion of the Licensed Technology), if issued, and
the UCF issued patents will not be challenged, invalidated, rendered unenforceable or circumvented or that
the rights granted hereunder will provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages. Our
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patent rights may also depend on our compliance with technology and our intentions to license patents upon
which our patent rights are based and upon the validity of assignments of patent rights from consultants and
other inventors that were, or are, not employed by us.

In addition, competitors may manufacture and sell our potential products in those foreign countries
where we or UCF have not filed for patent protection or where patent protection may be unavailable, not
obtainable or ultimately not enforceable. In addition, even where patent protection is obtained, third-party
competitors may challenge our patent claims or the patent claims of UCF in the various patent offices, for
example via opposition in the European Patent Office or inter partes review or reexamination proceedings in
the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO. The ability of such competitors to sell such
products in the United States or in foreign countries where we or UCF have obtained patents is usually
governed by the patent laws of the countries in which the product is sold. We have filed patent applications
with respect to one patent in numerous countries. Patent claims have recently been allowed to the Company
in Europe, China and Russia.

There can be no assurances that we will have sufficient resources to fund the cost of moving such
applications through approval, or that even if we have sufficient funding, that we will be able to obtain
approval for any of such patent applications. Even if we are successful in obtaining patent approval in
foreign countries, the cost of enforcing such patents against infringers could be expensive or uneconomical,
and we risk that in any such enforcement action, the competitor may seek to challenge the validity of the
patent(s) granted in such jurisdiction.

We anticipate incurring significant expenses in maintaining, expanding and investigating issues
regarding and defending our patent portfolio.

Should we lack the funds to file patents, maintain a patent portfolio if issued or to enforce future
rights against infringers, we could be adversely impacted. Even if claims of infringement are without merit,
any such action could divert the time and attention of management and impair our ability to access additional
capital and/or cost us significant funds to defend. In addition, the Company may incur expenses associated
with actual dispute resolution regarding infringement of its licensed patents and matters related to patent
ownership by others. The Company is presently examining at least one circumstance in the United States and
has requested information to ascertain the facts of the situation for its legal counsel to review and advise.
Should the Company determine with legal counsel it is in the best interests of the Company to pursue any such
matter, it may incur significant expense in doing so and there is no guarantee that such actions will materially
benefit the Company. If the Company were to seek to license its technology or sell the Company or enter into
a joint venture or seek other financing a legal opinion of counsel may be required and there is no guarantee that
the Company would have the funds available or could ever obtain such an opinion, or that if obtained that:
(1) it would remain valid with the passage of time and changing landscape of patent rights; or
(i1) the opinion accurately lays out a path of non-infringement that is commercially viable for the Company;
or (iii) others would be accepting of the existence of such opinion, as frequently such opinions contain
privileged communications and are not shared with third parties. For more information regarding this patent
information, prospective investors will be required to execute a confidentiality agreement in form and content
satisfactory to the Company.

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage.
The degree of future protection afforded by intellectual property rights is uncertain because
intellectual property rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect our business, or permit us to

establish or maintain a meaningful competitive advantage. The following examples are illustrative:

*  Others may be able to make compounds that are similar to our product candidates but that are
not covered by the claims of the patents that we own, claim to own or have exclusively licensed;



* We or our licensors or strategic collaborators, if any, might not have been the first to make the
inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we own or have
exclusively licensed;

* We or our licensors or strategic collaborators if any, might not have been the first to file patent
applications covering certain of our inventions;

* Others may independently develop similar or altemative technologies or duplicate any of our
technologies without infringing our intellectual property rights:

= Itis possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

* Issued patents that may become necessary to secure our Intellectual Property and that we seek to
license may not be available or feasible tolicense:

» Issued patents that we may own in the future or have licensed may not provide us with any
competitive advantages, or may be held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges
by our competitors;

= Our current or future competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries
where we do not have patent rights and then use the information learned from such activities to
develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets;

* We may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; and

* The patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

Should any or some of these events occur or partially occur, some threats may exist that are out of our
control or unanticipated cause damage, they could significantly harm our business, results of operations and

prospects.

Our success depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property.

Our success depends on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for products developed
utilizing our technologies, in the United States and in other countries, and to enforce these patents. The
patent positions of pharmaceutical firms, including us, are generally uncertain and involve complex legal
and factual questions. Notwithstanding our licensing of U.S. patents related to our technologies, there is no
assurance that any of our patent claims in our other pending non-provisional and provisional patent

47



applications relating to our technologies will issue or if issued, that any of our existing and future patent
claims are sufficiently broad enough for our proposed products, will be held valid and enforceable against
third-party infringement, or that our products will not infringe any third-party patent or intellectual property.
Moreover, any patent claims relating to our technologies may not be sufficiently broad to protect our
products. In addition, issued patent claims or licensed patent claims may be challenged, potentially
invalidated or potentially circumvented and patent litigation is extremely costly, with no assurances that we
would have adequate capital to engage in protracted patent litigation. Our patent claims may not afford us
protection against competitors with similar technology or permit the commercialization of our products
without infringing third-party patents or other intellectual property rights.

We may be subject to litigation with respect to the ownership and use of intellectual property that will be
costly to defend or pursue and uncertain in its outcome.

Our success also will depend, in part, on our refraining from infringing patents or otherwise violating
intellectual property owned or controlled by others. Pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies,
universities, research institutions and others may have filed patent applications or have received, or may
obtain, issued patents in the United States or elsewhere relating to aspects of our technology. It is uncertain
whether the issuance of any third-party patents will require us to alter our products or processes if approved,
obtain licenses, or cease certain activities. Some third party applications or patents may conflict with our
issued patents or pending applications. Any such conflict could result in a significant reduction of the scope
or value of our issued or licensed patents. In addition, if patents issued to other companies contain blocking,
dominating or conflicting claims and such claims are ultimately determined to be valid, we may be required
to obtain licenses to these patents or to develop or obtain alternative non-infringing technology and cease
practicing those activities, including potentially manufacturing or selling any products deemed to infringe
those patents. If any licenses are required, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain any such
licenses on commercially favorable terms, if at all, and if these licenses are not obtained, we might be prevented
from pursuing the development and commercialization of certain of our potential products.

Our failure to obtain a license to any technology that we may require to commercialize our products
on favorable terms may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Litigation, which could result in substantial costs to us (even if determined in our favor), may
also be necessary to enforce any patents issued or licensed to us or to determine the scope and validity of the
proprictary rights of others. The FDA has only recently published draft guidance documents for
implementation of the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act (“BPCIA”) under the PPACA,
related to the development of follow-on biologics (biosimilars), and detailed guidance for patent litigation
procedures under this act has not yet been provided. If another company files for approval to market a
competing follow-on biologic, and/or if such approval is given to such a company, we may be required to
promptly initiate patent litigation to prevent the marketing of such biosimilar version of our product prior to
the normal expiration of the patent. There can be no assurance that our issued or licensed patents would be
held valid by a court of competent jurisdiction or that any follow-on biologic would be found to infringe our
patents.

In addition, if our competitors file or have filed patent applications in the United States that claim
technology also claimed by us, we may have to participate in interference proceedings to determine priority
of invention. These proceedings, if initiated by the USPTO, could result in substantial costs to us, even if the
eventual outcome is favorable to us. Such proceedings can be lengthy, are costly to defend and involve
complex questions of law and fact, the outcomes of which are difficult to predict. Moreover, we may have to
participate in post-grant proceedings or third-party ex parte or inter parte proceedings under the USPTO. An
adverse outcome with respect to a third-party claim or in an interference proceeding could subject us to
significant liabilities, require us to license disputed rights from third parties, or require us to cease using such
technology, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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We also may rely on trade secrets to protect technology, especially where patent protection is not
believed to be appropriate or obtainable or where patents have not issued. For example, our manufacturing
process may involve a number of trade secret steps, processes, and conditions. We intend to attempt to
protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, with confidentiality agreements and assignment
of invention agreements with our employees and confidentiality agreements with our consultants and
certain contractors. There can be no assurance that these agreements will not be breached, that we would
have adequate remedies for any breach, or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known or be
independently discovered by competitors. We may fail in certain circumstances to obtain the necessary
confidentiality agreements, or their scope or term may not be sufficiently broad to protect our interests.

If our trade secrets or other intellectual property become known to our competitors, it could result
in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. To the extent that
we or our consultants or research collaborators use intellectual property owned by others in work for us,
disputes may also arise as to the rights to related or resulting know-how and inventions.

The patent protection and patent prosecution for some of our product candidates is dependent or may be
dependent in the future on third parties.

While we normally seek and gain the right to fully prosecute the patents relating to our product
candidates, there may be times when platform technology patents or product-specific patents that relate to
our product candidates may be controlled by our licensors. In addition, any licensors and/or licensees may
have back-up rights to prosecute patent applications in the event that we do not do so or choose not to do
so, and our licensees may have the right to assume patent prosecution rights after certain milestones are
reached. If any of our licensing collaborators fails to appropriately prosecute and maintain patent protection
for patents covering any of our product candidates, our ability to develop and commercialize those product
candidates may be adversely affected and we may not be able to prevent competitors from making, using
and selling competing products.

Major public health issues, and specifically the pandemic caused by the spread of COVID-19, could
have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations and other aspects of our
business.

The outbreak of the novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) has evolved into a global pandemic. The coronavirus
has spread to many regions of the world. The extent to which the coronavirus impacts our business and
operating results will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately
predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the coronavirus and the actions to contain
the coronavirus or treat its impact, among others.

Should the coronavirus continue to spread, our business operations could be delayed or interrupted. For
instance, performance of steps necessary for the filing of an initial new drug application, manufacturing,
regulatory approval and clinical trials may be affected by the pandemic. Site initiation, participant
recruitment and enrollment, participant dosing, manufacturing and distribution of clinical trial materials,
study monitoring and data analysis may be paused or delayed due to changes in hospital or university
policies, federal, state or local regulations, prioritization of hospital resources toward pandemic efforts, or
other reasons related to the pandemic. If the coronavirus continues to spread, some participants and clinical
investigators may not be able to comply with clinical trial protocols. For example, quarantines or other
travel limitations (whether voluntary or required) may impede participant movement, affect sponsor access
to study sites, or interrupt healthcare services, and we may be unable to conduct our clinical trials. Further,
if the spread of the coronavirus pandemic continues and our operations are adversely impacted, we risk a
delay, default and/or nonperformance under existing agreements which may increase our costs. These cost
increases may not be fully recoverable or adequately covered by insurance. Infections and deaths related to
the pandemic may disrupt the United States” and other countries’ healthcare and healthcare regulatory
systems. Such disruptions could divert healthcare resources away from, or materially delay U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (the “FDA™) or other regulatory review and/or approval on all matters. It is unknown
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how long these disruptions could continue, were they to occur. Any elongation or de-prioritization of our
clinical trials or delay in regulatory review resulting from such disruptions could materially affect the
development and study of our product candidates.

We currently rely on third parties, such as contract laboratories, contract research organizations, medical
institutions and clinical investigators. If these third-party parties themselves are adversely impacted by
restrictions resulting from the coronavirus outbreak, we will likely experience delays and/or realize
additional costs. As a result, our efforts to obtain commence clinical trials and obtain regulatory approvals
as needed for, our therapeutic candidates may be delayed or disrupted.

The spread of the coronavirus, which has caused a broad impact globally, including restrictions on travel
and quarantine policies put into place by businesses and governments, may have a material economic effect
on our business. While the potential economic impact brought by and the duration of the pandemic may be
difficult to assess or predict, it has already caused, and is likely to result in further, significant disruption of
global financial markets, which may reduce our ability to access capital either at all or on favorable terms.
In addition, a recession, depression or other sustained adverse market event resulting from the spread of the
coronavirus could materially and adversely affect our business and the value of our capital stock.

The ultimate impact of the current pandemic, or any other health epidemic, is highly uncertain and subject
to change. We do not yet know the full extent of potential delays or impacts on our business, our clinical
trials, our research programs, healthcare systems or the global economy as a whole. However, these effects
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and cash
flows.

COVID-19 may impair BioCurity’s ability to raise capital.

COVID-19 will likely impede capital raising for companies in many sectors in the United States
and global economy. The overall negative affect to the economy may reduce funds available to invest in
early stage company as well reducing the number of investors who want to place funds in high risk ventures.
BioCurity is not in a sector such as travel or hospitality where the pandemic has a direct impact on our
business however, the ability to engage in biotech events, angel investment conferences, speaking
engagements and meetings with capital sources has been impacted substantially. Many groups are not
investing at this time and are focused on their prior investments and/or accessing the overall economic
condition of the United States and Global Economies. High net worth investors may be looking for more
secure investments or remaining in cash. This pandemic situation adds an additional layer of uncertainty
and risk to the ability to raise capital for BioCurity. Further delays in the capital raising may require
BioCurity to accrue more fees to MerchantCass Advisors and their affiliates. In addition, the delay in capital
raising may require other creditors of BioCurity to forbear funds owed by BioCurity. An accrual of more
fees may make our capital raising efforts more challenging.

On April 28, 2020 the Company entered into a Small Business Administration (“SBA™) loan under
the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP™) in the amount of $18,556 with Stone Bank, a member FDIC
bank. The loan will mature 2 years from the date it was issued and will accrue interest at a rate of 1% per
year. If the Company does not apply for loan forgiveness, the Company will be required to pay principal
and interest payments of $1,554.72 every month, beginning thirteen months from the month the loan was
issued. The Company intends to apply for loan forgiveness by utilizing the funds in accordance with defined
loan forgiveness guidance issued by the government. The Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act of
2020 authorized the Company to apply for forgiveness of the funds utilized over the course of 24 weeks so
long as the full-time equivalent staffing level remains the same (or increases) and that at least 60% of the
funds are utilized to pay payroll costs.
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Risks Relating to Our Exposure to Litigation

We are exposed to potential product liability or similar claims, and insurance against these claims may
not be available to us at all, in sufficient amounts or cost the Company can afford.

Our business exposes us to potential liability risks that are inherent in the testing, manufacturing
and marketing of human therapeutic products. Clinical trials involve the testing of product candidates on
human subjects or volunteers under a research plan, and carry a risk of liability for personal injury or death
to patients due to unforeseen adverse side effects, improper administration of the product candidate, or other
factors. Many of these patients are already seriously ill and are therefore particularly vulnerable to further
illness or death. We plan to carry clinical trial liability insurance but there can be no assurance that we will
be able obtain such insurance or that the amount of such insurance will be adequate to cover claims. We
could be materially and adversely affected if we were required to pay damages or incur defense costs in
connection with a claim outside the scope of indemnity or insurance coverage, if the indemnity is not
performed or enforced in accordance with its terms, or if our liability exceeds the amount of applicable
insurance. In addition, there can be no assurance that insurance will continue to be available on terms
acceptable to us, if at all, or that if obtained, the insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover any potential
claims or liabilities. Similar risks would exist upon the commercialization or marketing of any products by
us or our collaborators. Regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result
in:

* decreased demand for our product;

* injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;
« withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers;

* costs of litigation;

« distraction of management; and

+ substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs.

Should any of these events occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial
condition.
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Claims for indemnification by our directors, key employees, officers, consultants and licensors may reduce
our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of
money available to the Company.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that we will indemnify our directors to the fullest extent
permitted by Delaware law.

We will indemnify our directors and executive officers for serving us in those capacities or for
serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law;

Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in
good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed tothe best
interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable
cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful;

We may, in our discretion, indemnify other officers, employees and agents in those circumstances
where indemnification is permitted by applicable law;

We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and executive officers in
connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or executive officers shall
undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to
indemnification;

We will not be obligated to indemnify any director or executive officer in connection with any
proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person unless (i) such indemnification is expressly
required to be made by law, (ii) the proceeding was authorized by our Board of Directors, (ii1)
such indemnification is provided by us, in our sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in
the corporation under applicable law or (iv) such indemnification is required to be made pursuant
to our amended and restated bylaws;

We may be obligated to indemnify consultants even though they may contribute to the event
triggering the indemnification;

We may be obligated to indemnify licensors and will be unable to recoup under expenses from the
licensor even if the licensor was grossly negligent or intentionally caused the harm;and

The rights conferred in our bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into
indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain
insurance to indemnify such persons.

As a result, if we are required to indemnify one or more of our directors or executive officers, it may
reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us, may reduce the amount of

money available to us and may have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
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Risks Relating to the Offering

The Proceeds from the Offering will not sustain Company operations and will provide capital for a short
amount of time.

The Target Offering Amount is low, and will not contribute to sustaining the Company’s operations.
The Company will require additional financing if the Company only raises the Target Offering Amount in
this Offering. The Company anticipates that if the Maximum Offering Amount is raised, the Company will
be able to continue its operations for a period of six (6) months before requiring additional capital. The
Company cannot be certain that additional capital or financing will be available to it on favorable terms
when required, if available at all. The Company has plans to file a Regulation A Tier 2 Offering but there
is no guarantee we will be able to do so. The failure to raise needed funds, including a successful current
offering, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, operating
results and prospects, and could result in the loss of your entire investment in the Offering.

Professional Advisors Counsel to the Company has not been engaged to advise or represent the
stockholders of the Company. The Company has engaged Taft, Stettinius & Hollister (“Taft™) as counsel
in connection with other corporate, securities and intellectual property matters. Taft is not our counsel of
record for this Offering. Taft has acted as counsel to certain of the current stockholders of the Company
and their respective Affiliates. Each investor must consult with and should rely on their own counsel and
advisors concerning this investment, particularly with respect to the tax and financial consequences of their
investment in the Company. See “Risk Factors—Conflicts of Interest.”

Securities in this Offering are junior to some other classes of our Preferred Stock issued and will Convert
to Common Stock at or prior to July 1, 2021.

The Shares will convert from preferred to Common Stock prior to July 1, 2021 in the event of
qualification of a proposed Regulation A Offering by the SEC, or will automatically convert to Common
Stock on July 1, 2021 if no Regulation A Offering is qualified by the SEC prior to such date. Once
converted, the Shares will become Common Stock and will remain junior to any outstanding Preferred
Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing all Shares issued prior to December 31, 2020 will convert to
Common Stock.

The Shares are junior in liquidation preference to all presently issued and outstanding Preferred
Stock of the Company. Therefore, investors will have a risk similar to current Common stockholders
(including founders, board members and other common stockholders) who many have purchased their
stock at a considerably lower price.

Dilution and Subsequent Preferred Stock with Preferable Terms.

The Company intends to raise additional capital after the Offering or possibly during some or all of
the term of the Offering, which may be in the form of preferred stock, which may be senior in liquidation
and in other respects to the Shares to be issued from the Offering. The Company may sell other series of
preferred stock in the future that may be entitled to dividends, warrants, liquidation preferences or other
benefits and preferences not being offered to the purchasers of the Shares.
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Any such offering will probably be on terms dilutive to existing stockholders of the Company or
have other terms adverse to them, including but not limited to one or more of the following: lower cost per
share, warrant coverage (in addition to share issuance), anti-dilution rights, liquidation preferences and
dividend rights (with possible associated equity conversion rights).

There Can Be No Assurances that the Company will be able to Raise Sufficient Capital from this
Offering or to Raise Additional Capital After this Offering.

There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to raise sufficient monies in this Offering
to meet its current cash needs. Also, it may not have the funds required to hire the staff and professionals
required to prepare offering materials to commence a Regulation A Offering. If the Company does file an
Offering Statement for a Regulation A Offering, there is no guarantee that such Offering Statement will
ever be qualified by the SEC of that the Company will ever be able to sell any shares pursuant to such
offering. If the Regulation A Offering is qualified by the SEC, there is no guarantee that any underwriter(s)
engaged by the Company in connection with such an offering will be successful in selling the Company
securities and generating capital for the Company. In addition, the investors in this Offering may experience
significant dilution in any future capital raise of debt or equity. Prospective investors should consult with
management of the Company should they have any questions regarding the status of the Company’s efforts
for a Regulation A Offering in the future. No money or other consideration is being solicited in connection
with the Regulation A Offering, and if sent in response, will not be accepted.

No Weighted Average Anti-Dilution Protection or Preemptive Rights for Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Shares.

The conversion price of the Shares is not subject to “weighted average™ anti-dilution protection
which typically provides for an adjustment to the applicable conversion price in the event that the Company
issues additional equity securities at a purchase price less than the conversion price of the Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Shares. In the event the Board determines in its sole discretion to cause the Company
to sell securities at a lower price purchasers of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Shares could be exposed
to substantial dilution. Detailed information is available to any Investor as to the rights and preferences
allocable to their Shares on the Certificate of Designation for the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock.
Investors are encouraged to carefully review the terms of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Shares.

Investors holding Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Shares do not have weighted anti-dilution
protection. Investors holding Series A, Series AA, Series AAA Preferred Stock have received “weighted
average™ anti-dilution protection based upon the purchase price of each Series with the certain excepted
issuances by the Company (i.e., $1.25, S1.50 and $1.70 respectively), including: (i) options, warrants, note
conversion rights or other rights to acquire Common Stock or Preferred Stock existing as of the date of their
purchase; (ii) any Series AAA, Series AA or Series A Preferred Shares (or underlying Common Stock)
issuable in connection with the sale of Series AAA, Series AA and Series A Preferred Shares: (iii) securities
issued as consideration for the acquisition of another entity by the Company by merger, or by the purchase
of all or substantially all of such other entity’s assets; (iv) securities issued pursuant to an equipment
financing lease or similar arrangement; and securities issued other than for cash to strategic partners, banks
or lessors of the Company.

In addition, the Series AAA Preferred Stock provides certain preemptive rights in favor of
purchasers of 100,000 shares of Series AAA Preferred Stock or more (each a “Large Purchaser™) with
respect issuances by the Company of shares of Common Stock, shares of Preferred Stock or any other class
of capital stock of the Company, whether or not now authorized, or securities that are convertible into shares
of such capital stock by debt instrument (collectively, “New Securities™).

The preemptive rights provide a Large Purchaser with a right within 10 days following delivery of
notification by the Company of the New Securities offering to purchase their pro rata share (based on
percentage ownership of the Company owned by the Large Holder with respect to their Series AAA
Preferred Shares on an as converted to Common Stock basis), provided they deliver notice of acceptance
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of their preemptive rights within 10 days of such notice, and tender the applicable subscription materials
back to the Company together with payment for the New Securities subject to the preemptive rights notice
within such 10 day period following delivery of such subscription materials.

The Offering price may not necessarily bear any relationship to established criteria for value.

The Offering price that may be selected by the Company will be based on evaluation of a number
of factors, including certain of the Company’s empirical financial data and that of comparable companies’
institutions, general market conditions, the anticipated market demand and our prospects for the future. The
Offering price may not necessarily bear any relationship to the value of the Company’s assets, future cash
flows, future earnings, financial condition, or any other established criteria for value. We do not anticipate
obtaining any valuation opinion from outside financial advisors or investment bankers in connection with
establishing the Offering price. Investors are urged to make their own investigation as to valuation prior to
making an investment and should not rely upon anyone at the Company or working with the Company
including, its advisors, attorneys, officers or directors for valuation matters.

There is currently no market for the stock of the Company and it is possible that no market will develop
in the future.

The Company is not listed on any exchange, has no plans to list on any exchange, and may never
be eligible to be listed on any exchange. In addition, no class of stock of the Company has been registered
under the Securities Act, and we are under no obligation to register any class of stock of the Company.
There is no market for the Shares and the Shares are subject to the terms of the Subscription Agreement,
which imposes additional restrictions on its transfer. In the event the Company is successful in conducting
a Regulation A Offering, there still likely will not be a liquid market for the Company’s stock. All investors
should have no need for liquidity of this investment and be able to bear the entire loss of their investment.

Exercise of options to purchase stock in the Company which are likely to be granted in the future at the
sole discretion of the Board could cause further dilution and more ownership in the Company in addition
to dilution caused by additional capital raises.

The Company’s officers, directors, key employees or other individuals or entities have and may
receive options to purchase stock in the Company, which would result in the dilution of your proportionate
ownership interest in the Company. This is an inherent conflict since there is no independent Board member.
MerchantCass under its existing Advisory Agreement, as amended, is entitled to receive options to purchase
an additional 1% of the Company fully-diluted as of the end of each calendar quarter through the calendar
quarter ended December 31, 2022, as well as additional options if the Company is not current with respect
to its payment obligations to MerchantCass.

You cannot revoke your subscription for any reason.

You may not revoke or change your decision to purchase equity interests in the Company after
you submit your subscription to the Company. Under certain circumstances, such as material changes in
the Company’s business plan or other material developments, the Company may elect, in its discretion, to
allow subscribers to reconsider whether or not to invest. There can be no assurance this will occur. Funds
raised in this Offering will be available to the Company after meeting the Target Offering Amount
$9.996.

The Company will not have a tax opinion with respect to the consequences of an investment in the
Shares.

The Company makes no representations as to the possible tax consequences, adverse or otherwise,
of any features of an investment in the Shares, including, without limitation, any features of the Shares.
You should consult with your own tax advisor prior to an investment in the Shares about the impact of an
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investment in the Shares on your own particular situation.

The Company is subject to a Stockholder’s Agreement that vests substantial power in the hands of the
existing stockholders.

The holders of a substantial majority of the capital stock of the Company are subject to a
Stockholders Agreement. The Stockholders Agreement places significant limitations on the rights of the
parties thereto. Included in these restrictions are the following that apply for so long as the Stockholder’s
Agreement remains in effect: (i) the Company and then the other stockholders party to the agreement have
a right of first refusal to purchase a stockholder’s shares of stock in the Company, except for certain limited
exempt issuances (i1) the Company has certain drag along rights which can force a stockholder party to the
agreement to sell his or her shares on the same terms as the selling shareholders, even if they do not want
to sell their shares on such terms; (iii) stockholders who are party to the Stockholders Agreement are
required to vote their shares in a manner designed to elect to the Board of Directors each of: (a) Cheryl
Baker or her designee; and (b) a designee of MerchantCass Advisors, LLC, and the Board of Directors is to
be comprised of 2 members or such greater number as mutually agreed to between Cheryl Baker and
MerchantCass Advisors (presently set at a total of three directors), effectively providing them the ability to
control the Board of Directors and substantially control the operations of the Company: and (iv)
stockholders party to the Stockholders Agreement are required to lock up the sale of their shares of capital
stock for a period of 180 days following declaration of effectiveness of a registration statement of capital
stock of the Company filed under the Securities Act of 1933, and further provides a power of attorney to
the executive officers of the Company to execute any such lock up agreement as is required in connection
with such registration, which could significantly impair the marketability of the shares. The termination of
the Stockholders Agreement can be effected as agreed to by the Board of Directors along with each of
Cheryl Baker and MerchantCass Advisors, or under certain other circumstances delineated thereunder,
which effectively places its ongoing effectiveness in the control of the aforesaid persons.

Investors in this Offering must enter into a Subscription Agreement that will restrict the transferability
of the Shares purchased in this Offering.

Each Investor in our Shares is expected to be required to execute the Subscription Agreement. The
Subscription Agreement places significant limitations on the rights of the parties thereto and each
prospective Investor is urged to review the agreement carefully. Included in these restrictions are the
following that apply for so long as the Stockholder’s Agreement remains in effect: (i) a beneficial ownership
limitation that prohibits transfer any of the Shares by an investor in this Offering to a purchaser who
individually or together with his, her or its affiliates holds 3% or more of the issued and outstanding shares
of capital stock of the Company without the prior written consent of the Company: (ii) a drag along rights
provision which can force a stockholder to sell his or her shares on the same terms as the selling
stockholders, even if they do not want to sell their shares on such terms; and (iii) stockholders party to the
Subscription Agreement are required to lock up the sale of their Shares for a period of time not to exceed
180 days following declaration of effectiveness of a registration statement of capital stock of the Company
filed under the Securities Act of 1933 and following qualification of an offering statement of capital stock
of the Company filed under Regulation A, and further provides a power of attorney to the executive officers
of the Company to execute any such lock up agreement as is required in connection with such registration,
which could significantly impair the marketability of the shares. The termination of the Subscription
Agreement can be effected as agreed to by the Company and the Investor, which effectively places its
ongoing effectiveness in the control of the aforesaid persons.
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The Company may be unable to efficiently manage its growth.

The Company’s current plans contemplate a period of costly product development that may place
a significant strain on the Company’s financial, managerial and other resources. If the Company’s
executives are unable to manage growth effectively, the Company’s business, operating results, financial
condition and prospects could be materially adversely affected.

We have not retained independent professionals for subscribers.

We have not retained any independent professionals to review or comment on the Offering or
otherwise protect the interests of the subscribers. Although the Company has retained its own law firms,
neither such firms nor any other firm has made any independent examination of any factual matters herein,
and purchasers of the Shares to be issued in the Offering should not rely on the firms so retained with respect
to any matters herein described. Counsel to the Company does not represent the investors. In addition,
certain counsel to the Company may also serve as counsel to MerchantCass Advisors or its affiliates (and
may hereafter also perform certain services on behalf of Cheryl Baker or her affiliates) with respect to
matters unrelated to the Company which may be deemed to constitute a conflict of interest, and prospective
investors should consider the impact of such separate representation on the impact of their relationships to
the Company.

This Offering involves “rolling closings,” which may mean that earlier investors may not have
the benefit of information that later investors have.

Once we meet our target amount for this Offering, we may request that StartEngine instruct the
escrow agent to disburse offering funds to us. At that point, investors whose subscription agreements have
been accepted will become our investors. All early-stage companies are subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, and it is not uncommon for material changes to be made to the Offering terms, or to
companies’ businesses, plans or prospects, sometimes on short notice. When such changes happen during
the course of an offering, we must file an amended to our Form C with the SEC, and investors whose
subscriptions have not yet been accepted will have the right to withdraw their subscriptions and get their
money back. Investors whose subscriptions have already been accepted, however, will already be our
investors and will have no such right.

There are other unidentified risks.

The risks set forth above are not a complete list of the potential risks facing us. We realize that there
may exist significant risks yet to be recognized or encountered to which we may not be able to effectively
respond. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in addressing these risks or future potential
risks, and any failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

OWNERSHIP AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE: RIGHTS OF THE SECURITIES
The Company’s Securities
The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of: (1) 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock,
par value $0.00001 per share (ii) 20,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, of which: (A) 1,620,000 shares have
been designated as Series A Preferred Stock; (B) 300,000 shares have been designated Series AA Preferred

Stock: (C) 400,000 shares have been designated Series AAA Preferred Stock; (D) 500,000 shares have been
designated Series AAAA Preferred Stock (E) 300,000 shares have been designated Series AAAAA
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Preferred Stock, (F) 100,000 shares have been designated Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock: (G)
200,000 shares have been designated Series 7A Preferred Stock (G) 20 shares of “Super Voting™ Series V
Preferred Stock; and (H) 1,411,765 shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock.

As of July 1, 2020, the Company had 4,996,857 issued and outstanding shares of capital stock
(comprised of 3,259,239 shares of Common Stock and 510,615 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 300,000
shares of Series AA Preferred Stock, 160,000 shares of Series AAA Preferred Stock and 242,500 shares of
Series AAAA Preferred Stock, 300,000 shares of Series AAAAA Preferred Stock, 100,000 shares of Series
AAAAAA Preferred Stock, 124,494 shares of Series 7A Preferred Stock), 10 shares of “Super Voting”
Series V Preferred Stock. On July 1, 2020, all 87,316 shares of CF Convertible Preferred Stock, 15,000
Series FT-1 Preferred Stock, 62,500 shares of Series FT-2 Preferred Stock, and 66,667 shares of Series FT-
3 Preferred Stock issued and outstanding were converted into shares of Common Stock on a 1:1 basis, and
therefore were no longer outstanding. There were no shares of the Company’s Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Stock outstanding as of July 1, 2020. The Company had 8,545,912 outstanding shares on a fully-
diluted basis, assuming exercise of all options and warrants (and before giving effect to any stock or options
issuable following the July 1, 2020).

Ownership

The following tables set forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the
Company’s holders of 20% or more of any class of voting securities as of July 1, 2020. Except pursuant to
applicable marital property laws, the persons named below have sole voting and investment power with
respect to the shares beneficially owned by such persons.

Number of Securities Percentage of Voting
Stockholder Name Owned Power (4)
Cheryl H. Baker, PhD " 289,836 1.93% (4)
Sam Merchant) 10,280,459 68.60% (4)
Nancy J. Cassg) 476,556 1.87% (4)

(1) All holdings are in the name of Cheryl Baker, PhD. In addition to the shares of Common Stock set
forth above, Cheryl Baker was granted at various times options to purchase Common Stock, exercisable in each
instance during the 10-year period to exercise from cach date of issuance. Options are comprised of options to purchase
up to 105,000 shares exercisable at $2.00 per share.

2) All holdings are in his affiliate, Merchants Capital Trust, LLC, and are all Common Stock, with the
exception of 10 shares of “Super Voting” Series V Preferred Stock in the case of BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc.
In addition to the shares of Common Stock set forth above, Merchants Capital Trust, LLC was granted at various times
options and warrants to purchase Common Stock exercisable in each instance during the 10-year period to exercise
from cach date of issuance. Options are comprised of options to purchase up to 994,556 shares exercisable at $1.30
per share and up to 493,950.50 shares exercisable at $2.00 per share. Warrants are comprised of warrants to purchase
up to 375,000 shares at $0.40 per share and up to 437,000 shares at $0.69 per share.

(3) All holdings are in the name of her Affiliate, Pierce Family Ventures, LLC. In addition to the shares
of Common Stock set forth above, Pierce Family Ventures, LLC was granted at various times options and warrants to
purchase Common Stock, exercisable in cach istance during the 10-year period from the date of issuance. Options
are comprised of options to purchase up to 311,139 shares exercisable at $1.30 per share and up to 46,822.50 shares
exercisable at $2.00 per share. One warrant is outstanding to purchase up to 375,000 shares at $0.40 pershare.

4) As of July 1, 2020, the Company had 4,996,857 issued and outstanding shares of capital stock
outstanding including 10 shares of “Super Voting” Series V Preferred Stock held by an Affiliate of Sam Merchant,
BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc., which votes together with Common Stock on the basis of 1,00,000 votes per share;
accordingly after accounting for the 10,000,000 votes allocable to the Series V Voting Preferred Stock there are
14,909,531 votes for all matters based upon Common Stock and all classes of preferred stock voting together as a single
class (except for specific class votes related to each class of preferred stock). Accordingly, the above table shows voting
power based on cumulative votes inclusive of those votes allocable the Series V Preferred Stock. Each such share of
the Series V Preferred Stock has a nominal liquidation value.
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Common Stock
Voting Rights
Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote.

The Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting. Therefore, stockholders
do not have the right to aggregate their votes for the election of directors.

Dividend Rights

The holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive such dividends as declared by the Board out
of assets legally available.

Liquidating Distributions and Change of Control

The holders of Common Stock are entitled to share ratably with other holders of Common Stock in
the assets of the Company available upon liquidation.

Rights and Preferences

There are no preemptive, subscription, conversion or redemption rights pertaining to the shares of
Common Stock.

Preferred Stock

The terms of our Preferred Stock, Series A Preferred Stock, Series AA Preferred Stock, Series AAA
Preferred Stock, Series AAAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAAAA
Preferred Stock, Series 7A Preferred Stock, and the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock being sold in
this Offering are substantially the same, except with regards to Liquidation Preferences. As such, the
following description of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock is applicable to each of the above
named-classes of Preferred Stock.

While the authorized capital stock of the Company currently still includes Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock, FT-1, FT-2, and FT-3 Preferred Stock, all outstanding shares of these series of preferred
stock were converted on July 1, 2020 into shares of the Company’s Common Stock, and are no longer
outstanding. As such, we have not described the terms of these classes of stock in this section.

Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock
Voting Rights

The holders of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred shares shall vote together with the holders of the
Common Stock, and not as a separate class, on all matters presented to the stockholders of the Company,
except as specifically provided in the Certificate of Designations or as otherwise required by law, provided
that the rights, preferences and privileges of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall not be altered
or impaired without the consent of the holders of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock, voting as a
separate class. Each Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Share shall have a number of votes equal to the
number of shares of Common Stock then issuable upon conversion of such Share.

Subscription Agreement. Each investor in this Offering must enter into a Subscription Agreement.
The Subscription Agreement contains certain provisions that restrict the rights of existing parties to such
agreement, including: (i) a drag along provision which requires stockholders to participate in certain sales
of shares approved by certain selling stockholders; (i) a beneficial ownership limitation that prohibits
transfer any of the Shares by an investor in this Offering to a purchaser who individually or together with
his, her or its affiliates holds 3% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the
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Company without the prior written consent of the Company; (iii) a lock-up provision which restricts the
right of investors to sell the Shares purchased in this Offering for a period of 180 days following declaration
of effectiveness of a registration statement of capital stock of the Company filed under the Securities Act
of 1933, and further provides a power of attorney to the executive officers of the Company to execute any
such lock up agreement as is required in connection with such registration and (iv) a lock-up provision which
restricts the right of investors to sell the Shares purchased in this Offering for a period of 180 days following
qualification of an offering statement of capital stock of the Company filed under Regulation A, and, in the
case of (iii) and (iv) further provides a power of attorney to the executive officers of the Company to execute
any such lock-up agreements as is required in connection with any such registration statement or offering
statement. It should be noted that the Company has issued 10 shares of “Super Voting™ Series V Preferred
Stock to BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc., a company owned by Sam Merchant; each such share has a
nominal liquidation value, but is accorded 1,000,000 votes, providing it effective voting control over the
Company. This summary is qualified in its entirety by the terms of the Subscription Agreement.

Dividend Rights

The holders of our Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred shares shall be entitled to receive cumulative
dividends, only when and if declared by the Board. If the Board declares a dividend or other distribution on
the Common Stock, the Shares would also be entitled to participate in such dividend or distribution with the
holders of the Common Stock, pro rata, on an as-if converted to Common Stock basis. In general it is not
contemplated that dividends will be declared or paid.

Conversion Rights

Elective Conversion. Each of the holders of our Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred shares shall have
the right, at his, her or its sole election, to convert each share held by such holder and all accrued and unpaid
dividends thereon (if any) into such number of | share of Common Stock for each Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Share outstanding (subject to equitable adjustment to account for forward and reverse stock splits,
consolidations and other extraordinary corporate events (as provided in Certificate of Designations).

Mandatory Conversion. Each Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Share will automatically convert
into Common Stock on July 1,2021 on a 1:1 basis (subject to adjustment as noted in “Elective Conversion™
above) in the event that the Company has not received a notification of qualification of a Regulation A
offering. In the event a Regulation A offering has received a notification of qualification on or before July
1, 2021, then the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred shares shall automatically convert to Common Stock
at that time on the same basis.

Liquidation Preferences of our Preferred Stock

At any time prior to conversion any Series of our Preferred Stock to Common Stock, in the event
of: (i) any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, (ii) a sale, lease
transfer or conveyance of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company: (iii) a consolidation of the
Company with, or merger of the Company with or into, another corporation or other business entity in
which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such consolidation or merger own less than
50% of the voting power of the surviving entity immediately after such consolidation or merger; or (iv) any
transaction or series of related transactions to which the Company is a party in which in excess of 50% of
the Company’s voting power is transferred, excluding any consolidation or merger effected exclusively to
change the domicile of the Company and/or an effective change of the number of issued and outstanding
shares of the Company (any of such events being a “Liquidation Event”), and further excluding any of the
issuances of capital stock with respect to any of the transactions contemplated in this Offering, the
holders of the following Series of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, an amount in cash, or to the
extent cash is not available, property, the Stated Value per Preferred Share, and shall be subject to
adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combinations, recapitalizations and the like, the
“Original Issue Price™). Alternatively, the holders of the Preferred shares shall be entitled to convert their
Preferred shares to Common Stock.



On liquidation, certain classes of Preferred shares are senior to other classes of stock of the
Company. The following is a summary of each Series of Preferred Stock’s liquidation preferences, as well
as their Original Issue Price.

l. Series A Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $1.25

Senior to: Common Stock

On Parity with: Series AA, AAA, AAAA, AAAAA, AAAAAA and 7A preferred stock of the Company
Junior to: None.

2. Series AA Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $1.50

Senior to: Common Stock

On Parity with: Series A, AAA, AAAA, AAAAA, AAAAAA and 7A preferred stock of the Company.
Junior to: None.

3. Series AAA Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $1.70

Senior to: Common Stock

On Parity with: Series A, AA, AAAA, AAAAA, AAAAAA and 7A preferred stock of the Company.
Junior to: None.

4. Series AAAA Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $2.00

Senior to: Common Stock

On Parity with: Series A, AA, AAA, AAAAA, AAAAAA and 7A preferred stock of the Company.
Junior to: None.

5. Series AAAAA Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $3.20

Senior to: Common Stock
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On Parity with: Series A, AA, AAA, AAAA, AAAAAA and 7A preferred stock of the Company.
Junior to: None.

6. Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $3.20

Senior to: Common Stock

On Parity with: Series A, AA, AAA, AAAA, AAAAA, and 7A preferred stock of the Company.
Junior to: None.

7. Series 7A Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $4.00
Senior to: Common Stock
On Parity with: Series A, AA, AAA, AAAA, AAAAA, and AAAAAA preferred stock of the Company.

Junior to: None.

8 Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $4.25
Senior to: Common Stock
On Parity with: None.

Junior to: Series A, AA, AAA, AAAA, AAAAA, AAAAAA and 7A preferred stock of the Company

9. Series V Preferred Stock

Original Issue Price: $0.01
Senior to: Common Stock
On Parity with: None.

Junior to: All other classes of Preferred Stock of the Company

Series V “Super Voting” Preferred Stock

Each share of Series V “Super Voting” Preferred Stock is accorded 1,000,000 votes. The Company
has issued 10 shares of “Super Voting™ Series V Preferred Stock to BioCurity Controlling Shares, Inc., a
company owned by Sam Merchant; each such share has a nominal liquidation value, but is accorded
1,000,000 votes, providing it effective voting control over the Company.
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Stockholders Agreement

Except for the holders of the Series V Preferred Stock and Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock,
the holders of each other class of the Company’s securities are subject to a Stockholders Agreement. The
Stockholders’ Agreement contains a number of provisions relating to the transfer rights and voting rights
of the holders of securities subject to the Stockholders Agreement, such as (i) the Company and then the
other stockholders have a right of first refusal to purchase a stockholder’s shares of stock in the Company,
except for certain limited exempt issuances: (ii) the Company has certain drag along rights which can force
a stockholder to sell his or her shares on the same terms as the selling shareholders, even if they do not want
to sell their shares on such terms; (iii) stockholders who are party to the Stockholders Agreement are
required to vote their shares in a manner designed to elect to the Board of Directors each of: (a) Cheryl
Baker or her designee; and (b) a designee of MerchantCass Advisors, LLC, and the Board of Directors is
to be comprised of 2 members or such greater number as mutually agreed to between Cheryl Baker and
MerchantCass Advisors (presently set at a total of three directors); and (iv) stockholders party to the
Stockholders Agreement are required to lock up the sale of their shares of capital stock for a period of 180
days following declaration of effectiveness of a registration statement of capital stock of the Company filed
under the Securities Act of 1933, and further provides a power of attorney to the executive officers of the
Company to execute any such lock up agreement as is required in connection with suchregistration.

Stock Option Plan and Warrants

The Company established a long-term incentive plan in 2015 as an incentive to its employees,
officers, directors and consultants. The 2015 Plan originally called for the issuance of stock options, stock
grants or other equity incentives to purchase the equivalent of up to 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock, to
be granted over a period of up to 10 years from the date of the 2015 Plan, and was amended in January 2017
to call for the issuance of up to 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock. Options to purchase 1,908,056 of the
shares subject to the 2015 Plan have been granted and remain outstanding as of December 31, 2019 (see
“Related Party Transactions - MerchantCass Agreement” for a discussion of options issuable to it). The
Board of Directors serves as the stock option committee for purposes of administering the 2015 Plan,
including determining the number of shares subject to either outright grant, or grant of purchase option and
the terms of such option grants (including vesting schedule, exercise period, strike price and other terms
and conditions). It is anticipated that the Board will review executive employees” performance on an annual
basis and consider whether option grants are appropriate, with current management and prospective hires
presently under review. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, the Company
granted new options to purchase 540,016 and 241,302 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.00
per share over a 10-year term.

Presently there are: (1) warrants outstanding that were issued in 2015 to purchase up to 1,187,000
shares of Common Stock, with: (a) warrants for 750,000 of those shares exercisable at $0.40 per share: and
(b) warrants for 437,000 of those shares exercisable at $0.69 per share; and (ii) options to purchase up to
2,362,055 shares of Common Stock, all exercisable at prices ranging from $1.30 per share to $2.00 per
share. These warrants and options are held by affiliates of MerchantCass Advisors except for options to
purchase 257,588 shares of Common Stock by other individuals.

Pre-Emptive Rights and Weighted Average Anti-Dilution Rights

The Series A, Series AA, Series AAA Preferred Stock have “weighted average™ anti-dilution
protection based upon the purchase price of each Series with the certain excepted issuances by the Company
(ie., S1.25, $1.50 and $1.70 respectively), including: (i) options, warrants, note conversion rights or other
rights to acquire Common Stock or Preferred Stock existing as of the date of purchase; (ii) any Series AAA,
Series AA or Series A Preferred Shares (or underlying Common Stock) issuable in connection with the sale
of Series AAA, Series AA and Series A Preferred Shares; (ii1) securities issued as consideration for the
acquisition of another entity by the Company by merger, or by the purchase of all or substantially all of
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such other entity’s assets; (iv) securities issued pursuant to an equipment financing lease or similar
arrangement; and securities issued other than for cash to strategic partners, banks or lessors of the Company.

In addition, the Series AAA Preferred Stock provides certain preemptive rights in favor of
purchasers of 100,000 shares of Series AAA Preferred Stock or more (each a “Large Purchaser™) with
respect issuances by the Company of shares of Common Stock, shares of Preferred Stock or any other class
of capital stock of the Company, whether or not now authorized, or securities that are convertible into shares
of such capital stock by debt instrument (collectively, “New Securities™).

The preemptive rights provide a Large Purchaser with a right within 10 days following delivery of notification
by the Company of the New Securities offering to purchase their pro rata share (based on percentage ownership
of the Company owned by the Large Holder with respect to their Series AAA Preferred Shares on an as converted
to Common Stock basis), provided they deliver notice of acceptance of their preemptive rights within 10 days of
such notice, and tender the applicable subscription materials back to the Company together with payment for the
New Securities subject to the preemptive rights notice within such 10 day period following delivery of such
subscription materials.

The preemptive rights do not extend to:

(1) Issuances of capital stock in connection with (i) conversion of existing (and Series AAA)
preferred stock to Common Stock; (ii) shares of stock reserved for issuance to employees,
directors, providers of financing, consultants and sales representatives pursuant to a stock option
plan; (iii) shares of stock issued in exchange for assets, services, financing and the like: (iv)
warrants or stock options issued in connection with employees or other service providers,
including in connection with placement of securities; and (v) shares issued in connection with
exercise of any of the rights enumerated herein;

(11) securities offered pursuant to a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 as
amended; or

(iii)  securities issued to a single purchaser or such single purchaser issued together with its affiliates
in an amount of $2,000,000 or more.



Delaware Antitakeover Law

The Delaware Antitakeover Law prohibits certain “business combinations™ between a Delaware
corporation, whose stock is generally publicly-traded or held by more than 2,000 stockholders, and an
“interested stockholder™ of the corporation for a three-year period following the date that such stockholder
became an interested stockholder, unless: (1) the corporation has elected, in its certificate of incorporation,
not to be governed by the Delaware Antitakeover Law (the Company has not made such an election): (ii)
the business combination was approved by the board of directors of the corporation before the other party
to the business combination became an interested stockholder; (iii) upon consummation of the transaction
which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least eighty-five percent (85%) of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the commencement of
the transaction (excluding voting stock owned by directors who are also officers or held in employee benefit
plans in which the employees do not have a confidential right to tender or vote stock held by the plan): or
(iv) the business combination was approved by the board of directors of the corporation and ratified by 66%
of the voting stock which the interested stockholder did not own. The three-year prohibition also does not
apply to certain business combinations proposed by an interested stockholder following theannouncement
or notification of certain extraordinary transactions involving the corporation and a person who had not
been an interested stockholder during the previous three years or who became an interested stockholder
with the approval of a majority of the corporation’s directors or who became an interested stockholder prior
to the amendment to the corporation’s certificate of incorporation to subject the corporation to the Delaware
Anti-takeover Law. The term “business combination™ is defined generally to include mergers or
consolidations between a Delaware corporation and an interested stockholder, transactions with an
interested stockholder involving the assets or stock of the corporation or its majority-owned subsidiaries,
and transactions which increase an interested stockholder’s percentage ownership of stock. The term
“interested stockholder™ is defined, generally, as those stockholders who become beneficial owners of
fifteen percent (15%) or more of a Delaware corporation’s voting stock.

These provisions could delay or frustrate the removal of incumbent directors or a change in control
of the Company. These provisions also could discourage, impede, or prevent a merger, tender offer or proxy
contest, even if such an event would be favorable to the interests of the stockholders.

What it means to be a Minority Holder

As a minority holder of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, you will have
limited rights in regards to the corporate actions of the Company, including additional issuances of securities,
Company repurchases of securities, a sale of the Company or tis significant assets, or Company transactions
with related parties. Further, investors in this offering have rights less than those of other investors, and will
have limited influence on the corporate actions of the Company.

DILUTION

Investors should understand the potential for dilution. The investor’s stake in a company could be
diluted due to the company issuing additional shares. In other words, when the company issues more shares,
the percentage of the company that you own will go down, even though the value of the company may go
up. You will own a smaller piece of a larger company. This increase in number of shares outstanding could
result from a stock offering (such as an initial public offering, another crowdfunding round, a venture
capital round, angel investment), employees exercising stock options, or by conversion of certain
instruments (e.g. convertible bonds, preferred shares or warrants) into stock.

If the Company decides to issue more shares, an investor could experience value dilution, with

each share being worth less than before, and control dilution, with the total percentage an investor owns
being less than before. There may also be earnings dilution, with a reduction in the amount earned per
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share (though this typically occurs only if the company offers dividends, and most early stage companies
are unlikely to offer dividends, preferring to invest any earnings into the company).

The type of dilution that hurts early-stage investors most occurs when the company sells more
shares in a “down round,” meaning at a lower valuation than in earlier offerings. An example of how this
might occur is as follows (numbers are for illustrative purposes only):

* InJune 2017 Jane invests $20,000 for shares that represent 2% of a company valued at S1
million.

* In December the company is doing very well and sells $5 million in shares to venture capitalists
on a valuation (before the new investment) of S10 million. Jane now owns only 1.3% of the
company but her stake is worth $200,000.

* In June 2018 the company has run into serious problems and in order to stay afloat it raises $1
million at a valuation of only $2 million (the “down round”). Jane now owns only 0.89% of the
company and her stake is worth only $26,660.

This type of dilution might also happen upon conversion of convertible notes into shares.
Typically, the terms of convertible notes issued by early-stage companies provide that in the event of
another round of financing, the holders of the convertible notes get to convert their notes into equity at a
“discount™ to the price paid by the new investors, i.e., they get more shares than the new investors would
for the same price. Additionally, convertible notes may have a “price cap™ on the conversion price, which
effectively acts as a share price ceiling. Either way, the holders of the convertible notes get more shares for
their money than new investors. In the event that the financing is a *down round” the holders of the
convertible notes will dilute existing equity holders, and even more than the new investors do, because they
get more shares for their money. Investors should pay careful attention to the amount of convertible notes
that the company has issued (and may issue in the future, and the terms of those notes.

If you are making an investment expecting to own a certain percentage of the Company or
expecting each share to hold a certain amount of value, it’s important to realize how the value of those
shares can decrease by actions taken by the Company. Dilution can make drastic changes to the value of
each share, ownership percentage, voting control, and earnings per share.

TRANSFERABILITY OF SECURITIES
Under Regulation Crowdfunding, for a year, the securities can only be resold:

* InanIPO;

* To the Company;

* To an accredited investor; and

* To a member of the family of the purchaser or the equivalent, to a trust controlled by the purchaser,
to a trust created for the benefit of a member of the family of the purchaser or the equivalent, or in
connection with the death or divorce of the purchaser or other similar circumstance.

In addition, investors in this Offering will enter into the Subscription Agreement, which contains a “Lock-
Up” provision whereby the investor agrees not to offer, sell, or otherwise dispose of any of Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock during the period of time (not to exceed 180 days) determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company, from the effective date of any registration statement with respect to the Common
Stock of the Company unless the Board of Directors of the Company authorizes such transfer. The
Subscription Agreement also contains a drag along provision which requires stockholders to participate in
certain sales of shares approved by certain selling stockholders, as well as a beneficial ownership limitation
that prohibits transfer any of the Shares by an investor in this Offering to a purchaser who individually or
together with his, her or its affiliates holds 3% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock
of the Company without the prior written consent of the Company.



RECENT OFFERINGS OF SECURITIES
We have made the following issuances of securities within the last three years.

Date of Offering Securities | Final Final Use of Proceeds
Commencement | Exemption | Offered Amount Proceeds
of Offering Relied Upon Sold
(MM/YYYY)
06/2017 Rule 506(b) [Series 100,000 $320,000 | Working capital inclusive of
of Regulation [AAAAAA payments to service providers and
D under the [Preferred payments to officers, directors,
Securities consultants, some of who are
Act affiliates of the Company
10/2017 Rule 506(b) Series TA 44,493.65 | $177,975 | Working capital inclusive of
of Regulation | Preferred payments to service providers and
D under the payments to officers, directors,
Securities consultants, some of who are
Act affiliates of the Company
02/2018 Rule 506(b) | Series 7A | 80,000 $320,000 | Working capital inclusive of
of Regulation | Preferred payments to service providers and
D under the payments to officers, directors,
Securities consultants, some of who are
Act affiliates of the Company
12/2018 Rule 506(b) | Fixed 36,250 $145,000 | Working capital inclusive of
of Regulation | Term payments to service providers and
D under the | Preferred payments to officers, directors,
Securities consultants, some of who are
Act affiliates of the Company
04/2019 Rule 506(b) | Fixed 66,666.67 | $200,000 | Working capital inclusive of
of Regulation | Term payments to service providers and
D under the | Preferred payments to officers, directors,
Securities consultants, some of who are
Act affiliates of the Company
0972019 Rule 506(b) | Fixed 77,500 $310.000 | Working capital inclusive of
of Regulation | Term payments to service providers and
D under the Preferred payments to officers, directors,
Securities consultants, some of who are
Act affiliates of the Company
12/19 Regulation Series CF | 87.316' $363.519. | Working capital inclusive of
Crowdfundin | Convertibl 507 payments to service providers and
g e Preferred payments to officers, directors,
Stock consultants, some of who are
affiliates of the Company

! Does not include approximately 7,000 additional shares issuable pursuant to subscriptions reccived by the Company in this offering prior
to its termination on June 29, 2020. These shares will be issued once the investments are closed upon, and the funds are received by the
Company, which the Company expects will occur in the near future.

2 Does not include approximately $30,000 in subscriptions reccived by the Company in this offering prior to its termination on June 29,
2020. These subscriptions have not been closed on as of the date of this Memorandum, but the Company expects to close on these
investments and receive these funds in the near future.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Financial statements

Our financial statements for the years ending December 31, 2019 and 2018 can be found in
Exhibit B to the Form C of which this Offering Memorandum forms a part.

Financial Condition

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of
our operations together with our financial statements and related notes appearing at the end of this
Offering Memorandum. This discussion contains forward-looking statements reflecting our current
expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of events may differ
materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements due to a number of factors,
including those discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Offering
Memorandum.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues. To date, the Company has not generated any revenues.

Operating Expenses. Total operating expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 increased
39.3% to $2,180.808 from $1.565,525 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. This increase is
primarily attributable to an increase in general and administrative expenses and share-based compensation.
General and administrative expenses were $1,287,994 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, a
28.4% increase compared to $510,029 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. This was primarily
the result of increased costs incurred in connection with our Regulation Crowdfunding offering, including
legal, marketing, increased consulting fees, and other offering costs. Share-based compensation totaled
$878,260 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $330,538 or 60.35% compared
to $547,722 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. Share-based compensation increased
primarily due to increased option grants to management during the twelve months ended December 31,
2019. All options issued during 2019 and 2018 were fully vested upon issuance. The weighted average
estimated fair value of the options granted during 2019 and 2018 were $1.63 per share and $1.69 per share,
respectively.

Other Expenses: Prior to 2019, warrants issued to consultants were accounted for by the Company as a
liability with the fair value of the warrant liability remeasured at each reporting date and the change in
liability recorded as other non-operating income or loss. As such, for the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Company previously recorded total “Other Expenses™ of $494,293, of which $488.,925 consisted of a loss
on warrant valuation adjustment. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company elected to adopt
new guidance issued in July 2017 by the FASB that changes the classification analysis of certain equity-
linked financial instruments, such as the warrants with down round features that were issued to consultants
by the Company. Under this new accounting treatment, except for the down round features in the warrants,
the warrants issued to consultants that resulted in the loss on warrant valuation adjustment noted above would
have been classified in equity. Thus, the Company elected to adopt the new guidance noted above during the
year ended December 31, 2019, and the comparative financial statements of prior years (i.e. December 31,
2018) have been adjusted to apply the new method retrospectively. As such, the “Other Expenses™ of
$494.293 for the year ended December 31, 2018 are now adjusted to $5,368, compared to $10,252 for the
year ended December 31, 2019. “Other Expenses™ consisted primarily of interest expense incurred on the
Company’s note payable, which increased $1,329 from 2018 to 2019.
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Net Loss: As a result of the foregoing, the Company had a net loss of $2,191,060 for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2019 compared to $1,570,893 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 — an
increase of 39.48%.

Liquiditv and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2019, our primary sources of liquidity consisted of cash and cash equivalents
of $62,2154. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2018 were $167,281. The
reduction in our cash and cash equivalents from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2019 is primarily the
result of increased operating expenses, primarily from increases in share-based compensation, consulting
fees, and accounts payable, in 2019 compared to 2018, which reduced our cash reserves. As of December

31, 2019, the Company has a negative working capital of $1,452,155, and an accumulated deficit of
$9.442,996

In 2019, the Company commenced an offering pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding in which it
offered shares of its Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had
received no proceeds from this offering. On June 29, 2020, the Company terminated this Regulation
Crowdfunding Offering. The Company received $363,519.50 in gross proceeds from the sale of 87,316
shares of its Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to this offering.* The net amount received is
below this amount and includes costs of marketing, fees to StartEngine and other expenses including but
not limited to transfer agent, escrows and related expenses.

If we raise the Maximum Offering Amount of $599,998, we estimate we will be able to continue
our operations for 6 months, exclusive of payment to Seacoast. The funds of from this Offering are critical
to our Company’s operations, and our viability as a Company. Apart from those listed above, we have no
other capital resources available to us. The Company intends to conduct an offering pursuant to Regulation
A for up to $20,000,000 following the conclusion of this Offering to raise additional capital to fund its
operations.

Indebtedness
Loan Agreement with Seacoast National Bank and Town of Jupiter Florida

On December 21, 2016, the Company entered a non-revolving note payable agreement with Seacoast National
Bank, for the principal sum of $350,000 at a fixed rate of 4% interest. The Company can draw on the line for the
first 24 months of the agreement. Payments during this period are monthly interest only payments. Following the
first 24 month period, the Company is required to pay equal monthly payments of principal and interest based on
a 10 year amortization period. The entire balance is due and payable in full on December 21, 2020. The loan
balance may be prepaid without penalty. The note is secured by substantially all of the personal property and
equipment of the Company and an Economic Development Loan Pledge Agreement with the Town of Jupiter,
Florida.
At December 31, 2019, the note balance, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $1,290, was
$159.212. As of July 1, 2020, the balance of this note was approximately $155,000.

PPP Loan

The Company has applied for loans being administered by the SBA under the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief, and Economic Recovery Act of 2020 (“*CARES Act™) to assist in maintaining payroll and operations
through the period impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic On April 28, 2020 the Company received a

* Does not include approximately $30,000 in subscriptions reccived by the Company in this offering prior to its termination on June 29,
2020. These subscriptions have not been closed on as of the date of this Memorandum, but the Company expects to close on these
mnvestments and receive these funds in the near future, at which point it will issue approximately 7,000 additional shares of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock.

69



$18,566 PPP loan with Stone Bank, which may be partially forgivable as specified in the CARES Act. The
loan will mature 2 years from the date it was issued and will accrue interest at a rate of 1% per year. If the
Company does not apply for loan forgiveness, it will be required to pay principal and interest payments of
$1,554.72 every month, beginning thirteen months from the month the loan was issued. The Company
intends to apply for loan forgiveness by utilizing the funds in accordance with defined loan forgiveness
guidance issued by the government. The Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act of 2020 authorized
the company to apply for forgiveness of the funds utilized over the course of 24 weeks so long as the full-
time equivalent staffing level remains the same (or increases) and that at least 60% of the funds are utilized
to pay payroll costs.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company and/or BioCurity, Inc., as applicable, have entered into the agreements outlined
below (as to certain but not all key provisions), which are qualified in their entirety by the full terms of such
agreements. Copies of all of such agreements are available upon request after execution of a confidentiality
agreement acceptable to the Company.

MerchantCass Agreement

BioCurity, Inc. and the Company entered into a second amended and restated advisory agreement
with MerchantCass Advisors, LLC (“MCA™) dated as of December 1, 2018, which amends and restates in
its entirety the amended and restated advisory agreement dated as of January 1, 2017, which in turn amended
and restated the original advisory agreement with MCA dated as of April 1, 2014 as amended (*“MCA
Agreement”). The MCA Agreement calls for the provision of advisory services by MCA through
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December 31, 2022, including but not limited to advice and assistance related to due diligence, working
with UCF, assembly of management team, assisting with business strategy, working with auditors,
assistance in preparation of documentation, business plans and term sheets. The rate of compensation is
$350 per hour for services provided by its principals Sam Merchant and Nancy Cass (lesser hourly rate if
other service providers used), plus a 10% administrative fee, and in the event that the hours exceed 120
hours per month, MCA is entitled to $350 per hour for all time in excess of such amount, subject to MCA’s
right to increase such rate to $400 per hour commencing with September 2017 (no such increase has been
effected through the date of this Memorandum).

Compensation under the MCA Agreement includes stock options received as set out in the
capitalization table (covering the period from January 1, 2017 through the quarter ended June 30, 2019)
which are fully earned and vested. Going forward MCA is entitled to receive options to purchase 1% of the
“Base Amount” of the capital of the Company per calendar quarter for the term of its agreement,
commencing with the quarter ended December 31, 2018 (each option comprised of 1% of the sum of: (i)
issued and outstanding Common Stock: plus (ii) the as converted to Common Stock shares with respect to
convertible preferred outstanding; plus (iii) outstanding warrants and options to purchase Common Stock,
exercisable the fair market value of the Common Stock of the Company from time to time as set by the
Board of Directors of the Company). It further provides that if as of the end of any calendar quarter
commencing with the date of the second amendment and restatement of the agreement the Company is at
least two months in arrears as to its obligations to MCA, then an additional like amount of options as was
granted for such calendar quarter (i.e., another 1% of the Company issued and outstanding capital stock,
options and warrants) shall be issued to MCA in consideration for its services.

Advisory service and administrative fees payable to MCA were $840,840 and $369,600 as of December
31,2019 and 2018, respectively. In 2019, the Company issued options to designees of MCA for the purchase
0f 390,016 shares exercisable at $2.00 per share for 10 years following the date of grant to MCAs designees
for the. aforesaid 1% amount.

Capital and Venture Resources LLC Agreement

The Company has entered into an advisory agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 with Capital
and Venture Resources LLC, an affiliate of Sam Merchant (*CVR™) for the provision of financial advisory
services, including strategic transactions, joint ventures, licensing and M&A transactions (the “CVR
Agreement”). It calls for the provision of not more than 30 hours per month of services and has a term
ended December 31, 2024. It calls for payment of a base fee of $10,000 per month. Any services in excess
of the maximum monthly amount are to be provided only if mutually agreed to by the parties, and then, to
be provided on mutually agreeable rates of compensation. The CVR Agreement provides that in the event
that BioCurity or one of its affiliates engages in a sale, merger or other associated transaction during the
term of the Agreement, CVR is entitled to a fee of 6% of the transaction consideration, and further provides
that in the event of a break-up fee, a judgment or settlement in favor of the Company or some other fee
regarding an aborted transaction, then CVR is to receive one half of the proceeds from such fee or other
payment. It also provides for a tail of 24 months following termination in which the Company agrees to
either continue to fund the average monthly payments during the tail period or not enter into a transaction
with persons introduced to the Company by CVR without CVR’s prior written consent. It also contains an
indemnification provision and a prohibition against using contacts introduced by CVR or MCA to the
Company without CVR’s consent, except in instances where failure to use such contacts could result in
breach of contract with such contacts.

Financial advisory service fees payable to CVR were $132,000 and $11,000 as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Placement Agent Agreement
The Company has an exclusive placement agent agreement with Crescent Securities Group, Inc., a

FINRA member (the “Placement Agent™), and MerchantCass Advisors, LLC through November 2021
71



(“Placement Agent Agreement”). Nancy Cass, an affiliate of MerchantCass Advisors, LLC, is a registered
representative with the Placement Agent. The Company has agreed to pay the Placement Agent a cash fee
equal to 12% of the gross proceeds of equity or equity-linked securities, and a cash fee equal to 5% of the
gross proceeds raised from debt securities, as placed during the term of the Placement Agent Agreement. It
provides for a 24-month tail following termination of the Placement Agreement with respect to subsequent
debt or equity financings raised by the Company from entities introduced to it by the Placement Agent
during the term of the Agreement. The Placement Agent Agreement has customary language whereby the
Company agrees to maintain responsibility for its disclosures in connection with securities offerings and
provides broad indemnification to MCA and the Placement Agent with respect to matters other than due to
their willful misconduct or fraud. Placement fees incurred under the Placement Agent Agreement amounted
to $61,200 during 2019 and $42,957 during 2018. There were no placement fees payable to the Placement
Agent as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Patent Assignment Agreement

BioCurity and a newly formed Delaware LLC are assignees of the inventors of a provisional patent
filed in June 2020. The provisional patent subject matter is unrelated to radiation protection for cancer
patients. The Delaware LLC is owned by a family member of Sam Merchant, Chairman of the Board of
BioCurity. The business terms of this potential transaction for BioCurity have not been finalized and are
expected to be approved by the Board of BioCurity prior to a patent application being filed.

VALUATION

The Company is presently capitalized as set forth below. Based upon the 8,545912 fully-diluted
capitalization of the Company and the $4.25 per Share Offering price, this places a $36,320,126 fully-diluted
pre-money valuation on the Company. If one were to assume that the aggregate exercise price of the
outstanding options ($3,773,312) and warrants ($601,530) was to be applied toward a cashless exercise of
these underlying options and warrants at $4.25 per share assumed fair market value, this would reduce the
fully-diluted capitalization by $4,374,842 to a total of $31,945.284. The pre-money valuation of the
Company based solely upon issued and outstanding capital stock is $21,236,642 based upon the $4.25 per
Share Offering price. The Company reviewed public companies without an approved product for sale in the
biotech industry in setting its valuation and more importantly the stock price of shares sold by the Company
to retail investors in the last 12 months. The Company set its valuation without a formal-third party
independent valuation.

Number of

Shares
Preferred Stock (Series A to Series 7A+Super Voting)(1) 1,737,618
HCOMAMON .. oo sienusssnsanionsssnatasssossansansosnassaanssisasnntsnansanssssinssassasosssns 3.259.239
ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING: 4.996.857
Stock Options (CommON)(2) ..coucvieiriiiiiieieieiisissse s sasasiasians 2,362,055
CommOon WaTANTS.......couiiiiiiiiiiiinieciineecseesiaesesaeseanaesaseessasenns 1.187.000
TOTAL FULLY-DILUTED: 8.545912

72



(1) Comprised of shares of Series A, AA, AAA, AAAA, AAAAA, AAAAAA and 7A Preferred standing
on pari passu basis representing aggregate capital contributions of $3,821,774.00 total shown is rounded
up to nearest whole share. The Series A through Series 7A Preferred shares convert on 1:1 basis to
Common Stock, subject to equitable adjustment in the event of stock splits, stock dividends, or
extraordinary corporate transactions that alter the capital structure.

(2) The Company has a stock option plan (*Plan™) authorizing the issuance of up to 4,000,000 shares of
Common Stock; indicated amounts are options issued to date pursuant to the Plan.

PERKS
The 10% Bonus for StartEngine Shareholders

BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc. will offer 10% additional bonus shares for all investments that are
committed by StartEngine Crowdfunding Inc. shareholders who invested over $1,000 or made at least two
investments in StartEngine's own offerings.

This means eligible StartEngine sharcholders will receive a 10% bonus for any shares they
purchase in this Offering. For example, if you buy 100 shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock at
$4.25/ share, you will receive 110 Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock shares, meaning you'll own 110
shares for $425. Fractional shares will not be distributed and share bonuses will be determined by rounding
down to the nearest whole share.

This 10% Bonus is only valid during the investors eligibility period. Investors eligible for this bonus
will also have priority if they are on a waitlist to invest and the company surpasses its maximum funding
goal. They will have the first opportunity to invest should room in the Offering become available if prior
investments are cancelled orfail.

Investors will only receive a single bonus, which will be the highest bonus rate they are eligible
for. They will have the first opportunity to invest should room in the Offering become available if prior
investments are cancelled or fail. Investors will only receive a single bonus, which will be the highest
bonus rate they are eligible for.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
If we raise the Target Offering Amount of $9,996, we plan to use the proceeds as follows:
StartEngine Platform Fees

o $9,996

If we raise the Maximum Offering Amount of $599,998, we plan to use the proceeds from this

Offering as follows

StartEngine Platform Fees
o $50,000 (8%)
Marketing and Legal Fees for Regulation Crowdfunding Expenses
o $329.,998 (4.9%) estimated expenses costs related to Reg CF marketing and legal fees.
Operations and Working Capital
o $215,000 (36%) Operating expenses include contractor fees to MerchantCass and
its affiliates, rent, and general overhead, legal fees and fees for professional and
advisory services rendered.
Regulation A Expenses
o $150,000 (25%) estimated legal, accounting/auditor, marketing, staffing and other related
expenses
Seacoast Loan
o $155,000 (26%)

The Company may change its use of proceeds if our Board believes it is in the best interests of

the Company or the Maximum Offering amount is not raised.
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REGULATORY INFORMATION
Disqualification

No disqualifying events have been recorded with respect to the Company or its officers or
directors.

Annual reports

The Company will make annual reports available on its website.
Compliance failure

The Company has not previously failed to comply with Regulation CF.
Ongoing Reporting

The Company will file a report electronically with the SEC annually and post the report on its
website no later than April 29 (120 days after Fiscal Year End). Once posted, the annual report may be
found on the Company's website at www.biocurity.com (https://www.biocurity.com/annual-report/).
The Company must continue to comply with the ongoing reporting requirements until:

(1) it is required to file reports under Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act;

(2) it has filed at least one (1) annual report pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding and has fewer
than three hundred (300) holders of record and has total assets that do not exceed
$10,000,000;

3) it has filed at least three (3) annual reports pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding;

4) it or another party repurchases all of the securities issued in reliance on Section 4(a)(6) of the
Securities Act, including any payment in full of debt securities or any complete redemptionof
redeemable securities; or

(5) it liquidates or dissolves its business in accordance with state law.

COVID Relief
This offering is being conducted on an expedited basis due to circumstances relating to COVID-19 and
pursuant to the SEC’s temporary regulatory COVID-19 relief set out in Regulation Crowdfunding §227.201(z).

Expedited closing sooner than 21 days

Further, in reliance on Regulation Crowdfunding §227.303(g)(2) A funding portal that is an intermediary in a
transaction involving the offer or sale of securities initiated between May 4, 2020, and August 31, 2020, in
reliance on section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. 77d(a)(6)) by an issuer that is conducting an offering
on an expedited basis due to circumstances relating to COVID-19 shall not be required to comply with the
requirement in paragraph (e)(3)(i) of this section that a funding portal not direct a transmission of funds earlier
than 21 days after the date on which the intermediary makes publicly available on its platform the information
required to be provided by the issuer under §§227.201 and 227.203(a).
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UPDATES

Updates on the status of this Offering may be found at: https://www.startengine.com/
biocurity-pharmaceuticals-inc.

INVESTING PROCESS

See Exhibit E to the Offering Statement of which this Offering Memorandum forms a part.
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»Keiter

Your Opportunity Advisors

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Jupiter, Florida

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of BioCurity
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes
in stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

> Certified Public
Accountants & Consultants
4401 Dominion Boulevard
Glen Allen, VA 23060
T:804.747.0000 F:804.747.3632

www_keitercpa.com



Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Uncertainty Regarding Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the
Company will continue as a going concern. As described in Note 2 of the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and is depedent upon
future issuance of equity or other financing to fund ongoing operations, both of which raise
substantial doubt about it’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard
to these matters are also described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 3 to the consodliated financial statements, the Company adopted
Accounting Statements Update 2017-11, “Distingushing Liabilities from Equity” Topic (480). As a
result of the adoption an adjustment has been made to the beginning stockholders’ deficit as of
January 1, 2018. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Ktitee—

March 24, 2020
Glen Allen, Virginia



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2019 and 2018

£

2019
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalants $ 82215
Ofer current assets 9.960

2018

§ 167,281
10,213

Total current assets 72175
Equipment, net 200
Intangible assets, net 150,236

177,494

516

164,474

Total assets S 2261

Lishiises and Siockholders' Deficit

Current fabiliies:
Accourts payable § 1385118
Nots payable, net 153212
Total current kabibes 1,524.330

Stockholders' deficit:
Preferred stock, 20,000,000 shares authorized,

Saries A Stock, par value $0.00001; 510,615 shares issued

and outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018 5
Series AA Stock, per valua $0.00001; 300,000 shares issued

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018 3
Series AAA Stock, per valua $0.00001; 160,000 shares issued

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018 2
Series AAAA Stock, par valua $0.00001; 242,500 shares issued

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018 2
Series AAAAA Stock, par vale $0.00001; 300,000 shares issued

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018 3
Series AAAAAA Stock, par valua $0.00001; 100,000 shares issued

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018 1
Series 7A Stock, per value $0.00001; 124,494 shares issued

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018 1
Series FT-1 Stock, par value $0.00001; 15,000 and 0 shares issued

and outstanding at Dacamber 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
Series FT-2 Stock, par value $0.00001; 62,500 and 0 shares issued

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively 1
Series FT-3 Stock, par value $0.00001; 65,667 and 0 shares issued

and outstanding at Decembear 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively 1
Series V Stock, per valua $0.00001; 10 and 0 shares issuad

and outstanding at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively

Comman stock, per value $0.00001; 100,000,000 shares autharized;

3,727,756 shares issued; 3,027,756 shares outsianding &t

Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018
Additonal pac-in capital

Treasury stock, 700,000 shares at December 31, 2019 and 2018

Accumulated deficit
Total stockhalders' deficit

Total kabiiSes and slockholders' deficit

37
8,141,228

M
9,
(1,301,719

§ 607,784

172419
J— <

¥
6,814,170
[

(437.719)

S 22811

$ 342484

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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BioCurity Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Lacrthe Years Ended Dacembear 31 _2019 and 2018

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Share based compensation
Amortization
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Gain on disposal of equipment
Interest expense
Total other expenses

Net loss

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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2019 2018

$ - $ -
1,287,994 1,003,029
878,260 547,722
14,238 14,238
316 536
2,180,808 1,565,525
(2,180,808) (1,565,525)
- 3,555
(10.252) (8.923)
(10.252) (5.368)
$ (2,191,060 S_(1,570.893)
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BioCurity Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

£Locthe Years Ended Dacembar 31 2019 and 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Amortization expense
Depreciation expense
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Gain on disposal of equipment
Share based compensation
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Other current assets
Increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from disposal of equipment
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Capital contributions
Payments on note payable
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of

issuance costs
Net cash provided by financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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2019 2018

$ (2,191,060) $ (1,570,893)
14,238 14,238

316 536

1,291 1,291

- (3,555)

878,260 547,722

253 4,146

757,334 311,097
(539,368) (695.418)

- 15,999

- 15,999

- 366,350

(14,498) -

448,800 277,043
434,302 643,393
(105,066) (36,026)
167,281 203,307

$ 62,215 $ 167,281
$ 7.134 $ 7.632




BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

rganization and Nature of ration

BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc., a Delaware corporation, was incorporated on February 25, 2015,
and is a biotechnology company developing a patent protected nanoparticle drug candidate
designed to protect and treat normal tissue (both skin and internal tissue) from damage caused by
radiation therapy. The Company has not yet realized any revenues from its planned operations.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of BioCurity
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, BioCurity, Inc. (collectively, the “Company”).
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the
reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

h an h Equivalen
Amounts on deposit with financial institutions are classified as cash and cash equivalents.
Accounts maintained at commercial banks are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) for up to $250,000 per financial institution. Balances in these accounts may,
at times, be in excess of the FDIC limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such
accounts.

Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed over the
estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method. The estimated useful life for
computer equipment is 5 years. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged against
earnings in the year incurred. The cost and accumulated depreciation of assets sold or retired are
removed from the respective accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in earnings.

Intangibles
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed over
the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method. The estimated useful life

for patents and patent licenses is 15 years.

Fair Value Measurements
The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments reflects the amounts that the Company

estimates to receive in connection with the sale of an asset or paid in connection with the transfer
of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit
price). The fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the use of inputs used in valuation techniques is as
follows:



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 1 - Description of the Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,
continued

Fair Value Measurements, continued
Level 1 quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2 observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for
similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and
liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated
by observable market data;

Level 3 unobservable inputs reflect management's assumptions, consistent with reasonably
available assumptions made by other market participants. These valuations require significant
judgment.

The determination of where an asset or liability falls in the hierarchy requires significant judgment
and considers factors specific to the instrument.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method in accounting for income taxes. Under this
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for temporary differences between the tax
basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements,
using statutory rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the results of
operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded to
reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets unless it is more likely than not those assets
will be realized.

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 740-10-05, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes”, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s
financial statements. ASC 740-10-05 prescribes a two-step process for evaluating tax positions
taken, or expected to be taken, on a tax return. Step one is a determination as to whether it is
more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained, based upon the technical merits, upon
examination by the taxing authorities. If the tax position is expected to meet the more likely than
not criteria, the benefit recorded for the tax position equals the largest amount that is greater than
50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement of the respective tax position. Uncertain tax
positions require determinations and estimated liabilities to be made based on provisions of the
tax law which may be subject to change or varying interpretation. If the Company’s determinations
and estimates prove to be inaccurate, the resulting adjustments could be material to the
Company’'s future financial results. The Company is not currently under audit by any tax
jurisdictions.

The Company records interest and penalties related to income tax matters in its provision for
income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 1 - Description of the Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,
continued

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Warrant Classification: In July 2017, the FASB issued new guidance which changes the
classification analysis of certain equity-linked financial instruments, such as warrants, with down
round features. When determining whether certain financial instruments should be classified as
liabilities or equity instruments, a down round feature no longer precludes equity classification. As
a result, a freestanding equity-linked financial instrument no longer would be accounted for as a
derivative liability at fair value due to the existence of a down round feature. The new standard is
effective for the Company for periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and permits the use of
either full retrospective reporting to previous periods or the cumulative effect transition method.
Early adoption is permitted. The Company early adopted this standard during the year ended
December 31, 2019 under the full retrospective transition method (see Note 3).

Revenue Recognition: In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue Recognition from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). This standard modifies the guidance used to recognize
revenue from contracts with customers for transfers of goods or services and transfers of
nonfinancial assets, unless those contracts are within the scope of other guidance. The new
guidance eliminates all transaction and industry-specific accounting principles and replaces them
with a unified, five step approach. The Company early adopted Topic 606 as of January 1, 2018
under the full retrospective transition method. The adoption of Topic 606 did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and there were no adjustments
recorded to previously reported amounts.

Leases: In February 2016, the FASB issued a new accounting standard for leases that will impact both
lessees and lessors. Under the new standard, lessees will recognize lease assets and lease liabilities
on the balance sheet for all leases that extend beyond a one-year time period and that lessors will
recognize the majority of leases as sales type or direct financing leases for any lease that relinquishes
control of the leased asset to the lessee. The Company plans to adopt the new standard for the year
ending December 31, 2021, and does not expect that this pronouncement will have a material impact
on its consolidated financial statements.

N 2 — in ncern

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has negative working capital of $1,452,155. The
Company also incurred operating losses totaling $2,191,060 and $ 1,570,893 for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and has an accumulated deficit of $9,442,996 at
December 31, 2019. In order to meet its current obligations, management plans to raise
additional capital during 2020 to fund operations.

This uncertainty raises substantial doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going
concern. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis which assumes continuity of operations and realization of assets and liabilities in
the ordinary course of business. The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might result from this uncertainty.



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

N —Changein A nting Principl

In July 2017, the FASB issued new guidance which changes the classification analysis of certain
equity-linked financial instruments, such as warrants, with down round features. When
determining whether certain financial instruments should be classified as liabilities or equity
instruments, a down round feature no longer precludes equity classification. As a result, a
freestanding equity-linked financial instrument no longer would be accounted for as a derivative
liability at fair value due to the existence of a down round feature.

The warrants issued to consultant designees (see Note 7) include anti-dilution provisions
characterized as down round features. These warrants were previously accounted for as a liability
with the fair value of the warrant liability remeasured at each reporting date and the change in
liability recorded as other non-operating income or loss. As of and for the year ended December
31, 2018, the Company had recorded a warrant liability of $1,341,727 and a loss on warrant
valuation adjustment of $488,925 relating to these warrants prior to the change in accounting
principle.

Except for the down round features in the warrants, the warrants issued to consultant designees
would have been classified in equity. Thus, the Company elected to adopt the new guidance
noted above during the year ended December 31, 2019, and the comparative financial statements
of prior years have been adjusted to apply the new method retrospectively. The following financial
statement line items as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 were affected by the change
in accounting principle:

As Originally Effect of
Reported As Adjusted Change
Balance Sheet:
Other liabilities $ 780203 $ 780203 $ -
Warranty liability 1341727 - (1341.727)
Total current liabilities 2.121930 780203 (1341.727)
Preferred, common and treasury stock 47 47 -
Additional paid-in capital 6.625 965 6814170 188205
Accumulated deficit (8405 458) (7.251.936) 1153522
Total stockholders' deficit (1.779 .446) (437.719) 1341727
Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit $ 342 484 $ 342 484 $ -
Statement of Operations:
Operating loss $ (1565525) $ (1565525) $ -
Other income (expense) (494 293) (5368) 488 925
Net loss $ (2059818) $ (1570893) $ 488 925

As a result of the accounting change, the accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2018, decreased
from $6,345,640, as originally reported, to $5,681,043 under the new guidance.

-10-



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 4 — Equipment

Equipment consists of the following as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018
Computer equipment $ 8,576 $ 8,576
Accumulated depreciation (8,376) (8,060)
Total $ 200 $ 516

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $316 and $536,
respectively.

Note 5 — Intangibles

Intangible assets consist of the following as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018
Patents and patent licenses $ 213,574 $ 213,574
Accumulated amortization (63,338) (49,100)
Total $ 150,236 $ 164,474

Amortization expense for the next 5 years approximates $14,238 each year.

Note 6 — Note Payable

On December 21, 2016, the Company entered into a non-revolving note payable agreement with
Seacoast National Bank, for the principal sum of $350,000 at a fixed rate of 4% interest. The
Company can draw on the line for the first 24 months of the agreement. Payments during this
period are monthly interest only payments. Following the first 24 month period, the Company is
required to pay equal monthly payments of principal and interest based on a 10 year amortization
period. The entire balance is due and payable in full on December 21, 2020. The loan balance
may be prepaid without penalty. The note is secured by substantially all of the personal property
and equipment of the Company and an Economic Development Loan Pledge Agreement with the
Town of Jupiter, Florida.

At December 31, 2019, the note balance, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $1,290, is
$159,212. At December 31, 2018, the loan balance, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of
$2,581, is $172,419. Future maturities on the note payable consist of $160,502 during the year
ending December 31, 2020.

-11-



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation

mmon Stock
The Company has authorized the issuance of up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock with a
par value of $0.00001 per share. There were 3,727,756 shares issued and 3,027,756 shares
outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Pursuant to a common stock purchase agreement on October 29, 2018, Dr. Cheryl Baker sold
700,000 shares of common stock to the Company for nominal consideration. The transaction was
accounted for as a transfer of common shares to treasury stock.

ital Contribution
By a Capital Contribution Agreement dated as of December 13, 2018, Dr. Cheryl Baker agreed to
contribute approximately $366,400 to the Company in order to assist in funding ongoing
operations.

Treasury Stock
Pursuant to a common stock purchase agreement on October 29, 2018, Dr. Cheryl Baker sold
700,000 shares of common stock to the Company for nominal consideration.

Preferred Stock

The Company has authorized the issuance of up to 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a
par value of $0.00001 per share. The issued and outstanding classes of preferred stock are as
set forth below.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

During 2015, the Company issued 344,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series A Preferred Stock™) for $430,000, net of stock issuance costs of $51,600. Certain holders
exercised their warrants to purchase Series A Preferred shares during 2015 and 2016, including
85,000 shares in 2015 for $110,500, and 81,615 shares in 2016 for $106,100.

-12-



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation, continued

ries A Convertible Preferr tock. contin

Each share of the Company’'s Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of common
stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of common stock to be received upon
conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis into common stock at $1.25 per
share for those shares purchased directly from the Company and at $1.30 per share for those
shares purchased pursuant to exercise of warrants issued by the Company with a $1.30 exercise
price, subject to equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward
or reverse stock splits, stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the
Company'’s Certificate of Incorporation. The conversion of Series A Preferred Stock to common
stock is automatic upon: (i) the closing of a qualified public offering or (ii) the vote or written
consent of holders of at least a majority of the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock then
outstanding.

Each share of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of votes
equal to the number of shares of common stock into which each share is convertible using the
record date for determining the conversion rate.

Series A Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series A Preferred,
whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the Board. Dividends on the
Series A Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if declared by the Board.

Series A Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in preference to, any
distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of common stock, an amount
equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled
to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock or any other class
or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the Series A Preferred stock,
and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future class or series of Preferred Stock
designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Series A Preferred Stock, an amount of
consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any unpaid dividend. The Series AA
Preferred Stock, Series AAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAAA
Preferred Stock, Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock and Series 7A Preferred Stock are all on parity
with the Series A Preferred Stock as to proceeds from a Liquidation Event (all of such classes of
stock, including the Series A Preferred Stock are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Senior
Securities”).

-13-



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation, continued

ries AA Preferr nvertibl k

During 2016, the Company issued 300,000 shares of Series AA Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series AA Preferred Stock”) for $450,000. Each share of the Company’s Series AA Preferred
Stock is convertible into shares of common stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares
of common stock to be received upon conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis
at $1.50 per share, subject to equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for
subdivisions, forward or reverse splits, stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as
specified in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation. The conversion of Series AA Preferred
Stock is automatic upon the: (i) the closing of a qualified public offering, or (ii) the vote or written
consent of holders of at least a majority of the shares of the Series AA Preferred Stock then
outstanding.

Each share of the Company’s Series AA Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of votes
equal to the number of shares of common stock into which each share is convertible using the
record date for determining the conversion rate.

Series AA Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series AA Preferred
Stock, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the Board. Dividends
on the Series AA Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if declared by the Board.

Series AA Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in preference to, any
distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of common stock, an amount
equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series AA Preferred Stock shall be entitled
to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock or any other class
or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the Series AA Preferred stock,
and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future class or series of Preferred Stock
designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Series AA Preferred Stock, an amount of
consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any unpaid dividend.

Series AAA Preferr nvertible Stock

During 2016, the Company issued 160,000 shares of Series AAA Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series AAA Preferred Stock™) for $272,000.

-14 -



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation, continued

ries AAA Preferr nvertibl k. contin

Each share of the Company’s Series AAA Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of common
stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of Common Stock to be received upon
conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis at $1.70 per share, subject to
equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward or reverse splits,
stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the Company’s Certificate
of Incorporation. The conversion of Series AAA Preferred Stock is automatic upon: (i) the closing of
a qualified public offering, or (ii) the vote or written consent of holders of at least a majority of the
shares of the Series AAA Preferred Stock then outstanding.

Each share of the Company’s Series AAA Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of votes
equal to the number of shares of common stock into which each share is convertible using the
record date for determining the conversion rate.

Series AAA Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series AAA
Preferred, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the Board.
Dividends on the Series AAA Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if declared
by the Board.

Series AAA Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in preference to, any
distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of common stock, an amount
equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series AAA Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock or any
other class or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the Series AAA
Preferred stock, and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future class or series
of Preferred Stock designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Series AAA Preferred Stock,
an amount of consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any unpaid dividend.

ries AAAA Preferr. nvertible Stock
During 2016, the Company issued 242,500 shares of Series AAAA Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series AAAA Preferred Stock™) for $485,000.

Each share of the Company’s Series AAAA Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of Common
Stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of Common Stock to be received upon
conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis at $2.00 per share, subject to
equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward or reverse splits,
stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the Company’s
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BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation, continued

ries AAAA Preferr nvertibl k. contin
Certificate of Incorporation. The conversion of Series AAAA Preferred Stock is automatic upon: (i)
the closing of a qualified public offering, or (ii) the vote or written consent of holders of at least a
majority of the shares of the Series AAAA Preferred Stock then outstanding.

Each share of the Company’s Series AAAA Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of
votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share is convertible using
the record date for determining the conversion rate.

Series AAAA Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series AAAA
Preferred, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the Board.
Dividends on the Series AAAA Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if declared
by the Board.

Series AAAA Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in preference to, any
distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of common stock, an amount
equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series AAAA Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock or any
other class or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the Series AAAA
Preferred stock, and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future class or series
of Preferred Stock designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Series AAAA Preferred Stock,
an amount of consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any unpaid dividend.

ries AAAAA Preferr nvertibl k
During 2017, the Company issued 300,000 shares of Series AAAAA Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series AAAAA Preferred Stock”) for $960,000.

Each share of the Company's Series AAAAA Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of common
stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of common stock to be received upon
conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis at $3.20 per share, subject to
equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward or reverse stock
splits, stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation. The conversion of Series AAAAA Preferred Stock is automatic upon:
(i) the closing of a qualified public offering, or (ii) the vote or written consent of holders of at least
a majority of the shares of the Series AAAAA Preferred Stock then outstanding.

-16 -



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation, continued

ries AAAAA Preferr nvertibl k. contin
Each share of the Company’s Series AAAAA Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of
votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which each share is convertible using
the record date for determining the conversion rate.

Series AAAAA Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series AAAAA
Preferred, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the Board.
Dividends on the Series AAAAA Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if
declared by the Board.

Series AAAAA Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in preference to,
any distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of common stock, an
amount equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series AAAAA Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock or any
other class or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the Series AAAAA
Preferred stock, and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future class or series
of Preferred Stock designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Series AAAAA Preferred Stock,
an amount of consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any unpaid dividend.

ries AAAAAA Preferr nvertible Stock
During 2017, the Company issued 100,000 shares of Series AAAAAA Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock”) for $320,000.

Each share of the Company’'s Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of
common stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of common stock to be received
upon conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis at $3.20 per share, subject to
equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward or reverse stock
splits, stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation. The conversion of Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock is automatic upon:
(i) the closing of a qualified public offering, or (ii) the vote or written consent of holders of at least
a majority of the shares of the Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock then outstanding.

Each share of the Company’s Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of

votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share is convertible using
the record date for determining the conversion rate.
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BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation, continued

ries AAAAAA Preferr nvertibl k. contin
Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series
AAAAAA Preferred, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the Board.
Dividends on the Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if
declared by the Board.

Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in preference to,
any distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of common stock, an
amount equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock or any
other class or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the Series AAAAAA
Preferred stock, and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future class or series of
Preferred Stock designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock,
an amount of consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any unpaid dividend.

Series 7A Preferred Convertible Stock

During 2017, the Company issued 44,493.65 shares of Series 7A Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series 7A Preferred Stock™) for $177,975. During 2018, the Company issued 80,000 shares of
Series 7A Preferred Stock for $320,000.

Each share of the Company’s Series 7A Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of Common
Stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of Common Stock to be received upon
conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis at $4.00 per share, subject to
equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward or reverse stock
splits, stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation. The conversion of Series 7A Preferred Stock is automatic upon: (i) the
closing of a qualified public offering, or (ii) the vote or written consent of holders of at least a
majority of the shares of the Series 7A Preferred Stock then outstanding.

Each share of the Company’s Series 7A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of votes
equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share is convertible using the
record date for determining the conversion rate.

Series 7A Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series 7A Preferred

Stock, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the Board. Dividends
on the Series 7A Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if declared by the Board.
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ries 7A Preferr nvertible Stock. contin
Series 7A Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in preference to, any
distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of common stock, an amount
equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series 7A Preferred Stock shall be entitled
to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock or any other class
or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the Series 7A Preferred stock,
and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future class or series of Preferred Stock
designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Series 7A Preferred Stock, an amount of
consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any unpaid dividend.

Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock

In December 2018, the Company authorized the issuance of up to 500,000 shares of Fixed Term
Convertible Preferred Stock, divided into 2 series: FT-1 Shares (up to 187,500 shares to be
issued) and FT-2 Shares (up to 312,500 shares to be issued) with a par value of $0.00001 per
share. In April 2019, the Company authorized the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of Series FT-
3 Convertible Preferred Stock with a par value of $0.00001 per share. During 2019, the Company
issued 15,000 shares of Series FT-1 Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock for $60,000, 62,500 shares
of FT-2 Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock for $250,000 and 66,667 shares of FT-3 Fixed Term
Convertible Preferred Stock for $200,000. As of December 31, 2018, no shares of Fixed Term
Convertible Preferred Stock had been issued.

Each share of the Company’s Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible into shares
of Common Stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of Common Stock to be
received upon conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis into common stock at
$4.00 per share in the case of FT-1 and FT-2 Shares and $3.00 per share in the case of FT-3
Shares, subject to equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward
or reverse stock splits, stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the
Company'’s Certificate of Incorporation as amended to date (the “Certificate of Incorporation”). The
conversion of Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock to Common Stock is automatic upon: (i) the
closing of a qualified public offering (a “Public Offering”); (ii) the vote or written consent of holders
of at least a majority of the shares of the Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock then outstanding;
or (iii) in the event that the conditions to subparagraph (i) above are not met by June 30, 2020. The
number of shares converted in the event the conditions to subparagraph (i) are met is equal to the
product of 4 times the conversion rate then in effect divided by 85% of the price per share offered
in the Public Offering in the case of FT-1 Shares and by 75% of the price per share in the case of
FT-2 Shares. In the case of FT-3 Shares, the number of shares converted in the event the
conditions to subparagraph (i) are met is equal to the product of 3 times the conversion rate then
in effect divided by 50% of the price per share offered in the Public Offering. Any other conversion
to common stock would be at the original issue price for the Fixed Term Convertible Shares,
namely $4.00 per share of FT-1 and FT-2 Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock and $3.00 per
share of FT-3 Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock.

Each share of the Company’s Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the
number of votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share is
convertible using the record date for determining the Conversion rate.
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Fixed Term Convertible Preferr k ntin

Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Fixed
Term Convertible Preferred, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by
the Board. Dividends on the Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will
accrue only if declared by the Board.

Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock shareholders are entitled to receive, prior and in
preference to, any distribution of assets of surplus funds of the Company to any holders of
common stock, an amount equal to all declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series Fixed Term Convertible Preferred
Stock shall be entitled to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common
stock or any other class or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the
Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock, and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of
any future class or series of Preferred Stock designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the Fixed
Term Convertible Preferred Stock, an amount of consideration equal to the stated value of each
share, plus any unpaid dividend. It should be noted that the “Senior Securities” defined above are
senior to the Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock, which in turn is senior to the common stock.

ri F Convertible Preferr tock

In November 2019, the Company authorized the issuance of up to 305,882 shares of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock with a par value of $0.00001 per share through an offering under Regulation
Crowdfunding under the Securities Act. As of December 31, 2019, no shares of Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock had been issued. Subscriptions, which are revocable by investors, are held in escrow by
the Crowdfunding portal prior to a closing. As of December 31, 2019, approximately $50,000 of proceeds,
which is net of expenses charged by the Crowdfunding portal and related service providers, from
subscriptions were held in escrow for the benefit of the Company.

Each share of the Company’s Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of
Common Stock at the option of the holder. The number of shares of Common Stock to be received
upon conversion is calculated as convertible initially on a 1:1 basis as the conversion rate per
share, subject to equitable adjustment to the conversion rate to account for subdivisions, forward
or reverse stock splits, stock dividends or other extraordinary corporate events as specified in the
Company'’s Certificate of Incorporation. The conversion of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock
is automatic upon: (i) the closing of a qualified public offering, or (ii) the vote or written consent of
holders of at least a majority of the shares of the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock then
outstanding.

Each share of the Company’s Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the
number of votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share is
convertible using the record date for determining the conversion rate.

Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock holders are also entitled to receive dividends on the Series
CF Convertible Preferred Stock, whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared
by the Board. Dividends on the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will
accrue only if declared by the Board.
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ri F Convertible Preferr k ntin

In the event of any Liquidation Event, the holders of the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock
shall be entitled to be paid, before any distribution or payment is made upon any common stock
or any other class or series of capital stock of the Company designated to be junior to the CF
Convertible Preferred Stock, and subject to the liquidation rights and preferences of any future
class or series of Preferred Stock designated to be senior to, or on parity with, the CF Convertible
Preferred Stock, an amount of consideration equal to the stated value of each share, plus any
unpaid dividend. It should be noted that the “Senior Securities” defined above are senior to the CF
Convertible Preferred Stock, which in turn is senior to the common stock.

The Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock are all on parity with the Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock as to proceeds from a Liquidation Event (all of such classes of stock, including
the Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Parity
Securities”).

Series V Preferred Stock

In November 2019, the Company authorized the issuance of up to 20 shares of Series V Preferred Stock
with a par value of $0.00001 per share. During 2019, the Company issued 10 shares of Series V Preferred
Stock for $0.10. The Series V Preferred Stock was issued to BioCurity Controlling Shares Inc., a Delaware
corporation owned by Sam Merchant. Each share of Series V Preferred Stock shall be entitled to cast one
million (1,000,000) votes per share. The holders of Series V Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to receive
dividends. The Series V Preferred Stock shall rank junior to all other classes of Preferred Stock and senior
to the Common Stock of the Company.

Warrants Issued to Purchase Common Stock

The Company has outstanding warrants that were issued to Pierce Family Ventures, LLC (“Pierce”)
and Merchants Capital Trust, LLC ("MCT"), as designees of MerchantCass Advisors, LLC ("MCA”"),
in connection with the consulting agreement between the Company and MCA. Pierce and MCT are
affiliates of Nancy Cass and Sam Merchant, respectively, both of whom serve on the board of
directors of the Company. Under these warrants, each of Pierce and MCT have the right to
purchase, at any time during the warrant exercise term, up to 375,000 shares of common stock of
the Company (up to 750,000 shares in the aggregate), at a per share exercise price of $0.40. The
exercise price of these warrants is subject to a “down-round” anti-dilution adjustment if the
Company issues or is deemed to have issued securities at a price lower than the then applicable
exercise price of the warrants.

The Company also has outstanding warrants that were issued to MCT in connection with the
undertaking of Sam Merchant to serve as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company.
Under these warrants, MCT has the right to purchase, at any time during the warrant exercise
term, up to 437,000 shares of additional Common Stock, of the Company, at a per share exercise
price of $0.69.
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Based on the Company’s evaluation of the warrants under ASC 480 and ASC 815, all outstanding
warrants are classified as equity and are recorded at fair value at the grant date. There were no
warrants issued, exercised or cancelled during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
The weighted average exercise price was $0.52 per share at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to estimate the fair value of warrants at
grant date. This valuation model requires the use of highly subjective inputs and assumptions that
determine the fair value of stock-based awards, including the expected price volatility of the
Company'’s stock, the expected period during which the warrants will be outstanding, and the
estimated fair value of the Company’s common shares. In estimating the fair value of the
Company’s Common Stock for use in the Black-Scholes pricing model, the Company considers
several factors, including (i) the most recently completed arms-length sale of the Company's
stock, (ii) achievement of milestones set by the Company, (iii) market capitalizations of similar
publicly traded companies, (iv) precedent transactions, (v) financial projections and
(vi) discounted cash flows. Other valuation assumptions and other inputs include the following:

. Expected stock price volatility: There is no active market for the Company’s Common Stock
providing a basis to estimate the expected volatility of the Company’s stock prices for the
purpose of valuing warrants granted. Alternatively, the Company uses the historical
volatility of three publicly traded peer companies that represents the primary industry sector
within which the Company operates. When selecting its industry peer companies, the
Company considers the size, stage in the life cycle, type of products being sold, and
financial leverage of the peer companies in comparison to the Company.

. Expected term of warrants: The expected term of warrants represents the period of time
stock warrants are expected to be outstanding. The Company has concluded that its
historical experience does not provide a sufficient basis to estimate expected term and has
chosen to use the simplified method under ASC 718 for computing the expected term.
Under the simplified method, the expected option term is the average of the vesting period
and the original contractual term.

. Risk-free interest rate: The Company bases the risk-free interest rate on the interest rate
payable on U.S. Treasury securities in effect at the time of grant for a period that is
commensurate with the expected option term.

. Expected annual dividends: The estimate for annual dividends is zero because the
Company has not historically paid and does not intend to pay dividends on its Common
Stock in the foreseeable future.

Stock Incentive Plan

The Company has a stockholder-approved stock-based compensation plan, the 2015 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which provides for the grant of share options and shares for up to
4,000,000 shares of Common Stock.

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, the Company granted new
options to purchase 540,016 and 241,302 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.00
per share over a 10-yearterm.
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Stock Incentive Plan, continued

The Company determined the grant date fair value of the options granted using the Black Scholes
Method using the following assumptions:

2019 2018
Volatility 80.00% 85.41%
Risk Free Rate 1.92% 2.69%
Expected Term 10 Years 10 Years

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $878,260 during 2019 and
$547,722 during 2018. All options issued during 2019 and 2018 were fully vested upon issuance.
The weighted average estimated fair value of the options granted during 2019 and 2018 were $1.63
and $1.69 per share, respectively.

The following is a summary of the Company'’s stock option activity for the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018:

Weighted
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price
Outstanding Balance at January 1, 2018 1,358,283 S 1.30
Granted 241,302 2.00
Forfeited - -
Exercised - -
Outstanding Balance at December 31, 2018 1,599,585 1.69
Granted 540,016 2.00
Forfeited - -
Exercised - -
Outstanding Balance at December 31, 2019 2,139,601 $ 1.56

At December 31, 2019, the Company had options for 1,860,399 shares available for future
awards.
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The Company is subject to various claims and assessments in the ordinary course of business.
Management believes that resolution of any such matters will not have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company is subject to various federal, state and local regulations in the normal course of
conducting its business. The Company conducts an ongoing monitoring and compliance program
and records provisions for expected costs. Management is not aware of any matters related to
such regulations that it believes would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Office Lease
The Company has a lease agreement for office space in Jupiter, Florida through May 2020 for

$1,822 per month. The lease is renewed in three month increments at which time the monthly fee
is adjusted based on office space needed and number of tenants. In April 2019, the Company
entered into a new lease agreement for a corporate apartment that extends through July 5, 2020
and requires monthly rent of $2,990.

Note 9 — Related Party Transactions

Baker Employment Agreement
The Company has an employment agreement through September 2020 with Cheryl Baker which

provides for her to serve as CEO or such other title as the Board of Directors shall determine from
time to time. Atthe presenttime her role is as Founder and Chief Scientific Research Officer. Under
the employment agreement, base compensation is set by the Board of Directors for an amount
not greater than $80,000 per annum. She is entitled to a performance bonus in the discretion of
the Board of Directors of up to 50% of her base salary. The employment agreement calls for
disability payments of up to 90 days from the onset of disability. In the event that the Company
elects not to renew the employment agreement upon expiration of its initial or any renewal term,
then Dr. Baker would be entitled to one month of severance for each full year of employment time
served, subject to execution of a general release to the Company.
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MCA Agreement

The Company has an agreement with MerchantCass Advisors, LLC (“MCA”), an affiliate owned by
both the Chairman and a member of the Board of Directors and stockholders of the Company, to
render financial and business advisory services through December 31, 2022. The services
include, but are not limited to, advice and assistance with due diligence, working with the University
of Central Florida, assembly of management team, assisting with business strategy, working with
auditors, assistance in preparation of documentation, business plans and term sheets. Under the
agreement, the Company pays $350 per hour for services provided by MCA's principals, Sam
Merchant and Nancy Cass (lesser hourly rate if other service providers used), plus a 10%
administrative fee. In the event that the hours exceed 120 hours per month, MCA may increase
such rate to $400 per excess hour. The Company is also subject to late fees and interest on the
outstanding balance due MCA. Advisory service and administrative fees incurred under the MCA
agreement amounted to $609,840 and $546,900 during the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. Advisory service and administrative fees payable to MCA were $840,840 and
$369,600 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Compensation under the MCA Agreement includes stock options which are fully earned and vested
when granted. The agreement included an initial grant to purchase one million shares of the
Company’'s common stock at $1.30 per share. In addition, MCA is entitled to receive options to
purchase 1% of the “Base Amount” of the capital of the Company per calendar quarter for the term
of the agreement (each option comprised of 1% of the sum of: (i) issued and outstanding Common
Stock; plus (ii) the as converted to Common Stock shares with respect to convertible preferred
stock outstanding; plus (iii) outstanding warrants and options to purchase common stock,
exercisable at the fair market value of the Common Stock of the Company from time to time as set
by the Board of Directors of the Company. The MCA Agreement further provides that if as of the
end of any calendar quarter, the Company is at least two months in arrears as to its obligations to
MCA, then an additional like amount of options as was granted for such calendar quarter (i.e.,
another 1% of the Company issued and outstanding capital stock, options and warrants) shall be
issued to MCA in consideration for its services.

In 2019, the Company issued options to designees of MCA for the purchase of 390,016 shares
exercisable at $2.00 per share for 10 years following the date of grant to MCA'’s designees for the
aforesaid 1% amount. In 2018, the Company issued options to designees of MCA for the purchase
of 241,302 shares exercisable at $2.00 per share.
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Placement Agent Agreement
The Company has an exclusive placement agent agreement with Crescent Securities Group, Inc.,

a FINRA member (the “Placement Agent”), and MerchantCass Advisors, LLC through November
2021 (“Placement Agent Agreement”). Nancy Cass, an affiliate of MerchantCass Advisors, LLC,
is a registered representative with the Placement Agent. The Company has agreed to pay the
Placement Agent a cash fee equal to 12% of the gross proceeds of equity or equity-linked
securities, and a cash fee equal to 5% of the gross proceeds raised from debt securities, as placed
during the term of the Placement Agent Agreement. It provides for a 24-month tail following
termination of the Placement Agreement with respect to subsequent debt or equity financings
raised by the Company from entities introduced to it by the Placement Agent during the term of the
Agreement. The Placement Agent Agreement has customary language whereby the Company
agrees to maintain responsibility for its disclosures in connection with securities offerings and
provides broad indemnification to MCA and the Placement Agent with respect to matters other than
due to their willful misconduct or fraud. Placement fees incurred under the Placement Agent
Agreement amounted to $61,200 during 2019 and $42,957 during 2018. There were no placement
fees payable to the Placement Agent as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Capital and Venture Resources. LLC Agreement
The Companyhasenteredintoanadvisory agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 with Capital

and Venture Resources LLC, an affiliate of Sam Merchant (“CVR”) for the provision of financial
advisory services, including strategic transactions, joint ventures, licensing and M&A
transactions (the “CVR Agreement”). It calls for the provision of not more than 30 hours per
month of services and has a term ending December 31, 2024. It calls for payment of a base
fee of $10,000 per month. Any services in excess of the maximum monthly amount are to be
provided only if mutually agreed to by the parties, and then, to be provided on mutually
agreeable rates of compensation. The CVR Agreement provides that in the event that the
Company or one of its affiliates engages in asale, merger or other associated transaction during
the term of the Agreement, CVR is entitled to a fee of 6% of the transaction consideration, and
further provides that in the event of a break-up fee, a judgment or settlement in favor of the
Company or some other fee regarding an aborted transaction, then CVRis to receive one half of
the proceeds from such fee or other payment. It also provides for a tail of 24 months following
termination in which the Company agrees to either continue to fund the average monthly
payments during the tail period or not enter into a transaction with persons introduced to the
Company by CVR without CVR’s prior written consent. It also contains an indemnification
provision and a prohibition against using contacts introduced by CVR or MCA to the Company
without CVR’s consent, except in instances where failure to use such contacts could result in
breach of contract with such contacts. The Company is also subject to late fees and interest on
the outstanding balance due CVR. Financial advisory service fees incurred under the CVR
Agreement amounted to $132,000 during 2019 and $11,000 during 2018. Financial advisory
service fees payable to CVR were $132,000 and $11,000 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
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The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

2019 2018

Current

Federal $ - $ .

State - -
Total Current - -
Deferred

Federal 459,413 223,729

State 40,919 19,927
Total Current 500,332 243,656
Change in Valuation Allowance (500,332) (243,656)
Provision for Income Taxes $ - $ -

Net deferred tax assets consist of the following components as of December 31, 2019 and
2018:

2019 2018

Deferred Tax Assets

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 1,328,821 $ 1,044,046

Stock compensation 215,365 -

Other 192 -
Total Deferred Tax Assets 1,544 378 1,044,046
Valuation Allowance (1,544.378) (1,044,046)
Net Deferred Tax Assets $ - $ -

The Company has federal tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $5,548,000 as of
December 31, 2019 and Florida net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4,650,000 as of
December 31, 2019. The net operating loss carryforwards generated prior to January 1, 2018, if not
used to reduce taxable income in future periods, will begin to expire in 2034, for both federal and state
tax purposes. The net operating loss carryforward generated after December 31, 2017 will never expire
for federal tax purposes but can only reduce 80% of taxable income in future years.

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the future generation of taxable income during the periods in
which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal
of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and taxing strategies in making this
assessment. Based on this assessment, management has established a full valuation allowance
against all of the net deferred tax assets for each period, since it is more likely than not that all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018 increased by approximately $500,000 and $244,000, respectively.

-27-



BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Notes to Consolidated FinancialStatements

N 11— nt Even

Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 24, 2020, the date the consolidated
financial statements were available for issuance. Management has determined that the following
subsequent event required disclosure in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. During

2020, the Company received $194,057 in proceeds from the sale of 57,856 shares of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock.

-28-



EXHIBITCTO FORMC
PROFILE SCREENSHOTS



g Danac v

Lxb Q

S BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Because we befleve that fighting cancer & hard enough!

$0-00 rated o

0 Ourys Luft
Irnwators

% $36.3M
Equity Offered viluaticn
Equity $510.00
OMaring Type Mn Irvesment

INVEST NOW

This Offerirg & sligtle for the
Leritne

@ Watars O Joprter, FL BOTECHNCLOGY

tical company develo rugs 10 transform rackation tharagy. Our

BioCuriy i a biophan

MISSION IS 1O privent certain sice effects of radiation therapy for v patients, The side effects
range from burrs to the skin for breast cancer patients to preunonia for lung cancer pabents

Damage to healthy tesue o

wer patierts undergeoing radiation therapy Is a direct cause of these

e effects. The p pd drugs under de 1 BioCurity’s patented tec Aogy and

harve been precinically tested for multiple cancers Inchading breast, lung, head and neck, prostate

sovd colorectal cancer, Consistent wath cur precinical studies we inl 10 mitigate side effects of

radistion therapy wthout imparing the effectiveness of radistion treatment

Overviem Team Terms Updates Comments  Follom

Reasons to Invest

o Cur proposed drugs are intended 10 provide cost effective pratection for milions
of cancar patients every year from the side effects far cancer patents
undergong radiation therapy

® Seven issued US patents with fully pad license for =5 technology in the US as
well a8 international patents aowned by the Comparry for our technology when
patents are undergoing radiation combined with chematheragry

o EicCurity management is focused an meeting development mikestones of the
propased drug (Inchuding a growing P partfalio) and thereby increasing the
valuation of BioCurity for investors with funds that are rased

"Because we believe that fighting cancer
is hard enough"

OUR STORY

Radiation therapy is a common cancer
treatment that can have serious side
effects

Did you know that radiation therapy, just tke chemotheragy, can cause harmful
and medically detrimental side effects for patients with cancer?

Drugs that reduce side effects of chemotherapy have baen developad by major
pharmaceutical companies such as Amgen and GlaxoSmithKine. A supportive
care drug to meigate the side effects caused by radiation therapy for cancer
patierts is long overdue. it could transform essential radkation treatment for
ancer patients into a more tokerable theragy with fewer long-term negative
CoNsequUeNnCes.

Complications and side effects of radiation therapy we seek to reduce inchude

Cancers and Radiation Therapy Side Effects’*

* Beeast: Scarring of breasts, bilsters, open wounds, pain Yo o M e e S
P —
+ Head and Neck: Drying of mouth, (1oss of sabval, difficulty i *
and cther e burnine




pain o = - v
n = N
+ Lung: Scarring of the kngs [preumenia), skin burning, pain - - )
+ Prostate: nflammation of rectum, demage to winary bladder @ ——
(requernt painful urination], skin buming, pain )
+ Colorectal: Damage %0 bowel (tleeding of rectum], skin
buming, pain
ron, M. Aomiing e

2 Brey R 1 2 Pewae aod Chre Caoneas ARocsone 10 &  Terepy

3. Mwemaly. (on

> TVt oad Momogeren of Aot v e Dot 8

O
4 Pecck, Ve 1 3 TaT Grveee of TV SO bebern Acary Ong L oy et ty 3w AsScehosy

Mo Priwe Comoes. " Previwie Comoer. 15 GXVS 117

EicCurity Is lcoking to move forward In developing &5 propased drugs and

postively impact the cancer treatment process for millions of patients worldwide.

Imagine...if cancer patients no longer had to worry about
whether or not they were going to suffer from their
radiation treatment

THE PROBLEM

There is an unmet patient need to prevent
or mitigate the side effects of life-saving
radiation therapy

The medical care for these side
effects is estimated at $3 billion
annually in the US.

The lack of adequate trestment cptions avalable to prevent or mitigste the
damage o normal tissue Causes an unmet global need for milions of cancer
patierts. In 2018, $3 Bilion In the United States alone was billed by haspitals for
in-patient meadical care costs to treat medical complications caused by radiation
theragpy - and this does not indlude the emational costs endured by the cancer
patients and their families. With topical tissue damage, scarring of breasts, or
disfigurement of the bead and neck ares, cancer radiation leaves patients with

permanent damage
We believe the use of BioCurity’s technology would save bilions of dollars a year

spent for inpatient treatment of radiation therapy side effects by elimnating the

need for haspital stays globally.

THE SOLUTION

Preclinical studies completed and third-
party experts see promise

What we have in the pipeline
with BioCurity Pharmaceuticals
may be a really significant
addition to our toolbox.
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Radiation treatment far cancer Patients causes damage to cell DNA and narmal
cells die. This death of normal cell causes the side effects. The driver in the cell
death is the free radicals that are created by the radiation,

How it works

Eliminating Free radicals

BioCurity's proprietary technology is intended to eiminate these free

radicals, protecting the skin and healthy internal tissues from urwanced DNA
damage and the ensuing side effects- without interfening with the trestment of
cancer cells. Our first proposed drug is a topical for radkation dermatitis and wath
the support from a biotech venture ar as part of a joint venture with a pharma
compary, we believe we woulkd meet our goal to develop our proposed IV drug for
the prevention of intermal tssue radiation damage

Why Does Our Technology Work

* Radiation therapy creates free =iy
radicals that damage DNA and kill
both cancer and normal celis'

*  Our technology removes these
free radicals from the normal
cells®?

* Normal cells are therefore
protected while cancer cells are
still o yod by the
radiation treatment***
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Why our drug is needed now more than
ever

Healthcare services globally are in a imited supply and that has been
demaonstrated in today's fight against the COVID pandemic. There & no better time
to develop drugs that can reduce patient services Induding In-hospral stays and
save billions of heakhcare dollars annually. Cancer treatments and radiation
theragry are Not elective procedures and continue irrespective of the other
demands on hespitals and healthcare sendces.

THE PATIENT

Every patient with cancer undergoing
radiation therapy

Globally, approximately & million cut of the approximate 12 milbon newly
diagnosed cancer patients receive radiation therapy annually and 1 milkon of
them Ive in the United Szates. BioCurity's proposed drugs have the potential to
significantly reduce radiation skde effects for a plurality of these patients. Cancer
Survivors reated with radiation theragry for pain management, recurring o
secondary cancers are iso projected 1o benedit from aur drug products,

Global cancer
incidence
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The global radiation therapy market was valued at $5 Bilkon in the year 2019 and
i expected to resch $10 Bilkon by year 2025 with the Asia-Padfic region the
fastest growing regional market, The global radiation therapy markes forecasts are
primarily supperted by the increasing incdence of cancer and redated mortality
globally and 8 higher demand and increasing sdoption of radiation therapy for the
treatment of various types of cancers,

Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4

The first target market we intend 1o test with our topical drug & breast cancer
patients. & & expected to provide 3 material decrease in government and
insurance funds required to treat skin damage of burns, scars, and bisters:

* EBreast cancer is leading cancer in the United States for women, and it is

estimated that 1 8 women in the United States will develop breast cancer

over the lifetime

Radiation treatment for breast cancer can be used after lumpectomy, after

mastectorry, for pain management, for managing metastatic breast cancer

and for treating locally advanced breast cancer,

Some farm of skin damage has been referenced in the scenific lrerature to

nflict meavly off women with breast cancer who are receiving rodiation

therepy.

© The short term and long term skin damage assodated with radiaticn therapy
for breast cancer patents indude locakzed burning and bisters that can
often be permanent, open wounds, extrems sweling and tendermess of the
breast and surrcunding ymph nodes, and permanent scars.

THE BUSINESS MODEL

Increasing the attractiveness to capital
markets

With a fully paid kcense for its technology that is freely transferable and growing
International patent portfolio, BloCurity is well situated for collaborative
transactions with pharmaceutical strategic groups. We work with a kean team of
professionals compared 1o many Biotech companies, Consudtants are utlized to
reduce the burn rate during this graweh process. We antkipate as the market in
biotech typically demonstrates, valustion increases as the product progresses
through dinical development as the safety and efficacy data would have significant
appeal to cther pharmaceutical companies. Favorable ext strategies for biotech
comparves include proceeding with dinical development up through a
demanstration of clinical efficacy and then lcensing the product or soliciting an
acguiskian.

Management has made efforts to structure the comparry with multiple exit
strateges along the path of growth, to enabie it 1o consicker cpportunities at any
point along its growth curve. BioCurity has audted financial statements to be
transaction ready with & full corporate diligence room.

HOW WE ARE DIFFERENT

Striving to be an effective and FDA
approved drug for the prevention of
radiation dermatitis

BioCurity and &s drug development and chnical consuants, believe its proposed
topkal drug Is reasonable to manufacture, and If proven safe and effective can be
marketed efficiently, and may be reimbursable as a supportive care product. The
Qurrently available treatments used 1o manage side effects from radiation have
Imited effectiveness and a large number of potential cancer patkents represent a
significant and global unmet need and tremendous value propasition for
BioCurity's proposed topical drug and other potential drugs such as the N
formulation for the protection of internal tissues.




Prescribed over the counter
products have demonstrated
limited efficacy for preventing or
mitigating radiation dermatitis.
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THE VISION

Improving the quality of life for cancer
patients and survivors undergoing
radiation therapy worldwide

Ower the next three years, given adequate funding we wil be working 1o dinically
develop our topkcal product for breast cancer patients. We Ingend to bulld out a
management team, engage in-house consultarts from the drug industry and
execute the produdt development acthities reguired to submit the Investigational
New Dvug Application for a breast cancer product.

While our immediate focus is developing a new investigational topical product for
breast cancer radiation theragry, we have greater aspirations. With the
establshment of efficacy for breast cancer then additional dinical trisfs with cur
topial product for other cancers could begin Eventually, with a joint venture with
apharma comparny or support from a bictech venture fund, we aim to develop an
IV fermulation of our product designed to protect the intermal tssue from
radiation

BloCurity’s Topical Product- Pipeline
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BioCurity’s IV Product - Pipeline®
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OUR TEAM

A strong management team and roster of
advisors

BioCurity has built @ world-class team, balanding decades of expenence in scence,
business operatians, international, and kegalbanking experience.

Dr. Cheryt Baker Ph.D., the scentific founder, performed the prechnical
development and testing alongside radiation ancologists, medical oncologists, and
others in the madical communiy. She has published more than 45 paerreviewed
manuscripts, book chapters, and artides. Charman of the Board, Sam Merchant
brings expertise in structuring and negatiating transactions glabally in
Bictechnology, Pharmaceutical RAD in the production, manufacturng, and
distribution of products provides value-added for BioCurity’s overal dinical
development goaks. Executive baard member Nancy Cass, Esq, uses her depeh of
knowdedge in trarsactional and securities law to make certain BicCurity is
transaction-ready and the due diigence and corporate govemance is properdy
performed and managed.

BicCurity is also guided by a group of expert third-party advisors with substantial



CXPENence N 3l PNASES O Orug CeveODMenT and the DIOLECH INoUSTrY - they are
our very dedicated Consultants and Advisors - MDs, PhDs, MBAs, with decades of
Bictech experience.

WHY INVEST

Join us in transforming radiation therapy
for cancer patients

BioCurity is sharing its story and reaching the non-accredited rvestors who can
Now become a part of BioCurity’s investment family. With adequate funding, we
can contirue to develop BioCurity's drugs and meet the demand for a product that
can trarsform the radiation therapy experience by limiting radistion theragy side
effects.

There is a pent-up demand for 8 supportive care product to transform and
improwe outcomes for cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy by reducing
and preventing side effects. BloCurty's goal Is to have available its product to
support all cancer patients undergoing radistion therapry and develop a drug to
improve the guality of life &5 a cancer patient and cancer Surivor
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Dr. Cheryl Baker

Director and Scientific Founder
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Offering Summary
Company : BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Corporate Address . 110 Front Street, Suite 300, jupiter,
T FL33477
Offering Minimum @ $8,996.00

Offering Maximum : $599,9%8.00
Mini A . $510.00
(per investor)
Terms
Offering Type - Equity
Security Name Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred
Stock
Minimum Number of Shares 21352
Offered “
Maximum Number of Shares
Offered 141,176
Price per Share - $4.25
Pre-Money Valuation © $36,320,126.00

Perks
*Maairram Number of Shares Offered sebyject to scjuatrent for borun shares. See Zomun info befow

Ihe 39% Sonys for

BoCurity Pharmaceuticals nc. wil offer 10% addional bonus shares for sl imwstments that are comeited
by SsanErgne Cromdbending Inc. sharehohkdens who imeested cwer $1.000 O Mdde 1 Rk WO Frasitiments
N LartEagine’s own offen ngs

This means ekgbie SLanEngne sharsholders wil receive 3 10% Bonus for anry shares they purchase in this
offering For example, i you buy 100 shares of Serkes 2 CF Corversbie Preferred y
Wil recense 110 Series 2 CF Comwartitiie Preferred Stock, meaning you/d own 110 shares for $425, Fractional
shares will not be dhurituted and share boruses will Be determinad by rounding dosn to the nasrest shole
whare

This 10% Bones is onfy vabd during the invesiors o gitdiy period Investons ekgbie for this bonus wil dlso
e pricety I they 316 0N 3 WaEEST 1D iraest 3nd the CMAIny SUrpesses ks madmum fundieg goal They
Wil hawe the Srst OppaMunky 3 irwest showkd rSom in the o¥ering bacome avallabile ¥ prior investments
are canceled or tyl

Frenstors mil only recenw & srgle Sonua, which wil be the highest bosun rate they are eligisle for.

Irregular Use of Proceeds
The Company might incur reguly Lse o
over $10,000 Salary paymenss made 10

I Proceeds hat may ndude bt are ot Smited (o the following
o' el friend or refative.

| SHOW MORE |

Risks

A cromdiunding Irvestment imaohws risk. You should not imvest any fends in tha o¥ering unkas you can
afized to kawe your entire invessment. In making an meesment decaion, Imantors mut rely 20 thelr own
examination of the auer and the terma of the offering, iscluding the meets and rnks imvched. Thne

rises hare not been receemmended of apprewed by amy federsl or state secuntan commason o
reguatony sutonty. Ferthermore, e authares hise ot pasied upen the scosricy or adequacy of the
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US. Seaunnes and Exchange Commsson has 10T (Mo on INOSendent Geoemination That these securiies
e exermgn from regsiaton
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Updates

Uty PROnmaceuticals nc. 1o get notfed of future updaes!
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Script for BioCurity Presentation at the Angels+Entrepreneurs Retreat on
February 22, 2020 in Miami, Florida

Oral presentation was given by Dr. Cheryl Baker, PhD — Scientific Founder and
Director, BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Script
Good afternoon,

I'd like to thank you all for allowing me to provide a quick overview of why
BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc. was established and our mission.

And | am Dr. Cheryl Baker, the Scientific Founder.

If you would please allow me an opportunity to see a show of hands of who in
this room knows someone who has undergone radiation therapy for their cancer
treatment? ...pause...thank you.

We are developing a drug to prevent cancer patients from being burned during
radiation treatment.

Out of the 18 million newly diagnosed cancer patients globally each year, 6
million will receive radiation therapy annually. And 1 million live in the United
States. And this does not include the cancer survivors who may return for more
treatment.

In the US alone, 3 billion dollars is spent treating the medical complications
resulting from radiation therapy — and this does not include the emotional costs.

Cancer Does Not Discriminate — and neither does BioCurity. We embrace the
global community and believe in supporting all cancer patients.

The institutions who have taken part in the discovery of our technology is
University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, University of Central Florida,
former MD Anderson Cancer Center affiliate in Orlando. And our preclinical
studies on our technology have been published in scientific peer reviewed
journals.

We have tested cancers successfully preclinically on animal models. In models of
breast, lung, head and neck, prostate and colorectal.

And what have we proven with our technology?

That when delivered to animals they live longer even when exposed to high
doses of radiation. No toxicity was observed with our technology when



administered at a 1000 times the effective dose. Radiation therapy remained
effective with our technology and drug candidates. And our technology alleviated
the side effects of radiation therapy.

Why and how does our technology work?

When radiation hits cells, it creates free radicals that damage the DNA. It does
this at the cancer cells and the normal cells.

Our technology is based on an active ingredient of cerium oxide nanoparticles
that removes the free radicals primarily in the normal cells.

And the normal cells are therefore protected from DNA damage while the cancer
cells are still destroyed by the targeted radiation treatment.

We are going to lead our efforts with our topical product for breast cancer
patients. The topical product is designed to stop the burns from radiation, the
blistering, the open wounds and the permanent scarring that these patients
experience from their radiation treatment.

Radiation treatment for breast can be given after lumpectomy, mastectomy. It
can be used for pain management. It can be used to manage metastatic breast
cancer. And certainly for treating locally advanced breast cancer.

Breast cancer is a global issue.

Leading cause of cancer death among women. 2 million new cases of breast
cancer. In 2018 most common cancer for women in 140 of 184 countries.

And in the US, 1 in 8 women will be diagnosed in their lifetime with breast
cancer. In 2019 30% of newly diagnosed cancers in women was breast cancer.
And 3 million live in the US today with a history of breast cancer

Our topical drug as indicated earlier is designed as a first indication for breast
cancer. We have met with the FDA and filed our Pre-IND and we undergone pilot
manufacturing for our topical drug.

Other indications that our drug could potentially be involved in, is head and neck
cancer, prostate cancer, colorectal cancer and lung cancer.

In 2018, an estimated 2 billion was billed by hospitals in the US for in-patient
medical care costs to treat skin damage called skin dermatitis.

We also have the ability with adequate funding to develop an IV formulation for
protecting the internal tissue.



Lung cancer patients experience fluid in the lung and pneumonia. Head and
neck, loss of taste and speech from the radiation therapy. Prostate and
colorectal cancer patients, inflammation, damage and bleeding of the rectum.

Our IV drug has the potential to be put in all of those indications and in 2018, 1.3
billion was billed by hospitals to treat the medical care costs related just for head
and neck cancer complications from radiation treatment.

Our IP consists of an IP license for 7 non-royalty US patents which are fully paid
and freely transferable.

International patents are pending in 11 countries, covering patients receiving
radiation therapy combined with chemotherapy.

We have a patent issued in China and we have claims allowed in Russia and
Europe.

There is a pent up demand for a supportive care product for cancer patients so
that radiation therapy does not induce these side effects. It's a well -defined
market of an unmet clinical need.

After meeting with the FDA on our topical product we received positive
responses from them regarding our manufacturing and clinical development
plans.

The projected value inflection points are in the near future with a potential Reg A
Tier 2 filing.

As | stated earlier our IP license is paid in full and freely transferable.
There has been scientific validation to promote strategic partners and future
capital raise options.

And we have raised about 5 million in cash and 2 million in non-dilutive funding
before this offering.



STARTENGINE SUBSCRIPTION PROCESS (Exhibit E)
Platform Compensation

e As compensation for the services provided by StartEngine Capital, the issuer is required to
pay to StartEngine Capital a fee consisting of a 6-8% (six to eight percent) commission
based on the dollar amount of securities sold in the Offering and paid upon disbursement
of funds from escrow at the time of a closing. The commission is paid in cash and in
securities of the Issuer identical to those offered to the public in the Offering at the sole
discretion of StartEngine Capital. Additionally, the issuer must reimburse certain
expenses related to the Offering. The securities issued to StartEngine Capital, if any, will
be of the same class and have the same terms, conditions and rights as the securities being
offered and sold by the issuer on StartEngine Capital’s website.

Inf ion Regarding Leneth of Time of Offeri

e Investment Cancellations: Investors will have up to 48 hours prior to the end of the
offering period to change their minds and cancel their investment commitments for any
reason. Once within 48 hours of ending, investors will not be able to cancel for any reason,
even if they make a commitment during this period.

e Material Changes: Material changes to an offering include but are not limited to: A
change in minimum offering amount, change in security price, change in management,
material change to financial information, etc. If an issuer makes a material change to the
offering terms or other information disclosed, including a change to the offering deadline,
investors will be given five business days to reconfirm their investment commitment. If
investors do not reconfirm, their investment will be cancelled and the funds will be
returned.

Hitting The T coal Early & Q bscrioti

e StartEngine Capital will notify investors by email when the target offering amount has hit
25%, 50% and 100% of the funding goal. If the issuer hits its goal early, and the minimum
offering period of 21 days has been met, the issuer can create a new target deadline at
least 5 business days out. Investors will be notified of the new target deadline via email
and will then have the opportunity to cancel up to 48 hours before new deadline.

e Oversubscriptions: We require all issuers to accept oversubscriptions. This may not be
possible if: 1) it vaults an issuer into a different category for financial statement
requirements (and they do not have the requisite financial statements); or 2) they reach
$1.07M in investments. In the event of an oversubscription, shares will be allocated at the
discretion of the issuer.

e [f the sum of the investment commitments does not equal or exceed the target offering
amount at the offering deadline, no securities will be sold in the offering, investment
commitments will be cancelled and committed funds will be returned.

e [f a StartEngine issuer reaches its target offering amount prior to the deadline, it may
conduct an initial closing of the offering early if they provide notice of the new offering
deadline at least five business days prior to the new offering deadline (absent a material
change that would require an extension of the offering and reconfirmation of the
investment commitment). StartEngine will notify investors when the issuer meets its



target offering amount. Thereafter, the issuer may conduct additional closings until the
offering deadline.

Minimum and Maximum Investment Amounts

e Inorder to invest, to commit to an investment or to communicate on our platform, users
must open an account on StartEngine Capital and provide certain personal and non-
personal information including information related to income, net worth, and other
investments.

e Investor Limitations: Investors are limited in how much they can invest on all
crowdfunding offerings during any 12-month period. The limitation on how much they
can invest depends on their net worth (excluding the value of their primary residence) and
annual income. If either their annual income or net worth is less than $107,000, then
during any 12-month period, they can invest up to the greater of either $2,200 or 5% of the
lesser of their annual income or net worth. If both their annual income and net worth are
equal to or more than $107,000, then during any 12-month period, they can invest up to
10% of annual income or net worth, whichever is less, but their investments cannot exceed
$107,000.
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State of Delaware
ctme.
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STATE OF DELAWARE
CERTIFICATE OF MERGER OF
FOREIGN CORPORATION INTO

A DOMESTIC CORPORATION

Pursuant to Title 8, Section 252 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, the
undersigned corporation executed the following Certificate of Merger:

FIRST: The name of the surviving corporation is STOCURITY ACQUISITION, INC. to

be amended upon merger to BIOCURITY, INC. s Delaware Wwﬂ“ﬂ. and the name
of the corporation being merged into  this survm corporation  is
BIOCURITY, INC. RIDA

corporation.

SECOND: The Agreement of Merger has been approved, adopted, certified, executed
and acknowledged by each of the constituent corporations pursuant to Title 8 Section 252
of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

THIRD: The name of the surviving corporation is BIOCURITY ACQUISITION, INC. to
be amended upon merger to BIOCURITY, INC, . a Delaware wwm.
FOURTH: The Cenificate of Incorporation of the surviving corporation shall be its
Certificate of Incorporation. (1f amendments are affected please set forth)

FIFTH: The authorized stock and par value of the non-Delaware corporation is
20,000,000 Common at $0.001; 5,000,000 Preferred at $0.001

February 24, 2015 for socounting

SIXTH: The merger is to become effective On purposes oaiy
SEVENTH: The Agreement of Merger is on file at 6696 Engram Road

New Smyrna Beach, FL 32169 , an office of
the surviving corporation.

EIGHTH: A copy of the Agreement of Merger will be furnished by the surviving
corporation on request, without cost, to any stockholder of the constituent corporations.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said mwm"eapauioa has caused this centificate to be

sog\ed by an authorized officer, the 26th day of February = AD,
By. s/ Cheryl H. Baker
Authorized Officer

Name: Dr. Cheryl H. Baker, CEO
Print or Type

Title:_CEQ




Delaware

The First State

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT
COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF “"BIOCURITY HOLDINGS,
INC.”, CHANGING ITS NAME FROM "BIOCURITY HOLDINGS, INC." TO
"BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS INC.", FILED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE
SEVENTH DAY OF FEBRUARY, A.D. 2018, AT 5:34 O CLOCK P.M.

A FILED COPY OF THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN FORNARDED TO THE

NEW CASTLE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEEDS.

Authentication: 202114387
Date: 02-08-18

5698079 8100
SRN 20180818422

You may verify this certificate online at corp delbwar e gowauthver shem|




ey STATE OF DELAWARE
- Pl Number $698479 CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

The corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware does hereby certify:

FIRST: That pursuant to the written consent of the Board of Directors of
BioCurity Holdings, Inc., resolutions were duly adopted setting forth proposed
amendments of the Certificate of Incorporation of said corporation, declaring said
amendments to be advisable and referring said amendments to the stockholders of said
corporation for consideration thercof, The resolutions setting forth the proposed
amendments are as follows:
RESOLVED, that the Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation be amended by
changing Article 1. so that, as amended, said Article shall be and read as follows:

The name of the Corporation is BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS

INC.

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation be
amended by changing Article IV, so that, as amended, said Article shall be and read as
follows:
The total number of shares which the Corporation shall have the authority to issue
are:
100,000,000 shares of Common stock, $.00001 par value per share, and
20,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $.00001 par value per share.

SECOND: That the amendments to the Certificate of Incorporation herein certified have
been duly adopted by written consent of the Board of Directors and the stockholders of
the corporation in accordance with the provisions of Sections 228 and 242 of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

217829292



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said corporation has caused this certificate 10 be signed as
of February 7, 2018.

217829292



Delaware

The First State

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT
COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF “BIOCURITY
PHARMACEUTICALS INC.”, FILED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE TWENTY-FIRST
DAY OF NOVEMBER, A.D. 2018, AT 10:56 O CLOCK A.M.

A FILED COPY OF THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN FORWARDED TO THE

NEW CASTLE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEEDS.

Authentication: 203951903
Date: 11-21-18

5698079 8100
SRN 20187758455

You may verify this certificate online at corp delbwar e gowauthver shem|




State of Delaware
Secrvtary of State
Division of Corporations
Delivered 10:5 AM 11212018
FILED 1%:56 AM 11212018
SR OISTISMSE - File Namber SOy

AMENDMENT TO CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

(Adopted pursuant to Section 242 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware)

A. That the Corporation was originally incorporated under the laws of the State of
Delaware by huwm«muuo&ahmw
ds-u-u-yn.ms.-a-m--ummm»cmd
wmwuo&«ummdhummmzum

Preferred Stock:

Class of Preferred Stock Filing Date
Scnies A Convertible Preferred Stock 04222015
Scries AA Convertible Preferred Stock . 040672016
Series AAA Convertible Preferred Stock ... e 102016
Amended and Restated Series AAA Convertibie Preferred  Stock —— T, T3
Scries AAAA Convertible Preferred Stock . 09082016
Series AAAAA Convertible Preferred Stock .o 017202017
Secries AAAAAA Convertiblc Preferred Stock e 06072017
Serics 7A Convertible Preferred St0ck ..o v I132017
(collectively, the “Existing Centificate™).

B muuam«uwmmumm
resolutions certain amendments to the Existing Certificate, such amendments
bh“d.&hﬂ“dh%dh%.‘*ﬁq
the Mdht«pﬂu.nﬂﬂumﬂdﬁm&u
uunnxuumamAmmmMuua
amendment sct forth in below and not less than 50.1% of the shares of Series AA

C. mumc«uaumuw—un—h
amm«um«mmumw&r—.

)  Mandatory Conversion. On the first 10 occur of: (i) twenty (20)
business days afler a “Stockholder Vote™ (as defined below): (ii) the date of the
“bykﬁq-,-.“w-ﬂ.hm




W the shares of Senes A Preferred Stock shall be automatically
mbﬁ-tcdﬂud(:a—u&nt“bhm
d&*dhd&AWMﬂhum
times the Conversion Rate in cffect at the ime; and

(1)  the accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares of Series A
Preferred Stock shall be automatically converted into the number of shares
deMcﬂu(ﬂu-ﬂdﬂwdw
dividends, divided by the Stated Value: times (b) the Conversion Rate in
effect at the time.



h“‘bhl&;c(ﬂhhd&h“dﬁm

hnﬁ-.“«“nﬁ-“dthuwu

(the “Mandatory Conversion Datc™), the remaining shares of Serics AA Preferred

M.-:u-nwmuh.m-m“
accrued dmvidends ™ coaverted (a

any .-d‘ automatically “Mandatory

) the shares of Secrics AA Preforred Stock shall be
automatically converted mto the number of sharcs of Common Stock equal
.h“cﬂh‘cd”dkﬂ.Mwah
cach Holder imes the Conversion Rate in cffect at the time; and

(i)  the accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares of Series AA
Preferred Stock shall be automatically converted into the number of shares
dh“ﬂu(ﬂ&“d-ﬁmdqﬁ
dividends, divided by the Stated Value: times (b) the Conversion Rate in
cffect at the time.

A “Stockholder Vote™ for purposes of this Section 4(b), means the affirmative vote
of the Holders of not less than 50.1% of the then outstanding shares of Series AA
Preferred Stock pursuant to this Scction 4. If a Mandatory Conversion occurs, the
Company and the Holder shall follow the procedures for Coaversion set forth in
this Section 4. provided. however, that the Holder shall not be required 10 send the
Conversion Notice contemplated by Scction 4(d). Any accrued and unpasd
dividends which the Company has clected not convert in a Mandatory Conversion
shail be paid m cash or immedhiately available funds at the closing of the Mandatory
Conversion.™

E. That these amendments 1o the Certificate of Incorporation have been duly adopted
n accordance with Section 242 of the General Corporation Law.

ITHE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation has been
executed by a duly authorized officer of this corporation on this 21st day of November, 2018,

Cheryl H.
Secretary

[Signature Page 10 Amendment to Series A and Series AA Certificates of Amendment]
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Delaware

The First State

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT
COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION OF “BIOCURITY
PHARMACEUTICALS INC.”, FILED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE TWENTY-
SEVENTH DAY OF NOVEMBER, A.D. 2019, AT 1:23 O CLOCK P.M.

A FILED COPY OF THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN FORWARDED TO THE

NEW CASTLE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEEDS.

Authentication: 204112451
Date: 12-02-19

5698079 8100
SRN 20198340421

You may verify this certificate online at corp delbwar e gowauthver shem|




State of Delaware

Secrvtary of State
Divisien of Corperations
:;‘::'::‘l:g’:’ CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS,
B SEDOE - St AN RIGHTS AND PREFERENCES

of
SERIES CF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
of
BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS INC,

Pursuant to Section 151 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law

BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Delaware (the “Company™), hereby certifies that the following resolutions were duly
adopted on November 27, 2019 by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board™) pursuant
to the authority of the Board as required by Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority granted to the
Board in accordance with the provisions of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, the Board
hereby authorizes a series of the Company’s previously authorized Preferred Stock, par value of
$.00001 per share (the “Preferred Stock™), and hereby states the designation and number of shares,
and fixes the relative rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof as follows (together
the “Certificate of Designations).

. DESIGNATION AND AMOUNT.

The shares of preferred stock created by this designation consists of an aggregate of Three
Hundred Five Thousand Eight Hundred Eighty-Two (305,882) shares of Preferred Stock, all of
which are designated Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series CF Convertible Preferred
Stock™), which are convertible into Common Stock following Reg A Qualification (as hereinafter
defined) as hereafter provided in “Conversion” below. The face amount of the Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock shall be Four Dollars and Twenty-Five Cents ($4.25) per share.

2. DIVIDENDS.

The Holders (each a “Holder™ and collectively, the “Holders™) shall be entitled to receive
dividends (“Dividends™) on the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock at the rate paid on the
Company's Common Stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Common Stock™), whenever funds
are legally available and when and as declared by the Board. Dividends on the Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will accrue only if declared by the Board.

3. PRIORITY.

(a)  Payment upon Dissolution, Etc. Upon the occurrence and continuance of: (i) any
insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings, or any receivership, liquidation, reorganization or other
similar proceedings in connection therewith, commenced by the Company or by its creditors, as
such, or relating to its assets, not stayed or dismissed within sixty (60) days after the filing or
initiation of the proceedings; or (ii) the dissolution or other winding up of the Company, whether
total or partial, whether voluntary or involuntary and whether or not involving insolvency or



bankruptcy proceedings; or (iii) any assignment for the benefit of creditors or any marshaling of
the material assets or material liabilities of the Company; or (iv) any: (A) consolidation or merger
of the Company, in which the sharcholders of the Company prior to such transaction do not
possess, immediately following such transaction, securities representing at least fifty percent
(50%) of the voting power of the surviving entity (other than a consolidation or merger in which
the Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in any reclassification of, or change
in, the outstanding Common Stock and which does not result in a change of ownership of any
outstanding Common Stock or Preferred Stock); (B) sale of all or substantially all of the
Company's assets or (C) sale (whether through one sale or multiple sales during any period of time
after the date hereof) by the stockholders of the Company of an aggregate of fifty percent (50%)
of the voting power of the Company (a “Liquidation Event™), no distribution shall be made to the
holders of any shares of capital stock (other than Parity Securities or Senior Securities (as defined
below)) of the Company unless prior thereto each Holder shall have received the Liquidation
Preference (as defined below) with respect to each share of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock
then held by the Holder; provided, however, in the event of a Liquidation Event under Section
3(a)iv) hereof, the Holders, by affirmative vote of Holders holding a majority of the issued and
outstanding shares of Series A, Series AA, Series AAA, Series AAAA. Series AAAAA, Series
AAAAAA and Series 7A Preferred Stock and Series FT-1 Preferred Stock, Series FT-2 Fixed
Term Preferred Stock, Series FT-3 Preferred Stock and Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock
voting together as if one class, may elect to waive the provisions of this Section 3(a) with respect
to such Liquidation Event. Such waiver shall be binding on all Holders.

In the event that upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, the assets available for
distribution to the Holders and to the holders of the Parity Securities are insufficient to pay the
Liquidation Preference with respect to all of the outstanding shares of Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock and of the Parity Securities, such assets shall be distributed ratably among such
shares in proportion to the ratio that the Liquidation Preference payable on each such share bears
to the aggregate liquidation preference payable on all such shares. “Senior Securities™ means any
Preferred Stock of any series which shall, if the amounts payable thereon in liquidation are not
paid in full, be entitled to share ahead of the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock in any
distribution of assets, and shall include the Series A Preferred Stock, Series AA Preferred Stock,
Series AAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAAA Preferred Stock,
Series AAAAAA Preferred Stock and Series 7A Preferred Stock. “Junior Securities™ means the
shares of Common Stock and the shares of any other class or series of equity securities of the
Company which (by the terms of the Certificate of Incorporation or of the instrument by which the
Board, acting pursuant to authority granted in the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from
time to time, shall fix the relative rights, preferences and limitations thereof) shall be subordinated
or junior to the rights of the Holders upon a Liquidation Event. “Parity Securities™ means the
shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock, Series FT-3 Fixed Term Preferred Stock, Series
FT-2 Fixed Term Convertible Stock and Series FT-1 Fixed Term Convertible Preferred Stock and
the shares of any other class or series of equity securities of the Company which (by the terms of
the Centificate of Incorporation or of the instrument by which the Board, acting pursuant to
authority granted in the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from time to time, shall fix the
relative rights, preferences and limitations thereof) which shall be on parity to the rights of the
Holders upon a Liquidation Event.



(b)  Liguidation Preference. The “Liquidation Preference™ with respect to a share of
Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall mean an amount equal 1o the Stated Value of such
share, plus any unpaid Dividends with respect thereto.

ibuti ' | iqui Preference. After payment to the
Holdasofﬂnehqmduwn?nfuwemdpumeumdnhoﬂaxofmy?ﬂuymoﬂhe
liquidation preference of the Parity Securities, the entire remaining assets and funds of the
Company legally available for distribution, if any, shall be distributed among the holders of the
Junior Securities.

(d)  Ranking. The Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock will rank with respect to
rights upon a Liquidation Event: (i) senior to any Junior Securities, as they exist on the date hereof
or as the Junior Securities may be constituted from time to time; (ii) on a parity with any Parity
Securities as the Parity Securities may be constituted from time to time; and (iii) junior to any
Senior Securities that may be issued from time to time.

4. ONV, ON.

(a)  Right to Convert. Subject to the limitations contained in Section 4(g) below, and
the adjustments in Section § below, each Holder shall have the right to convert at any time and
from time to time, each of his, her or its shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock into the
number of fully-paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock, free and clear of any liens,
claims, preemptive rights or encumbrances imposed by or through the Company (the “Conversion
Shares™), as is computed in accordance with the terms hereof (a “Conversion™). At least twenty
(20) days before any Liquidation Event, the Company shall deliver a notice to each Holder of
Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock setting forth the principal terms of the anticipated
Liquidation Event at its address as shown on the stock records of the Company or such other
address as any such party shall deliver to the Company in writing. Such written notice shall include
a description of the amounts that the Company, in its reasonable judgment, estimates would be
paid to Holders under Section 3(a) above upon the Liquidation Event and shall be certified by the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, its President or Chief Executive Officer. No later than
fifteen (15) days after delivery of the notice, each Holder may deliver an election to the Company
notifying the Company that the Holder desires to convert such Holder's shares of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 4(a), and, if no such clection is delivered to
the Company and such Liquidation Event occurs, such Holder's conversion rights with respect to
the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall terminate, and such Holder shall receive only such
amounts as are provided for under Section 3(a) above. Any material modification to the terms of
a Liquidation Event shall entitle the Holder to additional notice and conversion rights hereunder
and any conversion previously made by such Holder on the basis of the terms of the Liquidation
Event prior to such material modification may be rescinded by the Holder during the period such
Holder is entitled to make a conversion election hereunder. In the event of a material modification
to the terms and conditions of the Liquidation Event, the Company shall provide a modified notice
to each Holder (a “Modified Notice™) setting forth the principal terms of the anticipated
Liquidation Event, as modified. Thereafier, each Holder shall have the right, within fifteen (15)
days after delivery of the Modified Notice, to deliver an election to the Company that the Holder
desires to convert such Holder's shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to this
Section 4(a). During this fificen (15) day period (and only during this fifteen (15) day period), any



prior election previously made by a Holder to convert the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock
held by such Holder may be rescinded by the Holder. If a Holder has clected to convert his shares
of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock, such election shall continue to be valid notwithstanding
a material modification unless the election is expressly rescinded by the Holder by written notice
delivered to the Company within fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Holder of a Modified Notice.
If no notice of conversion is received by the Company with respect to a Holder either within fifteen
(15) days after delivery of the initial notice with respect to the Liquidation Event or within fifteen
(15) days after delivery of the Modified Notice, if applicable, the Holder's conversion rights with
respect to the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall terminate and such Holder shall only
receive such amounts as are provided under Section 3(a) above. Notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary, any conversion hereunder shall be contingent upon closing of the transaction which
constitutes the Liquidation Event giving rise to such conversion rights. In the event a Liquidation
Event is abandoned or does not occur within sixty (60) days of the notice or latest Modified Notice
relating to such Liquidation Event, then: (i) those Holders who have elected to convert shares of
Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to such notice or Modified Notice shall have the
right to rescind such election or conversion, as the case may be: and (ii) the right to convert shares
of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock into Common Stock in accordance with this Section 4
shall be restored in full.

(b)  Mandatory Conversion. On the first to occur of: (i) twenty (20) business days after
a “Stockholder Vote™ (as defined below); (ii) the passage of time to July 1, 2020; (iii) delivery to
the Company with respect to a proposed offering pursuant to Regulation A of a notice of
qualification from the Securities & Exchange Commission (“SEC™) that the offering statement of
the Company has been qualified by the SEC (a “Reg A Qualification,” with the offering of any of
such shares being a “Reg A Offering” and the initial price per share of which shares of Common
Stock are offered per the Reg A Offering being the “Reg A Offering Price™); or (iv) the listing of
the Common Stock of the Company for trading on a national or regional securities exchange of
any country in the world (the date of such first occurrence herein referred to as the “Mandatory
Conversion Date"”), the remaining shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock then held by
cach Holder together with, in the Company’s sole discretion, any accrued and unpaid dividends
shall be automatically converted (a “Mandatory Conversion™) as follows:

(i) except for the occurrence of a Reg A Offering (which is addressed per the
terms of Section 4(b)(iii) below), the shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall
be automatically converted into the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the
product of the number of shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock held by each
Holder times the Conversion Rate in effect at the time; and

(ii)  regardless of whether the Mandatory Conversion is as a result of the
occurrence of a Reg A Offering in accordance with Section 4(b)(iii) below or otherwise in
accordance with Section 4(b)(i) above, the accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares of
Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall be automatically converted into the number of
shares of Common Stock equal to: (a) the amount of such accrued and unpaid dividends,
divided by the Stated Value; times (b) the Conversion Rate in effect at the time; and

(iii)  in the event that a Reg A Offering has occurred on or before July 1, 2020
and prior to any of the other Mandatory Conversion events set forth above, then in such



event cach share of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall be automatically into the
number of shares of Common Stock equal to number of shares of Common Stock equal to
the product of the number of shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock held by each
Holder time the Conversion rate then in effect (e.g. if no change in the Conversion Rate,
then each Holder will receive one share of Common Stock for each share of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock).

A “Stockholder Vote™ for purposes of this Section 4(b), means the affirmative vote of the Holders
of not less than 50.1% of the then outstanding shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock
pursuant to this Section 4. If a Mandatory Conversion occurs, the Company and the Holder shall
follow the procedures for Conversion set forth in this Section 4: provided, however, that the Holder
shall not be required to send the Conversion Notice contemplated by Section 4(d). Any accrued
and unpaid dividends which the Company has elected not convert in a Mandatory Conversion shall
be paid in cash or immediately available funds at the closing of the Mandatory Conversion.

Res i D rsion. The Company
Mludlﬁm«mandkeeplvﬂhbleouofiu wlhodudbutuniuuedsh.uofCommon
Stock, free from any preemptive rights, solely for the purpose of effecting Conversions hereunder,
the number of its shares of Common Stock (the “Reserved Amount™) as shall from time to time be
sufficient to effect the Conversion of the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock. If the Company
shall issue any securities or make any change in its capital structure which would change the
number of Conversion Shares deliverable upon the Conversion of the outstanding shares of Series
CF Convertible Preferred Stock, the Company shall at the same time also make proper provision
s0 that thereafter there shall be a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock authorized and
reserved, free from any preemptive rights, for the Conversion.

(d)  Conversion Notice. In order to convert shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred
Stock, or any portion thereof, the Holder shall send by “Courier” (as hereinafter defined), or
facsimile transmission (with a hard copy to follow by first class mail) at least one (1) business day
before the Holder wishes to effect a Conversion (the “Conversion Date™): (i) a notice of conversion
to the Company and to its designated transfer agent, if any, for the shares of Common Stock (the
“Transfer Agent”) stating the number of shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock to be
converted, the amount of Dividends accrued but unpaid on the shares of Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock then held by the Holder up to and including the Conversion Date, the applicable
Conversion Rate and a calculation of the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the
Conversion (a “Conversion Notice™) and (ii) a copy of the certificate or certificates representing
the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock being converted. The Holder shall thereafier send the
original of the certificate or certificates by overnight mail to the Company. In the case of a dispute
as to the calculation of the Conversion Rate or the number of Conversion Shares issuable upon a
Conversion, the Company shall promptly issue to the Holder the number of Conversion Shares
that are not disputed and shall submit the disputed calculations to its independent accountants
within two (2) business days of receipt of the Holder's Conversion Notice. The Company shall
cause its accountants to calculate the Conversion Rate as provided herein and to notify the
Company and the Holder of the results in writing no later than two (2) business days following the
day on which it received the disputed calculations. The accountants’ calculation shall be deemed
conclusive absent manifest error. The fees of the accountants shall be borne by the Company.
Delivery by Courier shall be the date of actual delivery to the office of the Transfer Agent of a



Conversion Notice sent by the Holder via Federal Express or other nationally recognized courier
service (a “Courier™).

(¢)  Number of Conversion Shares; Conversion Rate. Each share of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible, pursuant to a Conversion, into duly and validly issued,

fully paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock at a rate of one (1) share of Common Stock
for each share of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment as set forth below
(this rate, as adjusted from time to time, the “Conversion Rate™), except as otherwise provided to
the contrary in Section 4(bXiii) above.

i i gend. Upon receipt of
aConvemonNomeplnmnowlbove.theCommyshdl noluerﬂnndnclonof
business on the later to occur of: (l)thethkd(l")hlsmdayfollowmglheConvmaoanm
forth in the Conversion Notice; and (ii) the business day following the day on which the original
certificate or certificates representing the shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock being
converted are received by the Company (the “Delivery Date™), issue and deliver or caused to be
delivered to the Holder the number of Conversion Shares as determined hercunder. Each
certificate representing the Conversion Shares shall bear the following legend:

THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE FEDERAL OR APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF BY THE HOLDER EXCEPT PURSUANT TO (I) AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT FILED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED, WITH RESPECT THERETO OR (1I) IN ACCORDANCE WITH EXEMPTIONS
FROM REGISTRATION UNDER ALL FEDERAL AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES
LAWS. IF REASONABLY REQUESTED BY THE COMPANY, HOLDER SHALL FURNISH
TO THE COMPANY AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO
THE COMPANY THAT SUCH SALE, TRANSFER OR DISPOSITION DOES NOT REQUIRE
REGISTRATION UNDER ANY FEDERAL OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAW,

(g)  No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon
the Conversion of any Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock. Upon any Conversion, in lieu of
any [ractional share otherwise issuable in respect of the aggregate number of shares of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock of any Holder that are converted, the Holder shall be entitled to receive
an amount in cash (computed to the nearest cent, with one half cent rounded upward) equal to the
same fraction of the current value of one share of Common Stock, as conclusively determined by
the Board in its sole and absolute discretion. If more than one share of Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock is surrendered for Conversion at one time by or for the same Holder, the number
of full shares of Common Stock issuable upon Conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis
of the aggregate number of shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock surrendered.

5. ADRJUSTMENTS TO CONVERSION RATE.

(a)  Adjustment. From and after the date hereof, the Conversion Rate is subject to
adjustment from time to time as provided below in this Section 5(a).



(i) If the Company sets a Determination Date with respect to the payment of,
or the making of, a dividend or other distribution in shares of Common Stock or other
equity securities, or any indebtedness or other securities convertible into equity securities,
with respect to its shares of Common Stock or other equity securities, or any indebtedness
or other securities convertible into equity securities, (including by way of reclassification
of any of its shares of Common Stock), the Conversion Rate in effect on the day following
the Determination Date shall be increased by multiplying the Conversion Rate in effect on
the Determination Date by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be:

the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the
Determination Date, excluding the effect of the dividend or distribution, plus the
total number of shares of Common Stock (including the number of shares of
Common Stock into which such equity securities, indebtedness or other securities,
may be converted) constituting the dividend or other distribution;

and the denominator of which shall be:

the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the Determination Date,
excluding the effect of the dividend or distribution.

For the purposes of this Section S, the number of shares of Common Stock at any time
outstanding (A) shall include, in addition to outstanding shares of Common Stock, the
number of shares of Common Stock into which the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock,
or any of the Company's other equity securities, indebtedness or other securities are
convertible; (B) shall include the number of shares of Common Stock into which any of
the Company’s vested options or warrants (including warrants exercisable for equity
securities or indebtedness convertible into shares of Common Stock) are then convertible;
and (C) shall not include treasury shares. For the purposes of this Section S, the number of
shares of Common Stock constituting the dividend or other distribution shall include, if
applicable, shares of Common Stock represented by cash issued in lieu of fractional shares
of Common Stock. The increase in the Conversion Rate will become effective on the day
following the Determination Date. The “Determination Date™ means, with respect to any
dividend or other distribution, the date fixed for the determination of the holders of shares
of Common Stock or other equity securities of the Company entitled to receive the dividend
or distribution.

(ii)  If outstanding shares of Common Stock are subdivided or split into a greater
number of shares of Common Stock, or combined into a lesser number of shares of
Common Stock, the Conversion Rate in effect on the day following such split or
combination shall be increased in the case of a split, or decreased in the case of a
combination, by multiplying the Conversion Rate in effect on the date of the split or
combination by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be:

the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after
the split or combination;

and the denominator of which shall be:



the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the split
or combination, excluding the effect of such split or combination.

(iii)  All adjustments to the Conversion Rate will be calculated to the nearest
1/100th of a share of Common Stock. No certificate or other notice of an adjustment in the
Conversion Rate will be required unless the adjustment would require an increase or
decrease of at least one percent in the Conversion Rate; provided, however, that any
adjustments which by reason of this Section S(a)(iii) are not required to be made shall be
carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. All adjustments to
the Conversion Rate shall be made successively.

(b) Just i solidati rger. If there shall occur any
(l)cnpiulwumammlmﬁﬁalimofdnshmofComcaSmkauhamhy
securities of the Company, or (ii) consolidation, merger or other business combination of the
Company with or into another corporation or other entity in which the Company is the surviving
entity (each, an “Organic Change”), each outstanding share of Series CF Convertible Preferred
Stock shall thereafter be convertible into the number of shares or other securities or property to
which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon conversion of each
share of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock would have been entitled upon the Organic Change.
Appropriate adjustment (as determined by the Board) shall be made in the application of the
provisions hereof with respect to the rights of the Holders so that the provisions hereof (including,
without limitation, provisions with respect to changes in and other adjustments of the Conversion
Rate) shall thereafier be applicable, as nearly as reasonably practicable, in relation to any shares
or other property thereafter deliverable upon the conversion of the Series CF Convertible Preferred
Stock.

(¢)  Centificate as 10 Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or
readjustment of the Conversion Rate with respect to the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock
pursuant to this Section S, the Company, at its expense, shall compute such adjustment or
readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and prepare and furnish to each holder of Series
CF Convertible Preferred Stock a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and
showing in detail the facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based. The Company
shall, upon the written request at any time of any Holder, furnish or cause to be furnished to such
Holder a like certificate setting forth (a) such adjustment and readjustment, (b) the Conversion
Rate, and (¢) the number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other property
which at the time would be received upon the conversion of a share of Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock.

6.  YOTING RIGHTS.

(a)  General. Except as otherwise provided by law or by this Section 6, the Holders and
the holders of shares of Common Stock shall vote as one class in any and all matters with respect
to which holders of shares of Common Stock have voting or consent rights. Each share of Series
CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to cast the number of votes equal to the number
of Conversion Shares into which a share of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock is then
convertible; provided, however, that any fraction of a vote shall be rounded up or down, as the
case may be, to the nearest whole vote. The Conversion Rate to be used in connection with the



foregoing shall be the Conversion Rate in effect on the date fixed for the determination of holders
of shares of Common Stock entitled to vote on the matter.

So long as shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Company
shall not, without first obtaining the approval of the Holders of not less than a majority of the then
outstanding shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock, voting as a single class: alter, repeal
or change the rights, preferences or privileges of the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock so as
to adversely affect the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock, except in connection with the
creation of: (i) any securities senior to the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock, or (ii) Parity
Securities;

(b)  Subject to the consent of the Board of Directors of the Company, the rights,
designations and/or preferences of the Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock may be amended or
modified from time to time upon the affirmative vote of the Holders of not less than 50.1% of the
then outstanding shares of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock.

7. MISCELLANEOUS.

(a)  Transfer of Series CF Convertible Preferred Stock. Subject to any agreed upon
restrictions on transfer, upon any sale, transfer or disposition, the Company shall, promptly
following the return of the certificate or certificates representing the shares of Series CF
Convertible Preferred Stock that are the subject of the sale, transfer or disposition, issue and deliver
1o the transferee a new certificate in the name of the transferee.

(b)  Lost or Stolen Certificate. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence of the loss,
theft, destruction or mutilation of a certificate representing shares of Series CF Convertible
Preferred Stock, and (in the case of loss, theft or destruction) of indemnity or security reasonably
satisfactory to the Company, and upon surrender and cancellation of the certificate if mutilated,
the Company shall execute and deliver to the Holder a new certificate identical in all respects to
the original certificate.

(¢)  Notices. All notices, demands or other communications given hereunder shall be
in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered in person or when delivered
to the office of the recipient by bonded courier service (including but not limited to Federal
Express) to the Company as follows: 110 Front Street, Suite 300, Jupiter, Florida 33477; with a
copy to via bonded courier and email to: (i) MerchantCass Advisors, LLC, ¢/o Sam Merchant, PO
Box 4527 Suwanee, Georgia 30024; (ii) MerchantCass Advisors, LLC ¢/o Nancy Cass at the
Company's address and via email at njcass@msn.com, or merchantcassadvisors@gmail.com; and
(iii) Taft Stettinius & Hollister LLP, Atn. Mitchell D. Goldsmith, Esq., 111 E. Wacker Suite
2800, Chicago, IL 60601 ~mgoldsmith@taftlaw.com.

(d)  No Impairment. The Company will not, by amendment of its Certificate of
Incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution,
issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or
performance of any of the terms to be observed or performed hereunder by the Company, but will
at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all the provisions of this Certificate of



Designations and in the taking of all such action as may be advisable or appropriate in order to
protect the rights of the Holders against impairment.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has exccuted this Certificate of Designations as
of the 27 day of November, 2019.

BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

x St by

26125105.6



Delaware

The First State

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT
COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION OF “BIOCURITY
PHARMACEUTICALS INC.”, FILED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE SEVENTH DAY

OF JULY, A.D. 2020, AT 5:47 O CLOCK P.M.

5698079 8100
SR# 20206107452

You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml

Authentication: 203243872
Date: 07-08-20




State of Delaware
Secretary of State
Division of Corporations
Delivered 035:47 PM 07072020
FILED 05:47 PM 07072020
SLIONINEL - Felhmber SO0 CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS,
RIGHTS AND PREFERENCES
of
SERIES 2 CF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
of
BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Pursuant to Section 151 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law

BioCurity Pharmaceuticals Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Delaware (the “Company™), hereby certifies that the following resolutions were duly
adopted on July 7, 2020 by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) pursuant to the
authority of the Board as required by Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority granted to the
Board in accordance with the provisions of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, the Board
hereby authorizes a series of the Company’s previously authorized Preferred Stock, par value of
$.00001 per share (the “Preferred Stock™), and hereby states the designation and number of shares,
and fixes the relative rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof as follows (together
the “Certificate of Designations).

1 DESIGNATION AND AMOUNT.

The shares of preferred stock created by this designation consists of an aggregate of One
Million Four Hundred Eleven Thousand Seven Hundred Sixty Five (1,411,765) shares of Preferred
Stock, all of which are designated Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock™), which are convertible into Common Stock following “Reg A
Qualification™ (as hereinafter defined). The stated value of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred
Stock shall be Four Dollars and Twenty-Five Cents ($4.25) per share (the “Stated Value™).

e DIVIDENDS

The Holders of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock (each a “Holder™ and collectively,
the “Holders™) shall be entitled to receive dividends (“Dividends”) on the Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Stock at the rate paid on the Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.00001 per share
(the “Common Stock™), whenever funds are legally available and when and as declared by the
Board. Dividends on the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock are not cumulative and will
accrue only if declared by the Board.

3. PRIORITY.

(a) Payment upon Dissolution. Etc. Upon the occurrence and continuance of: (i) any
insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings, or any receivership, liquidation, reorganization or other
similar proceedings in connection therewith, commenced by the Company or by its creditors, as
such, or relating to its assets, not stayed or dismissed within sixty (60) days after the filing or
initiation of the proceedings; or (ii) the dissolution or other winding up of the Company, whether
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total or partial, whether voluntary or involuntary and whether or not involving insolvency or
bankruptcy proceedings; or (iii) any assignment for the benefit of creditors or any marshaling of
the material assets or material liabilities of the Company; or (iv) any: (A) consolidation or merger
of the Company, in which the shareholders of the Company prior to such transaction do not
possess, immediately following such transaction, securitics representing at least fifty percent
(50%) of the voting power of the surviving entity (other than a consolidation or merger in which
the Company is the continuing entity and which doesnot result in any reclassification of, or change
in, the outstanding Common Stock and which does not result in a change of ownership of any
outstanding Common Stock or Preferred Stock); (B) sale of all or substantially all of the
Company's assets or (C) sale (whether through one sale or multiple sales during any period of time
after the date hereof) by the stockholders of the Company of an aggregate of fifty percent (50%)
of the voting power of the Company (a “Liquidation Event”), no distribution shall be made to the
holders of any shares of capital stock (other than Parity Securities or Senior Securities (as defined
below)) of the Company unless prior thereto each Holder shall have received the Liquidation
Preference (as defined below) with respect to each share of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred
Stock then keld by the Holder; provided, however, in the event of a Liquidation Event under
Section 3(a)iv) hereof, the Holders, by affirmative vote of Holders holding a majority of the issued
and outstanding shares of Series A, Serics AA, Series AAA, Series AAAA. Serics AAAAA,
Serics AAAAAA and Series 7A Preferred Stock and Serics 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock
voting together as if one class, may elect to waive the provisions of this Section 3(a) with respect
to such Liquidation Event. Such waiver shall be binding on all Holders.

In the event that upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, the assets available for
distribution to the Holders and to the holders of the Parity Securities are insufficient to pay the
Liquidation Preference with respect to all of the outstanding shares of Series 2 CIF Convertible
Preferred Stock and of the Parity Securitics, such assets shall be distributed ratably among such
shares in proportion to the ratio that the Liquidation Preference payable on cach such share bears
to the aggregate liquidation preference payable on all such shares. “Senior Securities” means any
Preferred Stock of any series which shall, if the amounts payable thercon in liquidation are not
paid in full, be entitled to share ahcad of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock in any
distribution of assets, and shall include the Series A Preferred Stock, Series AA Preferred Stock,
Scriecs AAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAA Preferred Stock, Series AAAAA Preferred Stock,
Serics AAAAAA Preferred Stock and Series 7A Preferred Stock.  “Junior Securities™ means the
shares of Common Stock and the shares of any other class or series of equity securities of the
Company which (by the terms of the Certificate of Incorporation or of the instrument by which the
Board, acting pursuant to authority granted in the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from
time to time, shall fix the relative rights, preferences and limitations thereof) shall be subordinated
or junior to the rights of the Holders upon a Liquidation Event.  “Parity Securitics” means the
shares of any other class or series of equity securitics of the Company which (by the terms of the
Centificate of Incorporation or of the instrument by which the Board, acting pursuant to authority
granted in the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from time to time, shall fix the relative
rights, preferences and limitations thereof) which shall be on parity to the rights of the Holders
upon a Liquidation Event.

(b) Liguidation Preference. The “Liquidation Preference™ with respect to a share of
Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall mean an amount equal to the Stated Value of such
share, plus any unpaid Dividends with respect thereto.




(c) Distribution After Pavment of Liquidation Preference. After payment to the
Holders of the Liquidation Preference and payment to the holders of any Parity Securities of the
liquidation preference of the Parity Securities, the entire remaining assets and funds of the
Company legally available for distribution, if any, shall be distributed among the holders of the
Junior Securities,

(d) Ranking. The Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock will rank with respect 10
rights upon a Liquidation Event: (i) senior to any Junior Securities, as they exist on the date hereof
or as the Junior Securities may be constituted from time to time; (i) on a parity with any Parity
Securities as the Parity Securities may be constituted from time to time; and (iii) junior to any
Senior Securities that may be issued from time to time.

4. CONVERSION.

(a) Right to Convert. Subject to the limitations contained in Section 4(g) below, and
the adjustments in Section 5 below, cach Holder shall have the right to convert at any time and
from time to time, each of his, her or its shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock into the
number of fully-paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock, free and clear of any liens,
claims, preemptive rights or encumbrances imposed by or through the Company (the “Conversion
Shares”), as is computed in accordance with the terms hereof (a “Conversion™). At least twenty
(20) days before any Liquidation Event, the Company shall deliver a notice to each Holder of
Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock setting forth the principal terms of the anticipated
Liquidation Event at its address as shown on the stock records of the Company or such other
addressas any such party shall deliver tothe Company in writing. Such written notice shall include
a description of the amounts that the Company, in its reasonable judgment, estimates would be
paid to Holders under Section 3(a) above upon the Liquidation Event and shall be certified by the
Chief Operating Officer of the Company, its President or Chief Executive Officer. No later than
fifteen (15) days after delivery of the notice, cach Holder may deliver an election to the Company
notifying the Company that the Holder desires to convert such Holder's shares of Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 4(a), and, if no such election is delivered 1o
the Company and such Liquidation Event occurs, such Holder's conversion rights with respect to
the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall terminate, and such Holder shall receive only
such amounts as are provided for under Section 3(a) above. Any material modification to the terms
of a Liquidation Event shall entitle the Holder to additional notice and conversion rights hereunder
and any conversion previously made by such Holder on the basis of the terms of the Liquidation
Event prior to such material modification may be rescinded by the Holder during the period such
Holder is entitled to make a conversion election hereunder. In the event of a material modification
to the terms and conditions of the Liquidation Event, the Company shall provide a modified notice
to cach Holder (a “Modified Notice™) setting forth the principal terms of the anticipated
Liquidation Event, as modified. Thereafter, each Holder shall have the right, within fifteen (15)
days after delivery of the Modified Notice, to deliver an election to the Company that the Holder
desires to convert such Holder's shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to this
Section 4(a). During this fifteen (15) day period (and only during this fifteen(15) day period), any
prior election previously made by a Holder to convert the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock
held by such Holder may be rescinded by the Holder. 1f a Holder has elected to convert his shares
of Serics 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock, such election shall continue to be valid
notwithstanding a material modification unless the clection is expressly rescinded by the Holder



by written notice delivered to the Company within fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Holder of
a Modified Notice. I1fno notice of conversion is received by the Company with respect toa Holder
either within fifteen (15) days after delivery of the initial notice with respect to the Liquidation
Event or within fifteen (15) days after delivery of the Modified Notice, if applicable, the Holder's
conversion rights with respect to the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall terminate and
such Holder shall only receive such amounts as are provided under Section 3(a) above.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any conversion hereunder shall be contingent
upon closing of the transaction which constitutes the Liquidation Event giving rise to such
conversion rights. In the event a Liquidation Event is abandoned or does not occur within sixty
(60) days of the notice or latest Modified Notice relating to such Liquidation Event, then: (i) those
Holders who have elected to convent shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant
to such notice or Modified Notice shall have the right to rescind such election or conversion, as
the case may be; and (ii) the right to convert shares of Serics 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock
into Common Stock in accordance with this Scction 4 shall be restored in full.

(b) » Mandatory Conversion. On the first to occur of: (i) twenty (20) business days after
a “Stockholder Vote” (as defined below); (ii) the passage of time to July 1, 2021 for all issued
shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock ; (iii) delivery to the Company with respect toa
proposed offering pursuant to Regulation A of a notice of qualification from the Securities &
Exchange Commission (“SEC™) that the offering statement of the Company has been qualified by
the SEC (a “Reg A Qualification,” with the offering of any of such shares being a “Reg A Offering”
and the initial price per share of which shares of Common Stock are offered per the Reg A Offering
being the “Reg A Offering Price™); or (iv) the listing of the Common Stock of the Company for
trading on a national or regional securities exchange of any country in the world (the date of such
first occurrence herein referred to as the “*Mandatory Conversion Date™), the remaining shares of
Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock then held by each Holder together with, in the Company s
sole discretion, any accrued and unpaid dividends shall be automatically converted (a “Mandatory
Conversion™) as follows:

(0 except for the occurrence of a Reg A Offering (which is addressed per the
terms of Section 4(b)(iii) below), the shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock:
(a) shall be automatically converted on July 1, 2021 into the number of shares of Common
Stock equal to the product of the number of shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred
Stock held by each Holder times the Conversion Ratein effect on July 1, 2021 for all shares
of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock issued prior to July 2, 2021; and (b) shall be
automatically converted on July 1, 2022 into the number of shares of Common Stock equal
to the product of the number of shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred stock held by
cach Holder times the Conversion Rate in effect at July 1, 2022 for all shares of Series 2
CF Convertible Preferred Stock issued between July 1, 2021 and June 30, 2022.

(i1) regardless of whether the Mandatory Conversion is as a result of the
occurrence of a Reg A Offering in accordance with Scction 4(b)(iii) below or otherwisc in
accordance with Section 4(bXi) above, the accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares of
Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall be automatically converted into the number
of shares of Common Stock equal to: () the amount of such accrued and unpaid dividends,
divided by the Stated Value; times (b) the Conversion Rate in effect at the time; and



(iti})  in the event that a Reg A Offering has occurred: (a) on or before July 1,
2021 and prior to any of the other Mandatory Conversion events set forth above, then in
such event each share of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock issued prior 1o July 1,
2021 shall be automatically converted into the number of shares of Common Stock equal
to the product of the number of shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock held by
cach Holder times the Conversion Rate in effect on July 1, 2021 (e.g. if no change in the
Conversion Rate, then each Holder will receive one share of Common Stock for each share
of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock); and (b) on or after July 1, 2021 and before
July 1, 2022 (the “Secondary Period ™), the in such event cach share of Series 2 CF Preferred
Stock issued during the Secondary Period shall be automatically converted into the number
of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of the number of shares of Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock held by each Holder times the conversion rate in effect on
July 1, 2022.

A “Stockholder Vote” for purposes of this Section 4(b), means the affirmative vote of the Holders
of not less than 50.1% of the then outstanding shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock
pursuant to this Section 4. [f a Mandatory Conversion occurs, the Company and the Holder shall
follow the procedures for Conversion set forthin this Section 4; provided, however, that the Holder
shall not be required to send the Conversion Notice contemplated by Section 4(d). Any accrued
and unpaid dividends which the Company has clected not convert in a Mandatory Conversion shall
be paid in cash or immediately available funds at the closing of the Mandatory Conversion.

(c) Rescrvation of Shares of Common Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The Company
shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares of Common
Stock, free from any preemptive rights, solely for the purpose of effecting Conversions hereunder,
the number of its shares of Common Stock (the “Reserved Amount™) as shall from time to time be
sufficient to effect the Conversion of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock. [fthe Company
shall issue any securities or make any change in its capital structure which would change the
number of Conversion Shares deliverable upon the Conversion of the outstanding shares of Series
2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock, the Company shall at the same time also make proper provision
so that thereafter there shall be a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock authorized and
reserved, free from any preemptive rights, for the Conversion.

(d) Conversion Notice. Inorderto convert shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred
Stock, or any portion thercof, the Holder shall send by “Courier” (as hereinafter defined), or
facsimile transmission (with a hard copy to follow by first class mail) at least one (1) business day
before the Holder wishes to effect a Conversion (the “Conversion Date™): (i) a notice of conversion
to the Company and to its designated transfer agent, if any, for the shares of Common Stock (the
“Transfer Agent™) stating the number of shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock to be
converted, the amount of Dividends accrued but unpaid on the shares of Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Stock then held by the Holder up to and including the Conversion Date, the applicable
Conversion Rate and a calculation of the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the
Conversion (a “Conversion Notice™) and (ii) a copy of the certificate or certificates representing
the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock being converted. At the Company’s option it may
accept a lost stock certificate affidavit and such indemnification or bond as it may deem necessary
and proper in lieu of receipt of the stock centificate itself. The Holder shall thereafter send the
onginal of the certificate or certificates by overnight mail to the Company (or the Lost Centificate



Documentation if acceptable to the Company). In the case of a dispute as to the calculation of the
Conversion Rate or the number of Conversion Shares issuable upon a Conversion, the Company
shall promptly issuc to the Holder the number of Conversion Shares that are not disputed and shall
submit the disputed calculations to its independent accountants within two (2) business days of
receipt of the Holder's Conversion Notice. The Company shall cause its accountants to calculate
the Conversion Rate as provided herein and to notify the Company and the Holder of the results
in writing no later than two (2) business days following the day on which it received the disputed
calculations. The accountants’ calculation shall be deemed conclusive absent manifest error. The
fees of the accountants shall be borne by the Company. Delivery by Courier shall be the date of
actual delivery to the office of the Transfer Agent of a Conversion Notice sent by the Holder via
Federal Express or other nationally recognized courier service (a “Courier™).

(e) Number of Conversion Shares: Conversion Rate. FEach share of Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible, pursuant to a Conversion, into duly and validly issued,
fully paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock at a rate of one (1) share of Common Stock
for cach share of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment as set forth below
(this rate, as adjusted from time to time, the “Conversion Rate™), except as otherwise provided to
the contrary in Section 4(b)(iii) above.

(f) Delivery of Share of Common Stock Upon Conversion: L.egend. Upon receipt of
a Conversion Notice pursuant to Section 4(d) above, the Company shall, no later than the close of
business on the later to occur of: (i) the third (3'¢) business day following the Conversion Date set
forth in the Conversion Notice; and (ii) the business day following the day on which the original
certificate or certificates representing the shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock being
converted are received by the Company (the “Delivery Date™), issuc and deliver or caused to be
delivered to the Holder the number of Conversion Shares as determined hereunder. Each
certificate representing the Conversion Shares shall bear the following legend:

THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE FEDERAL OR APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF BY THE HOLDER EXCEPT PURSUANT TO (I) AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT FILED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED, WITH RESPECT THERETO OR (IT) IN ACCORDANCE WITH EXEMPTIONS
FROMREGISTRATION UNDER ALL FEDERAL AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES
LAWS. IF REASONABLY REQUESTED BY THE COMPANY, HOLDER SHALL FURNISH
10 THE COMPANY AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO
THE COMPANY THAT SUCH SALE, TRANSFER OR DISPOSITION DOES NOT REQUIRE
REGISTRATION UNDER ANY FEDERAL OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAW.

(2) No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon
the Conversion of any Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock. Upon any Conversion, in lieu of
any fractional sharc otherwise issuable in respect of the aggregate number of shares of Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock of any Holder that are converted. the Holder shall be entitled to receive
an amount in cash (computed to the nearest cent, with one half cent rounded upward) equal to the
same fraction of the current value of one share of Common Stock, as conclusively determined by
the Board in its sole and absolute discretion. If more than one share of Series 2 CF Convertible



Preferred Stock is surrendered for Conversion at one time by or for the same Holder, the number
of full shares of Common Stock issuable upon Conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis
of the aggregate number of shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock surrendered.

3. ADJUSTMENTS TO CONVERSION RATE.

(a) Adjustment. From and after the date hereof, the Conversion Rate is subject to
adjustment from time to time as provided below in this Section 5(a).

(i) If the Company sets a Determination Date with respect to the payment of,
or the making of, a dividend or other distribution in shares of Common Stock or other
equily securities, or any indebtedness or other securities convertible into equity securities,
with respect to its shares of Common Stock or other equity securities, or any indebtedness
or other securities convertible into equity securities, (including by way of reclassification
of any of its shares of Common Stock), the Conversion Rate in effect on the day following
the Determination Date shall be increased by multiplying the Conversion Rate in effect on
the Determination Date by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be:

the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the
Determination Date, excluding the effect of the dividend or distribution, plus the
total number of shares of Common Stock (including the number of shares of
Common Stock into which such equity sccurities, indebtedness or other securities,
may be converted) constituting the dividend or other distribution;

and the denominator of which shall be:

the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the Determination Date,
excluding the effect of the dividend or distribution.

For the purposes of this Section 5, the number of shares of Common Stock at any time
outstanding (A) shall include, in addition to outstanding shares of Common Stock, the
number of shares of Common Stock into which the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred
Stock, or any of the Company’s other equity securities, indebtedness or other securitics are
convertible; (B) shall include the number of shares of Common Stock into which any of
the Company's vested options or warrants (including warrants exercisable for equity
securities or indebtedness convertible into shares of Common Stock) are then convertible;
and (C) shall not include treasury shares. For the purposes of this Section 5, the number of
shares of Common Stock constituting the dividend or other distribution shall include, if
applicable, shares of Common Stock represented by cash issued in lieu of fractional shares
of Common Stock. The increase in the Conversion Rate will become effective on the day
following the Determination Date. The “Determination Date™ means, with respect to any
dividend or other distribution, the date fixed for the determination of the holders of shares
of Common Stock or other equity securities of the Company entitled to receive the dividend
or distribution.

(ii) If outstanding shares of Common Stock are subdivided or split into a greater
number of shares of Common Stock, or combined into a lesser number of shares of
Common Stock, the Conversion Rate in effect on the day following such split or
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combination shall be increased in the case of a split, or decreased in the case of a
combination, by multiplying the Conversion Rate in effect on the date of the split or
combination by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be:

the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock outstand ing immediately after
the split or combination.

and the denominator of which shall be:

the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the split
or combination, excluding the effect of such split or combination.

(1)  All adjustments to the Conversion Rate will be calculated to the nearest
1/100th of a share of Common Stock. No certificate or other notice of an adjustment in the
Conversion Rate will be required unless the adjustment would require an increase or
decrease of at least one percent in the Conversion Rate; provided, however, that any
adjustments which by reason of this Section 5(a)(iii) are not required to be made shall be
carmied forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. All adjustments to
the Conversion Rate shall be made successively.

(b) Adjustment for Reorganization, Consolidation or Merger. If there shall occur any

(1) capital rcorganization or any reclassification of the shares of Common Stock or other equity
securities of the Company, or (ii) consolidation, merger or other business combination of the
Company with or into another corporation or other entity in which the Company is the surviving
entity (cach, an “Organic Change™), each outstanding share of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred
Stock shall thereafter be convertible into the number of shares or other securities or property to
which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon conversion of cach
share of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock would have been entitled upon the Organic
Change. Appropriate adjustment (as determined by the Board) shall be made in the application of
the provisions hercof with respect to the rights of the Holders so that the provisions hercof
(including, without limitation, provisions with respect to changes in and other adjustments of the
Conversion Rate) shall thereafter be applicable, as nearly as reasonably practicable, in relation to
any shares or other property thercafter deliverable upon the conversion of the Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock.

(c) Centificate as to Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or
read justment of the Conversion Rate with respect to the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock
pursuant to this Section 5, the Company, at its expense, shall compute such adjustment or
readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and prepare and fumish to each holder of Series
2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and
showing in detail the facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based. The Company
shall, upon the written request at any time of any Holder, fumish or cause to be furnished to such
Holder a like certificate setting forth (a) such adjustment and readjustment, (b) the Conversion
Rate, and (c) the number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other property
which at the time would be received upon the conversion of a share of Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Stock.




6. VOTING RIGHTS.

(a) General. Except as otherwise provided by law or by this Section 6, the Holders and
the holders of shares of Common Stock shall vote as one class in any and all matters with respect
to which holders of shares of Common Stock have voting or consent rights. Each share of Scrics
2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to cast the number of votes equal to the number
of Conversion Shares into which a share of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock is then
convertible; provided, however, that any fraction of a vote shall be rounded up or down, as the
case may be, to the nearest whole vote. The Conversion Rate to be used in connection with the
foregoing shall be the Conversion Rate in effect on the date fixed for the determination of holders
of shares of Common Stock entitled to vote on the matter.

So long as shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Company
shall not, without first obtaining the approval of the Holders of not less than a majority of the then
outstanding shares of Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock, voting as a single class: alter, repeal
or change the rights, preferences or privileges of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock in a
manner that would violate applicable Delaware law. Inall other respects, the Board of Directors
shall have the full right to authorize any action with respect to the Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Stock, including any amendment to the rights preferences and privileges contained
herein.

(b) Subject to the consent of the Board of Directors of the Company, the rights,
designations and/or preferences of the Series 2 CIF Convertible Preferred Stock may be amended
or modified from time to time upon the affirmative vote of the Holders in any manner not
prohibited by Delaware law, provided that any amendment that would under applicable Delaware
law require the consent of the holders of a majority of the Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock
may only be taken if approved by Holders of not less than 50.1% of the then outstanding shares of
Series 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock.

7. MISCELLANEOQOUS.

(a) Transfer of Serics 2 CF Convertible Preferred Stock. Subject to any agreed upon
restrictions on transfer, upon any sale, transfer or disposition, the Company shall, promptly
following the retum of the certificate or certificates representing the shares of Series 2 CF
Convertible Preferred Stock that are the subject of the sale, transfer or disposition, issue and deliver
to the transferee a new certificate in the name of the transferce.

(b)  Lost or Stolen Certificate. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence of the loss,
theft, destruction or mutilation of a certificate representing shares of Series 2 CF Convertible
Preferred Stock, and (in the case of loss, theft or destruction) of indemnity or security reasonably
satisfactory to the Company, and upon surrender and cancellation of the certificate if mutilated.
the Company shall execute and deliver to the Holder a new certificate identical in all respects 1o
the original certificate.

(c) Notices. All notices, demands or other communications given hereunder shall be
in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered in person or when delivered
to the office of the recipient by bonded courier service (including but not limited to Federal



Express) to the Company as follows: 110 Front Street, Suite 300, Jupiter, Florida 33477; with a
copy to via bonded courier and email to: (i) MerchantCass Advisors, LLC, ¢/o Sam Merchant and
Nancy Cass at the Company’s address and via email at merchantcasssncass@gmail.com and
merchantcassad visors@gmail.com; and (ii) Taft Stettinius & Hollister LLP, Attention: Mitchell D.
Goldsmith, Esq., 111 E. Wacker Suite 2800, Chicago, IL 60601 and via email at
mgoldsmith@taftlaw.com.

(d) No Impairment. The Company will not, by amendment of its Certificate of
Incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution,
issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or
performance of any of the terms to be observed or performed hereunder by the Company, but will
at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all the provisions of this Certificate of
Designations and in the taking of all such action as may be advisable or appropriate in order to
protect the rights of the Holders against impairment.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has executed this leﬁcau. of Designations as
of the 7" day of July, 2020.

BIOCURITY PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

By: ELE

[Signature Page to Series 2 CF Preferred Certificate of Designations]



